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The Mission of Arbor Acres
Through excellence, innovation, caring, and beauty,
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The Vision of Arbor Acres
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Senior Adults Living Life Fully
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been reviewed or approved by any government agency or representative to ensure accuracy
or completeness of the information set out.




TABLE OF CONTENTS

PAGE NUMBER

ORGANIZATION INTRODUCTION AND INFORMATION (Corporation) 4

Narrative Description of the Organization and Its Operation
Non-Profit/For Profit Status

Affiliation(s)

Accreditation(s}

FACILITY INTRODUCTION AND INFORMATION (Facility) 4

‘Narrative Description of the Facility and Its Operation

Non-Profit/For Profit Status

Affiliation(s)

Accreditation(s)

Legal Description

Identification and Background of Officers, Directors, Management Staff,
Owners, Including Addresses and Professional Services

Criminal Violation Statement

Location and Description of Physical Property

Estimated Number of Residents

POLICIES 8
Admission

Health Criteria
Financial and Insurance Criteria
Age Requirements
Changes of Condition of Resident Prior to Occupancy
Refund(s) Applicable/Not
Applicable/Time Frame of Refund(s)
Cancellation/Termination - Refund(s) Applicable/Not
Applicable/Time Frame of Refund(s)
Moves
Marriages/New Second Occupant
Inability to Pay

SERVICES 11

Standard Services Available

Services Available at Extra Charge, Identified
Adult Care Home (Assisted Living)

Health Services Available

Personal Services Available



FEES
Application/Registration Fee - Refundable/Non-Refundable
Entrance Fee Monthly Fee - Refundable/Non-Refundable

Marketing Collateral
Notification of Fee Increase (s)
Changes in Fees for the Previous Five Years

THE ADVANTAGE PROGRAM

FINANCIAL INFORMATION
s Financial Overview Statement
¢ Reserves, Escrow and Trusts
o Facility Development/Expansion
¢ Completion of Operating Reserve Reporting Form

OTHER MATERIAL INFORMATION, AS APPLICABLE

e Description of Any Past/Current Litigation, Bankruptcy Filings,
Receivership, Liquidation, Impending Actions or

Perils, Etc., or Any Other Material Information

STATEMENT OF RELATIONSHIP

ATTACHMENT I

o Current Certified Financial Statements
e First Quarter Balance Sheets

ATTACHMENT 2

e Five Year Projection Statements
¢ Comparison of Audit to Forecast Financials

ATTACHMENT 3

¢ Escrow Agreement

ATTACHMENT 4

» Resident’s Agreements/Contracts

24

28

31

32



DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC.
May 2024

ORGANIZATION INTRODUCTION AND INFORMATION (Corporation)

Narrative Description of the Organization and Its Operation

The name of this organization is Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc.
(“Arbor Acres”). Its business address is 1240 Arbor Road, Winston-Salem, North Carolina, 27104.
Arbor Acres is a continuing care retirement community.

Affiliation(s)}

Arbor Acres is the parent corporation and sole member of Arbor Acres Home Care, LLC
(“Home Care”). Home Care was established to provide home care services to the residents of
Arbor Acres as well as individuals in Forsyth and surrounding counties.

Arbor Acres is organized under the sponsorship of the Western North Carolina Annual Conference
of The United Methodist Church. The extent of the affiliation between Arbor Acres and the
Conference is set out in a Statement of Relationship, a copy of which follows the narrative section
of this Disclosure Statement. The Conference is not responsible for the financial and contract
obligations of Arbor Acres. Arbor Acres holds membership in LeadingAge and LeadingAge NC,
the national and state industry associations organized to support education, advocacy and research.

Non-Profit/For Profit Status

Arbor Acres is a North Carolina non-profit corporation, exempt from the payment of federal
income tax under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code. Home Care is a limited liability
company that has not elected to be taxed as a corporation under the Internal Revenue Code (IRC)
regulations. Home Care is wholly owned by Arbor Acres. As such, Home Care is considered a
disregarded entity under current IRC regulations,

~ Accreditation(s)
Arbor Acres is accredited through the Commission on Accreditation of Rehabilitation Facilities
and the Continuing Care Accreditation Commission of LeadingAge.

FACILITY INTRODUCTION AND INFORMATION (Facility)

Narrative Description of the Facility and Its Operation

Arbor Acres is a non-profit continuing care retirement community providing a continuum of
residential accommodations. These include independent living facilities with 3 mid-rise residential
wings containing 76 units (studio, efficiency and one-bedroom connecting room units); 12
courtyard homes, 5 Stockton Building apartments, 56 Aldersgate Squarc apartments, and 120
houses. The main building complex contains the 3 mid-rise residential wings and the following
support facilities: Business offices, Piner Hall, Wellness Center, arts and crafts room, bistro,
recreational areas, dining rooms, beauty shop, several patlors, kitchens, housekeeping, laundry,
and maintenance service areas.

In addition to independent living units and support facilities mentioned above, Arbor Acres also
has licensed beds in two areas of the campus: Strickland Place at Fitzgerald (herein after referred
to as the Health Center) and the Asbury Place Building. Arbor Acres is licensed for 189 beds (83
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gkilled beds and 106 Adult Care Home beds). Support facilities in the Health Center include
offices, family rooms, dining rooms, activity areas, physical therapy room, special bathing unit
(SPA), and beauty shop.

Arbor Acres operates under the supervision of a Board of Directors responsible for the
establishment of operational policy. Daily operation of Arbor Acres is supervised by a President
and CEO. Operation of the facility is the immediate responsibility of 11 departments:
Marketing/Public Relations, Human Resources, Finance, Resource Development, Environmental
Services, Buildings and Grounds, Dining Services, Nursing, Chaplaincy, Wellness Services, and
Continuing Care.

Legal Description: Arbor Acres is a corporation chartered by the State of North Carolina.

Identification and Background of Officers, Directors, Management Staff, Owners Including
Addresses, and Professional Services

The present Officers and Directors of Arbor Acres, together with the principal business affiliation
and address of each, are as follows:

Board of Directors Principal Business Affiliation, Address
Mr. Bill Hollan Principal and Investment Advisor
Board Chair 300 South Main Street
Winston-Salem, NC 27101
Ms. Courtney H. Douglas Business Co-Owner
Secretary 2843 Bitting Road
Winston-Salem, NC 27104
Mr, Jack Lauer CFQ, Pine Hall Brick Company
Treasurer 3025 Lakeshore Drive

Winston-Salem, NC 27106

Ms. LaTanya Afolayan Vice Chancellor for University Advancement, WSSU
PO Box 30316
Winston-Salem, NC 27130

Mr. Montrale Boykin Interim Dean, WSSU
125 Coyote Crossing Ct.

Winston-Salem, NC 27107

Ms. Christin M. Dunn Accountant
323 Windsor Oaks Court
Winston-Salem, NC 27104

Mr. Donald F. Eppert Resident
1352 Susanna Wesley Drive, #113
Winston-Salem, NC 27104

Ms. Clare Jordan Non-Profit Consultant
2308 Bitting Road
Winston-Salem, NC 27104
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Ms. Carroll McCullough Resident
1244 Arbor Road #B-307
Winston-Salem, NC 27104

Mr. John Ruffin Realtor
4115 Shattalon Dr.
Winston-Salem, NC 27106

Mr. Ricky Shore Retired Business Owner
: 480 Carolina Circle
Winston-Salem, NC 27104

Mr. J. Hill Stockton President, Norman Stockton
P.O. Box 5066
Winston-Salem, NC 27113

Mr. Burton Vance Managing Director, Equity Research Sales
767 Oaklawn Avenue
Winston-Salem, NC 27104

Ms. Wendy Walker-Fox Executive Director, Picdmont Triad Workforce Dev. Board
1398 Carrollton Crossing Drive
Kernersville, NC 27284

Ex Officio
Bishop Ken Carter Bishop, Western NC Annual Conference
The United Methodist Church
450 MLK Jr. Avenue
Lakeland, FL 33815
The Rev. Dr. Sam Moore District Superintendent, Yadkin Valley District
The United Methodist Church
1031 Reynolda Road
Winston-Salem, NC 27104
Mr. John W. Willingham Retired Business Owner
Board Chair P.O. Box 309
Yadkinville, NC 27055
Mr, Eddie Stubbins Resident Council President

1244 Arbor Road
Winston-Salem, NC 27104

Arbor Acres is managed on a day-to-day basis by Andrew W. Applegate, President/CEO. Andrew
Applegate (License #NC2975) became President/Chief Executive Officer of Arbor Acres United
Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. on October 1, 2016. Previously he served as Vice President
and Executive Director of Asbury Solomons, Solomons, Maryland (2003-2016), the Evangelical
Lutheran Good Samaritan Society in various communities in Nebraska, Illinois and Florida (1989-

2003). Mr. Applegate is a graduate of the University of Nebraska at Lincoln (BA, Education,
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Health Occupations Specialization), the University of Phoenix (MA, Organizational
Management), Southeast Community College (Nursing Home Administration Specialization) and
is an alumnus of the Larry Minnix Leadership Academy of LeadingAge.

Brewier Welch (Administrator License #2529) graduated from Eastern Kentucky University in
May 1978 with a Bachelor of Science in Health Education. He has 27 years’ experience as an
Administrator, having worked in several facilities in multiple states during his career. He served
as an officer in the Air Force Reserve during Desert Storm as the Administrator of a mobile
medical unit. During his time with the AFR he received training as a Health Care Administrator.

Arbor Acres has no present intention of purchasing goods, leases or services of an aggregate value
of five hundred dollars ($500.00) or more within any year from any of the persons listed above or
any person having a ten percent (10%) or greater interest or beneficial interest in any professional
service, firm, association, trust, partnership or corporation which provides goods, leases or services
to Arbor Acres; nor is it intended that any of said persons shall provide goods, leases or services
to residents of Arbor Acres. In addition, no company has a 10% or greater interest in any person
listed. If any resident of Arbor Acres shall obtain any goods, leases or services from any of said
persons, it will be because the resident voluntarily elects and chooses to do so, not because the
doing of such business is intended by Arbor Acres or is expected of the resident. Arbor Acres does
not know the monetary value of such business, if any, as may be transacted between individuals
who happen to reside at the facility and firms or businesses owned or partially owned by
individuals who happen to serve as officers or directors of the facility, nor does Arbor Acres have
any information from which to make an estimate,

Criminal Violation Statement

To the best of the facility’s knowledge, based on information furnished to Arbor Acres by each of
the persons listed above, none has been convicted of a felony or pleaded nolo contendere to a
felony charge, or been held liable or enjoined in a civil action by final judgment, if the felony or
civil action involved fraud, embezzlement, fraudulent conversion, or misappropriation of property;
or is subject to a currently effective injunction or restrictive court order, or within the past five
years, had any State or federal license or permit suspended or revoked as a result of an action
brought by a governmental agency or department, if the order or action arose out of or related to
business activity of health care, including actions affecting a license to operate a foster care facility,
nursing home, retirement home, home for aged, or facility subject to paragraph (3)c of G.S. Section
58-64-20(a)(3)(c) or a similar law in another state,

Location and Description of Physical Property

Arbor Acres is located on an approximately 82-acre site at 1240 Arbor Road in Winston-Salem,
North Carolina. On this property are the residential facilities described above in the Narrative
Description of the Facility and Its Operation.

Estimated Number of Residents

The number of residents is 596 (as of December 31, 2023) including 36 residents under the
Advantage Program.



POLICIES
Admission

Health Criteria: To be accepted as a resident, the applicant’s health must be such that the
applicant’s care requirements are appropriate to, and can be met within the level of care to which
the person is requesting admission. For example, a person applying for admission to independent
living must be mentally alert, and able to meet his or her personal care needs without assistance or
supervision. The agreement entered into between Arbor Acres and resident states that at the time
of the execution of the agreement, Arbor Acres has determined that the resident qualified for
residency at Arbor Acres both with respect to the resident’s mental and physical condition and the
resident's ability to take care of anticipated fees and charges. The agreement also provides that it
will be necessary for the resident to meet the Arbor Acres health and financial qualifications for
residency at the time he or she becomes a resident of the facility, subject to the understanding that
if at that time the person is not mentally or physically qualified to occupy a residential unit of the
type contemplated under the agreement, but is qualified to live in an Adult Care Home (Assisted
Living) unit or in the Health Center of Arbor Acres, he or she will be entitled to such
accommodations at the facility as are appropriate to the person’s situation and needs, and are then
or later become available. Once admitted to Arbor Acres, a resident, from the standpoint of health,
may continue to reside at Arbor Acres so long as the facilities and services available can, in the
opinion of the facility’s medical advisers, provide the level of care needed by the resident. As a
resident’s needs for care increases, the resident may be required to move to a higher level of care
provided by Arbor Acres in order to continue the right of residency at the facility.

Financial and Insurance Criteria: To be accepted as a resident and in order for residency to
continue, an applicant must agree to pay the entrance fee and monthly fees and charges associated
with the living unit and level of care required by the applicant. Arbor Acres requires applicants to
provide a financial statement. Applicants with inadequate financial resources to carry them through
their projected life expectancy are nevertheless considered for admission if family members
provide guaranties of payment or if the applicant qualifies for financial assistance within the limit
of Arbor Acres’ ability to provide. Residents whose resources are depleted during residency may
remain as residents under the following circumstances: If members of resident’s family or other
interested parties provide guaranties of payment acceptable to Arbor Acres; or if the Arbor Acres’
financial assistance resources are such as to enable the facility to provide the amounts needed.
Residents whose financial resources are diverted to other persons or causes, thereby creating a
financial need, are not eligible for consideration for financial assistance.

At present Arbor Acres has no insurance criteria affecting admissions. Applicants whose resources
are marginal or inadequate to cover their projected residency fees may be encouraged to consider
purchase of long-term care insurance as a method of increasing available income once the applicant
becomes a resident of a licensed level of care.

Age Requirements: One must be 62 years of age to become a resident of Arbor Acres; provided,
that in the case of a married couple, if one spouse is 62, the minimum age for the other spouse is
60.

Changes of Condition of Resident Prior to Occupancy/Refund(s)Applicable/Not Applicable/Time
Frame of Refund(s): If between the date of entering into a residency agreement and the date of
initial occupancy, an applicant’s financial condition changes affecting the applicant’s ability to
pay expenses associated with residency, the applicant is required to submit a new financial
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statement. Improvement in the applicant’s financial position may alter previous commitments by
Arbor Acres to provide financial assistance. A decline in the applicant’s capacity to pay the
previously agreed upon periodic fees and charges may require reassessment of the applicant’s
ability to reside at Arbor Acres and whether Arbor Acres is in a position to provide financial
assistance. If the applicant is unable to move into Arbor Acres for any reason, the applicant is
entitled to an entrance fee refund to the extent of and in accordance with the provisions of the
agreement.

Cancellation/Termination - Refund(s) Applicable/Not Applicable/Time Frame of Refund(s):
Pursuant to the statute, the party (applicant) contracting with the provider (Arbor Acres) may
rescind the contract within thirty (30) days following the later of the execution of the contract or
the receipt of a disclosure statement. A resident may terminate residency upon thirty (30) days
written notice. Arbor Acres may terminate one's residency if:

1. Resident does not pay monthly fees and other charges on a timely basis;

2, Resident's behavior {or that of resident’s family members, responsible parties, or others
specified in the residency agreement) is detrimental to the spirit of Arbor Acres; or

3. Resident requires treatment or care other than that which Arbor Acres is licensed

or staffed to provide.

Termination of residency by Arbor Acres occurs only “as a last resort,” when it becomes clear that
termination is necessary, and after the resident and/or the resident’s responsible party has an
opportunity to be heard, On termination of residency any monthly fees paid in advance are prorated
and an appropriate refund is made thereof, if any, within sixty (60) days. Provisions relating to
entrance fee refunds upon termination of residency are set out in residency agreements as follows.
Subject to the statutory refund provisions which apply in the event of rescission of the agreement
within thirty (30) days or preclusion, by death, illness, injury, or incapacity, from occupying a unit
under the terms of the agreement, then the entrance fee is refundable on a declining basis of two
percent (2%) per month for fifty (50) months, with no part of the entrance fee being refundable
after a person has resided at Arbor Acres for fifty (50) or more months. The agreements further
provide that payment of the refund is to be made from the entrance fee received by Arbor Acres
from the next occupant of the unit. The calculation and paymerit of any refund to a person who has
become a resident is made in the same manner whether termination of residency is voluntary, is at
the request of Arbor Acres, or is occasioned by death.

1. If a resident dies before occupying a living unit in the facility, or if, on account of illness,
injury, or incapacity a resident would be precluded from occupying a living unit in the
facility under the terms of the contract for continuing care, the contract is automatically
cancelled. Arbor Acres will refund entrance fees paid, as stated in the residency
agreement, and less any costs paid by Arbor Acres for resident-requested modifications
to a living unit. The refund will be provided within thirty (30) days of receipt by Arbor
Acres of all billable costs incurred by the resident.

2. Inthe event of the death of a resident following the occupancy of a living unit, Arbor
Acres will refund the entrance fee, less the $2,500 non-refundable portion as stated in the
residency agreement, and under the prorated refund policy of 2% per month for fifty (50)
months, with no part of the entrance fee being refundable after fifty (50) or more months
of residency. Upon receiving payment of an entrance fee of that living unit, Arbor Acres
will refund to the resident or the resident’s estate.

3. Inthe event of a resident’s vacating a unit due to moving to a higher level of care, then no
refund of the entrance fees paid will be provided unless that move occurs within ninety
(90) days of the resident’s move-in date, as provided by the stated refund policy.



Moves: Provisions governing moves between levels of living are ouilined in the residency
agreement. Independent living residential units (such as studios, apartments, houses) may not be
made available to a different or new resident except under the following circumstances:

1. If the resident terminates residency at Arbor Acres either voluntarily or at the request of
Arbor Acres for cause.

2. If the resident terminates occupancy of the unit by moving to another unit at Arbor Acres,
either because of a desire on the part of the resident to move or because of health
problems that necessitate a move to another type of unit, such as a studio unit (if the
resident resides in a house), Adult Care Home (Assisted Living) or the Health Center,

3. Changing market conditions (specifically, increasing requests for larger apartments and
decreasing requests for smaller apartments) make it necessary from time to time for
Arbor Acres to convert or combine smaller units, When this must be done, Arbor Acres
occasionally finds that it can be accomplished only by having a resident move to another
unit to “frec up” adjacent units for conversion. Should Arbor Acres find that it must have
a resident make such a move, the matter is thoroughly discussed with the resident and the
resident is shown the unit to which the resident is to move. Arbor Acres will make the
unit to which the resident is to move ready for occupancy, including any needed
refurbishment and will assist the residents with the move, all at the expense of the
facility.

4. Ifthe resident dies.

In the case of a couple, the death or permanent transfer of one spouse to a different unit does not
affect the remaining spouse’s right to continue residency in the unit.

In Adult Care Home (Assisted Living) or in the Health Center, Arbor Acres reserves the right to
~ change one’s room from time to time as deemed by Arbor Acres to be necessary or appropriate.
Any such changes are made with due regard to the wishes and best interest of the resident as wetl
as Arbor Acres.

Marriages/New Second Occupant: 1f a resident marries while residing at Arbor Acres, the spouse
of the resident is expected to follow the facility’s normal admission procedure. Among the basic
factors for approval are:

1. Spouse of resident must be a least 60 years of age (i.e., older spouse must be at least 62;
younger spouse must be at least 60);

2. Physical condition must be appropriate to the level of care to which the person requests
entry and the care required must be within levels of care Arbor Acres provides;

3. Behavioral characteristics must be appropriate for group living at Arbor Acres;

4. There must be sufficient financial resources to enable the couple to meet financial

obligations, or their circumstances must be such as to qualify for financial assistance within
Arbor Acres’ policies and ability to provide.

Ifthe applying spouse is approved for residency at Arbor Acres and is to live in the same residential
unit with the resident, the applicable second person entrance fee will be required. If the applying
spouse is to live in a separate unit, an entrance fee is required. Regular monthly (daily in nursing
care and assisted living) fees and other charges would be in accordance with Arbor Acres’ regular
schedule for double occupancy, or individual occupancy, as appropriate.

If the applying spouse should not meet the requirements for residency, the applying spouse would
not be able to reside at Arbor Acres. As of the date of this Disclosure Statement, no applying
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spouse has failed to meet the requirements,

Other than in the case of a spouse, there are no other provisions currently in place to permit
occupancy of a unit by a second occupant who was not party to the original residency agreement.
If a current resident marries another current resident who moves into the same accommodation as
the first resident, then the resident who is vacating his/her unit will be subject to the same refund
policy as a resident who is leaving Arbor Acres. That is, the vacating resident receives a prorated
refund at the rate of 2% per month for fifty (50) months. For example, if the vacating resident
moves in with the first resident after 12 months of residency, then Arbor Acres will retain 24% of
the entrance fee and the balance will be refunded. Accordingly, if the vacating resident has lived
in his/her residence for more than fifty (50) months, then there will be no refund provided as the
entrance fee has finished amortizing. The couple, now residing together in the first resident’s
accommodation, will begin paying the second person monthly fee for that residence.

Inability to Pay: 1f a resident should encounter financial difficulty through no fault of his/her own
while residing at Arbor Acres, the resident may apply for financial assistance. Arbor Acres has
limited financial assistance resources for this purpose. Also, in a number of cases there are
guaranty agreements between Arbor Acres and members of a resident’s family which make
possible the resident’s continued residence at the facility. Arbor Acres is unable to guarantee initial
or continuing allocations of financial assistance to a resident. As of the date of this Disclosure
Statement, it has not been necessary for Arbor Acres to require termination of residency for
financial reasons when the financial difficulty was not a result of decisions made by a resident or
resident’s representative.

Arbor Acres maintains an Assistance Endowment Fund, the income of which is available to Arbor
Acres for the assistance of residents who require financial assistance. As of December 31, 2023,
the value of this Endowment Fund was approximately $19,100,000; and the income from it
constitutes one of the several sources of Arbor Acres’ annual assistance funds which currently
aggregate more than $1,500,000 a year. The other sources of assistance funds include an annual
Mother's Day Offering, and grants from wills, trusts, foundations and the Western North Carolina
Annual Conference of The United Methodist Church.

SERVICLES

Standard Services Available:
Services provided by Arbor Acres are addressed in resident agreements; for example, agreements
for independent living residents specify the following:

1. Maintenance of buildings and grounds, including unit occupied by resident (standard items
only)
2. Utilities: heat, air conditioning, electricity, water and sewer; telephone jack, but not

personal telephone handset or telephone service (telephone service, including long distance

is offered separately for a fee)

Basic cable television (not television set) and internet service

Emergency call system

Recreational, educational, cultural and spiritual life programs

Transportation to routine non-emergency medical appointments within Forsyth County

(transportation by ambulance not included)

7. Limited in-patient temporary care (sec Services Available at Extra Charge, Identified:
Temporary in-patient care)

ok
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8. Routine nursing assessment, consultation and services available Monday through Friday in

the clinic
9. Weekly housekeeping assistance
10.  Laundering of bed and bath linens furnished by Arbor Acres
11.  Security personnel on duty in the Welcome Center

12.  Dining service with meals or a meal allowance is included in the monthly fee
13.  Access to Medicare Certified skilled nursing beds based on qualifications for Medicare
Coverage after 30 days of Residence at Arbor Acres.

Agreements for residency in other units, such as houses, Adult Care Home (Assisted Living) or
Health Care contain a list of services provided for residents in such units. Services currently
provided in Adult Care Home (Assisted Living) and Health Care are set out under those headings
below. Circumstances under which Arbor Acres’ services may be changed, modified or adjusted
are set out in the agreement.

Services Available at Extra Charge, Identified

Arbor Acres offers to residents in independent living the support services listed below which are
provided on an additional monthly charge basis. These services are designed to assist the
independent living residents with one or more activities of daily living, Residents will be allowed
to remain in independent living provided their needs can be met adequately within the specific
limits of these additional support services and provided the resident continues to meet all criteria
for independent living.

These additional support services are available as follows:

1. Laundry: Visit by an Arbor Acres Home Care authorized agency home care staff member
to the resident's living unit at a scheduled time to check their clothing and to gather
clothes for laundering. Residents’ clothing are washed and ironed by the staff member
and returned to the resident the same day.

2. Bathing: Residents are scheduled for bathing as needed. Support is provided by a staff
member who remains with the resident while he or she takes a bath. Residents are bathed
either in their own home or taken to the Spa area in Asbury Place.

3. Transportation: to buildings and locations on or off campus within the city limits of
Winston-Salem/Forsyth County, 7 days a week.

4, Meal Delivery

5. Temporary in-patient care: The additional charge for temporary in-patient care is subject
to the following exception: There is no additional charge for the first five (5) days of
temporary care during any ninety (90) consecutive day period. These five (5) days can be
restored only upon completion of ninety (90} consecutive days after discharge from
temporary care without returning to and occupying a temporary care bed. Meals are
charged from the first day for those residents not on the meal plan. Temporary in-patient
care in the Health Center is subject to availability of rooms. In the rare event that a room
is not available for in-patient temporary care, Arbor Acres will make every effort to
ensure that the resident is provided with appropriate services in their home.

6. Supplics (such as syringes, dressings, etc) utilized by the clinic nurse in providing the
resident routine nursing services.

Other services available at extra charge are:

1. Guest meals: Residents who are not on the meal plan and residents desiring to have
guests for meals may purchase meals at the established guest meal rate.
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2. Guest accommodations: Guest accommodations are available to residents on a first come
first serve basis for an additional daily fee.

3. Personal Services: Individual personal services are available to residents at an additional
hourly rate. '

4. Through Home Care residents may purchase sitter and nursing services.

For schedule of charges applicable at this time for services available at an extra charge.

Adult Care Home (generally referred to as “Assisted Living”)

Adult Care Home (Assisted Living) agreements specify the following services provided by
Arbor Acres:

1. Nursing supervision (in accordance with regulatory standards; does not include private
duty or individual nurse for each resident), prescribed medication administration and
limited assistance with activities of daily living

2. Maintenance of buildings and grounds, including all standard equipment in the

accommodation

Utilities: heat, air conditioning, electricity, water and sewer

Basic cable television and internet service

Emergency call system, telephone jacks and assistance in emergencies

Recreational, educational, cultural and spiritual life programs

Transportation to routine non-emergency medical appointments within Forsyth County

(transportation by ambulance not included)

In-patient infirmary care in the Health Center for a limited number of days

9. Daily housekeeping assistance

10. Laundering of bed and bath linens furnished by Arbor Acres

11. Laundering of personal clothing (washing, drying, folding, not ironing).

12. Security personnel on duty in the Welcome Center

Moo s W
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13. Food service (3 meals daily)

Health Services Available

Health Center agreements specify the following services provided by Arbor Acres:
1. Nursing care (in accordance with regulatory standards; does not include private duty or
individual nurse for each resident)
Maintenance of buildings and grounds, including room occupied by resident
Utilities: heat, air conditioning, electricity, water and sewer
Basic cable television and Internet access
Emergency call system, telephone jacks and assistance in emergencies
Recreational, educational, cultural and spiritual life programs
Transportation to routine non-emergency medical appointments within Forsyth County
(transportation by ambulance, not included)
8. Daily housekeeping assistance
9. Laundering of bed and bath linens furnished by Arbor Acres
10. Laundering of personal clothing (washing, drying and folding, not ironing)
11. Security personnel on duty in the Welcome Center

R A T i
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12. Food service (3 meals daily and routine between meal nourishments). Note:
Administration of physician-prescribed gastric tube feeding included; cost of prescribed
food substitutes and supplements not included.

13. Social Work services

Arbor Acres furnishes cach Health Center resident a document entitled “Strickland Place &
Arborview at Fitzgerald Statement of Services and Related Charges.” The statement currently
reads as follows:

Strickland Place at Fitzgerald of Arbor Acres provides a full range of nursing care and health
supportive services for each resident. Strickland Place at Fitzgerald provides for Assisted Living
rooms and skilled nursing care, for which the facility is duly licensed by the State of North
Carolina. The following rates have been established for admission to and residency in Strickland
Place at Fitzgerald. Persons admitted directly to Strickland Place at Fitzgerald without having
previously resided at Arbor Acres must pay a $3,500 non-refundable entrance fee at the time of
admission. Charges for the first month of oceupancy will be due at the time of admission and will
be prorated based on the number of days remaining in the first month of occupancy. Payments for
subsequent months will be due in advance at the first of each month. Payments may be made
between the first and the tenth of the month.

Residents pay a daily charge for services rendered by both licensed nurses and certified nursing
assistants. This daily charge also includes meals and clinical dietetic services, personal laundry
service, all utilities (except telephone), housekeeping, maintenance, and access to Arbor Acres
program activities and social services. Services rendered at Arbor Acres are not reimbursable
under the Medicaid program of the federal government. The restriction on Medicaid participation
was imposed by the State of North Carolina as a condition for the construction and licensing of
Strickland Place at Fitzgerald. The current room rates are as follows:

Skilled Nursing - $427.00 per day; Arborview (Dementia care) - $365.00 per day; and Assisted
Living - $247.00 per day (Studio); $287.00 per day (one bedroom apartment). Excluded from the
daily room rate are charges for pharmacy services, personal medical supplies, personal care
products, beauty/barber shop visits, physician services, dental services, podiatry services and
services rendered by a licensed therapist as part of an individualized program of rehabilitation.
Arbor Acres is a certified Medicare facility, therapy services are covered under Medicare Part A
and Part B.

Therapy services are provided under Medicare Part B benefits and there are some limitations. The
therapy provider advises residents about the coverage under Medicare and what must be private

pay.

Our staff physician schedules weekly appointments in Strickland Place at Fitzgerald and arranges
for emergency physician services 24 hours a day. Residents may use the services of our staff
physician or may select another personal physician who will come to Arbor Acres on a monthly
basis and perform the services required by state licensure, The resident will be fuily responsible
for all physician services charges which they may incur, including the Medicare deductible and
co-payment.

Medical supplies, pharmaceutical services and some personal care products are provided for all
residents of Strickland Place at Fitzgerald. Enrollment in these programs will assure maximum
efficiency and security in the administration of resident’s medications, and availability of needed
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supplies on a continuous basis. A list of current charges is available upon request. All medications,
medical supplies and personal care products will be billed monthly to each resident either by the
facility or the provider of the service.

The maintenance fee (whether stated on a monthly or daily basis) is payable in advance each
month; all charges incurred during a month are billed at the end of the month. All fees and charges
are normally included in one monthly statement and are payable in full promptly upon receipt of
statement. An itemized statement may include medical supplies, oxygen, beauty/barber shop
charges, personal care products, guest meals, special activities and guest room or guest house
charges. Payment is requested within 10 days. A late payment charge of 1.5% per month,
computed from the statement date, will be made on any amount not received within 30 days of the
statement date.

Residents are responsible for continuing payment of the daily rate during absences from the
facility. This is necessary in order to assure the availability of a bed upon returning. Fees for
services during the last month of occupancy will be prorated and any remaining unused days of
care will be refunded to the resident or to the resident's estate.

Personal Services Available

Other services available for which there is no additional charge include an optional daily check-in
system, check cashing services, package shipping, access to washers/dryers, complete kitchens
and sitting areas. Services available through Arbor Acres may be added or deleted from time to
time. Charges for services may be adjusted periodically as found necessary by Arbor Acres.
Normally such adjustments are made as part of the facility’s annual budget preparation process.

Home Care Services Available
Arbor Acres Home Care, LLC (doing business as Arbor Acres at Home) allows residents to age
in place at home in familiar and comforting surroundings. The program provides a suite of a la
carte, in home services that help residents maintain their highest level of independence possible
while receiving the care they need, providing such services as:
e Assistance with grooming, dressing and household chores
Bathing or other personal hygiene assistance
Cleaning out closets
Laundry and linen care
Shopping
Sitter services
Administration of IV medication
Education about a new medication or help with medication administration
Wound care
PICC lines, trachs, feeding tube and port care
Emergency assistance around the clock
Arbor Acres at Home is not covered by Medicare but may be covered by individual residents’
long term care insurance. Rates vary by type of service provided.

FEES

Application/Registration Fee - Refundable/Non-Refundable
Arbor Acres’ application fee is $100.00 ($200.00 for a couple); it is non-refundable.
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Entrance Fees

Independent Living - Payment of an Entrance Fee provides the resident with the lifetime use of a
residence. If at such time a move may be necessary due to need for a higher level of care then the
residence would be released back to Arbor Acres. At the time the resident makes application for
residency at Arbor Acres, the resident will sign a Residency Agreement to reserve the residence
selected and will pay the Entrance Fee deposit. The balance of the Entrance Fee will be paid upon
the earlier of (i) occupancy, to (ii) five days prior to the Occupancy Date stated in the Residency
Agreement.

Licensed Areas (Assisted Living and Skilled Nursing): Only residents who move to licensed areas
who are not already residents of Arbor Actes pay a one-time entrance fee of $5,000 in Assisted
Living, and $3,500 for Memory Care and Skilled Nursing. Current residents pay no additional
entrance fees when moving from their independent living residences.

Monthly and Daily Fees

Independent Living - Residents pay monthly fees to cover services and amenities, including a
declining balance meal plan, weekly housekeeping, linens and towels, cable TV, campus-wide
wireless internet, maintenance and personal security devices.

Licensed Areas - Daily fees in assisted living and skilled nursing cover services, including all
meals, medication management, laundry service, activities, cable and wireless internet.

Second Person Fees: Independent Living - A second person coming into an independent living
residence pays a one-time Entrance Fee of $10,000, and an additional $1,161 per month,

Entrance Fees for residential units are refundable, less $2,500 (§5,000 if two persons enter under
one residency agreement) and less 2% a month for the first 30 months of residency. Skilled Nursing
and Assisted Living entrance fees are non-refundable except as specified in the residency
agreement, Monthly fees are non-refundable; however, because fees are paid in advance, fees will
be prorated to the last day of occupancy and a refund of the balance paid to a resident in the event
of termination of residency.

For Temporary Care stays beyond the five (5) day period, the daily rate is $427.00.

Home Care rates apply only to those residents living in independent living who have the need for
the specific service offered. Through utilization of those services, residents are able to continue
living in an independent unit rather than having to move to a higher level of care. Rates are as
follows:

Medication Management $198.00 per month
Home Care Aid Services $ 25.00 - $30.00 per hour (min. of 4 hours)
CNA Sitter Services $ 26.00 - $31.00 per hour

Meal rates for guests and for residents not on the meal plan are priced “a la carte.” Lakeside Dining,
The Arbor Room, Asbury Dining, and Fitzgerald/Strickland Dining offer print menus with weekly
specials, Pricing information is printed on daily menus.

Guest House/Guest Room rates are:

Guest Room — Studio (includes breakfast)
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1 Person $117.00 per night
Each Additional Person $ 10.00 per night
Guest Room — 1-Bedroom (includes breakfast)

1 Person/2 Persons $127.00/8138 per night
Additional Services Charge
Additional housekeeping services, such as $22.00 per hour

cleaning attics and closets, polishing silver
(other than annual cleaning, personal laundry).

Escort services for medical/dental $10.75 per 15 minutes or $43 per hour

appointments for residents other than those
in licensed arcas.

Services outside those included in the monthly $49.00 per person, per hour
charge, i.e. hanging shelves, putting furniture $12.25 per person, per 15 minutes

together, rearranging furniture, non-level-of-care
moves (i.c house to Stockton).

Meal Delivery $7.75
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FINANCIAL INFO RMATION 2024 Independent Living

SQUARE ENTRANCE
RESIDENCE TYPE FOOTAGE _ FEE MONTHLY SINGLE FEE
Stockton Apariment Building Mauthly fee includes o
A (One-bedroom, One Bath) 991 $214,000 $3,677
B (One-bedroom, One-and-a-half Bath, Den) 1,160 $251,000 $3,935
C-1 (Two-bedroom, Two Bath) 1,217 $266,000 $4,064
C-2 (Two-bedroom, Two Bath) 1,397 $305,000 $4,147
C-3 (Two-bedroom, Two Bath) 1,500 $327,000 $4,373
D-1 (Two-bedroom, Two Bath, Den) 1,592 $350,000 $4,616
D-2 {Two-bedroom, Two Bath, Den) 1,602 $353,000 $4,668
D-3 (Two-bedroom, Two Bath, Den) 1,728 $381,000 $4,967
Second Resident $10,000 additional $1,161 additional
Basement Garage Parking One parking space included for all two-bedroom apartments
Custom Homes (Carports included, additional fees for garages and patios) Monthly fee
One-bedroom, One Bath <1,200 up to $293,000 $3,475
Two-bedroom, Two Bath © 1,200-1,399 $293,000-341,000 : $3,790
Two-bedroom, Two Bath 1,400-1,599 $341,000-390,000 $4,214
Two-bedroom, Two Bath 1,600-1,799 : $390,000-439,000 $4,595
Two-bedroom, Two Bath 1,800-1,999 $439,000-488,000 ‘ $4,962
Two-bedroom, Two Bath . 2,000-2,199  $488,000-565,000 $5,198
Two-bedroom, Two Bath >2,200 $565,000+ : $5,651
Second Resident : $10,000 additional $1,161 additional
Patio Homes , : : Monthly fee
Two-bedroom, Two Bath 1,326 $324,000 $3,725
Second Resident ; - $10,000 additional - 81,161 additional
Courtyard Homes : Monthly fee
One-bedroom, One Bath 1,060 $259,000 $3,441
Two-bedroom, Two Bath | 1,187 $289,000 : $3,654

Second Resident $10,000 additional $1,161 additional

THE MINIMUM AGE TO ENTER ARBOR ACRES IS 62. Continues on back



ALDERSGATE SQUARE APARTMENTS 2024

ENTRANCE FEES MONTHLY FEES

Aldersgate Square SINGLE TOP FLOOR
Apartments & Balcony ENTRY FEE ENTRY FEE
Two Bedroom 2 Bath DUO

$421,000 N/A ;
(1546sf + 116sf) * ! 752
Two Bedroom 2 Bath CUSTOM

$432,000 6,0 8
(1615sf + 152sf) %3 spaeon $4:579
Two Bedroom 2 Bath DELUXE

$494,000 ,000 ’
(1767sf + 134sf) e ¥331.00 B5iTRE
Two Bedroom 2 Bath ALCOVE

$499,000 $542,000 $5,2
(1800sf + 116sf) 4 249
Two Bedroom 2-1/2 Bath DEN DELUXE
(2005sf + 116sf) $600,000 $654,000 $5,848
Second person fee $10,000 $10,000 $1,161
Premiums
Ground Floor walk outs e _

(select locations)

$22,000 UP TO
$54,000

N/A

Views (select locations)

The minimum age to enter Arbor Acres is 62.

» Top floor apartment entry fee has the
added value of expansive ceiling design
(adding height) and includes gas fireplace.

« Premium pricing is determined by
specific apartment location.

» One covered parking space
included with each apartment.

Pricing and floor plans are subject to change.

Fireplaces: Gas fireplace included in top
floor premium and other select apartments;
electric fireplace upgrade non-top floor
available.

Updated: 11/30/2023 . Continues on back



LIVING WITH ASSISTANCE

IN ASBURY PLACE

For people who benefit from daily support to achieve
maximum well-being, Asbury Place, a licensed assisted
living facility, delivers a rewarding residential experience.
Asbury Place affords residents an independent lifestyle
supported through the provision of discrete accessible
services. One-bedroom and studio apartments feature

RESIDENCE TYPE

Asbury Place Assisted Living

ENTRANCE FEE

bay windows, kitchenettes, walk-in closets, and

beautiful outdoor areas. Residents also benefit from

professional nursing oversight, daily assistance
from certified professional caregivers, medication
administration, and the pleasures of active social
engagement, recreation, and fine dining.

DAILY FEE

Daily fee includes meals, laundry and utilities

Studio $5,000 $247 per day
One-bedroom Apartment $5,000 $287 per day
Two-bedroom Apartment $5,000 $340 per day
Second Person — Assisted Living $5,000 $199 per day
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ARBORVIEW AT

For people who experience significantly compromised
cognition, Arborview at Fitzgerald offers comprehensive
memory care support and a flexible, attentive, and
beautifully orchestrated way of life. Licensed as an
assisted living level of care, Arborview features devoted
and highly trained employees who enhance fun, alleviate
stress, engage the mind, foster community, respect the
dignity of, and deliver comfort to residents and their

loved ones.

Residents enjoy private rooms and an environment

that offers them light, uplifting energy, and beauty that
is both enriching and soothing to the senses. Safe and
secure outdoor areas serve as seamless extensions of the

interior’s lovely ambiance.

Arborview
Memory Care

Private Room

Entrance Fee $3,500

Daily fee includes meals,
laundry and utilities

$365 per day

STRICKLAND PLACE

Strickland Place at Fitzgerald offers compassion and
quality of life to people who daily require the highest
level of personal and professional service from certified
nursing assistants and registered nurses. Residents enjoy
private rooms filled with personal furnishings that reflect
their tastes and generate for them an enriching sense

of home. Strickland Place delivers a warm, spacious,

and comforting environment, resplendent with nature’s
healing energies, that preserves dignity and provides
both hope and peace of mind to residents and

their families.

Strickland Place
Skilled Nursing Care

Private Room

Daily fee includes meals,

laundry and utilities $427 per day




Notification of Fee Increase(s)

Arbor Acres may increase fees or may otherwise adjust periodic charges and fees as determined
necessary by the Board of Directors in order to maintain the desired quality of service and to
operate Arbor Acres on a fiscally sound, non-profit basis. Proposed adjustments in charges and
fees are normally made if, and to the extent, found necessary in the course of preparing an annual
budget; then, upon approval by the Board of Directors, are implemented at the beginning of the
upcoming fiscal year.

Changes in Fees for the Previous Five Years
A five-year history of adjustments in Arbor Acres’ most common room fees is reflected on the
following page.
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ARBCR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC.
FIVE YEAR HISTORY OF ROOM FEES

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 Five Year History
| CHG CHG CHG CHG - CHG

Cccupancy % FROM % FROM % FRCM % FROM % FROM % AVGS AVG%
Classiflcation Cha RATE RATE PREV Change RATE PREV Change RATE PREV Change RATE PREV Change RATE PREV Change| Change CHANGE
Studio 51,851 51,870 § 19  1.0%) 51,889 S 19  1.0%|$1,927 ¢ 38  20%|8 2023 § 96 5.0%[% 2144 $ 121 6.0%| S 59 3.0%
Studio Efficiency 1,919 ] 1,938 19 1.0%f 1,957 19 1.0%| 1,996 39 2.0% 2,086 100  5.0% 2,222 126 60%| § 61 2.0%
Connecting rocm Suite 2,701 2,728 27 LO0%[ 2,755 27 1.0%| 2,810 55 2.0% 2951 141 50% 3,128 177  6.0%| $ 85 3.0%
Corpening -cne bedreom apartment 2,752 | 2,780 28 1.0%| 2,208 28 1.0%| 2,882 84 3.0% 3,037 145 5.0% 3,219 182  60%| $ 93 3.2%

One Bedroom Bayberry Courtyard Home | 2,826 | 2,905 79 2.8%| 2,986 &1 2.8%| 3,091 105 3,5% 3,246 i55 5.0% 3,441 195 6.0%| $ 123 40%
Twao Bedroom Bayberry Courtyard Home | 3,002 | 3,086 84 2.8%| 3,172 36 2.8%| 3,283 111 3.5% 3,447 164 5.0%,| 3,654 207 6.0%| $ 130 4.0%

House, restdency began prior to 12/31/23:
One Bedrgom House 2,454 2,523 58 2.8%| 2,594 71 2.8%| 2,685 91 3.5% 2,846 161 6.0% 3,017 in 6.0%| 5§ 113  42%
Twe Bedroom House less than 1400 sf 3,016 3,100 B84 2.8%| 3,187 87 2.8%| 3,259 112 3.5%) 3,497 198 6.0% 3,707 210 6.0%| S 138  4.2%
Two Bedrocm House 1400 sf to 1598 sf) 3,225 3,319 90 2.8%| 3412 93 2.8%| 3,531 118 3.5% 3,743 212 6.0% 3,968 225 6.0%| 5 148  4.2%
Two Bedroom House 1500 sfto 1799 sf) 3,617 3,718 101 2.8%| 3,822 104 2.8%| 3,956 134 3.5% 4,193 237 6.0% 4,445 252 6.0%| 5 166 4.2%
Two Badroom House 1800 sf to 1999 sf) 4,038 4,151 113 2,8%| 4,267 116 2.8%| 4416 i43 3.5% 4,681 265 6.0% 4,962 281 6.0%| § 185 4.2%
Twa Bedroom House 2000 sf to 2193 sf) 4,269 4,383 120 2.8%| 4512 123 2.8%| 4670 158 3.5% 4,904 234 5.0% 5,158 294 6.00| $ 185  4.0%
Two Badrcom House over 2200 sf 4,641 4,771 130 2.8%| 4,905 134 2.8%| 5,077 172 3.5% 5,331 254 5.0% 5,651 320 6.0%| 5 202 4.0%

House, residency began after 12/31/23:

One Bedroom House 3475 nfa n/a nfa nfa
Two Bedroom House less than 1400 sf 3,780 nfa nfa nfa nfa
Two Bedreom House 1400 sf to 1599 sf) 4,214 nfa nfa nfa n/a
Two Bedrecom House 1600 sf to 1799 sf) 4,595 nfa n/a nfa nfa
Two Bedroom House 1800 sf to 1939 sf) 4,962 nfa nfa nfa n/a
Tweo Badroom House 2000 sf to 2199 sf) 5,198 nfa nfa nfa n/a
Two Badroom House over 2200 sf 5651 nfa n/a nfa n/a

Stockton Residents, residency began prior to 12/31/23:

Stockton Apartment - 891 sf 2,596 | 2,672 73 2.8%| 2,747 75 2.8%| 2,857 110 4.0% 3,057 200 7.0% 3,240 183 6.0%| $ 128 4.5%
Stockton Apartment - 1,160 sf 2876 2,957 81 2.8%| 3,040 a3 2.8%( 3,162 122 4.0% 3,383 221 7.0% 3,586 208 6.0%| $ 142 45%
Stockton Apartmant - 1,217 sf 3055 3,141 86 2.8%| 3,229 a8 2.8%) 3,358 129 4.0% 3,593 235 7.0% 3,809 216 6.0%| § 151  4.5%
Stockton Agartment - 1,397 sf 3,241 | 3,332 91 2.8%|) 3425 93 2.8%| 3,562 137 4.0% 3,811 245 70% 4,040 228 6.0%| $ 160  4.5%
Stockton Apartment - 1,500 sf 3426 | 3,522 96 2.8%| 3621 9g 2,8%| 3,766 145 4.0% 4,030 264 7.0% 4,272 242 6.0%| $ 169 45%
Stockton Agartment - 1,592 sf 2,702 | 3,806 104 2.8%| 3,913 107 2.8%| A4.070 157 4.0% 4,355 285 7.0% 4,616 261 6.0%| 5183  45%
Stockton Apartment - 1,602 sf 3,745] 3,850 105 2.8%|( 3,958 108 2.8%| 4,116 158 4.0%! 4,404 288 7.0% 4,668 264 6.0%| 5 185  4.5%
Stockton Apartment - 1,728 sf 39841 4,096 112 2,8%| 4211 115 2.8%| 4,379 168 4.0% 4,686 307 7.0% 4,967 281 6.0%| 3187  4.5%

Stockton Residents, residency began after 12/31/23:

Stockton Apartment - 951 sf 3,677 nfa nfa nfa nfa
Stockton Apartment - 1,160 sf 3,935 nfa nfa nfa nfa
Stockton Apartment - 1,217 sf 4,064 nfa nfa nfa nfa
Stockton Apartment - 1,397 sf 4,147 nfa nfa nfa nfa
Stockton Apartment - 1,500 sf . 4,373 nfa n/a nfa n/a
Stockton Apartment - 1,592 sf 4,616 nfa nfa nfa n/a
Stockton Apartment - 1,602 sf 4,668 nfa n/a nfa nfa
Stockton Apartment - 1,728 sf 4,967 nfa nfa nfa nfa

QOpenitig - 2023, Residency began prior to 12/31/23:

Aldersgate Square Apt - 1546 sf 4,333 nfa nfa 4,583 260 6.0%| nfa nfa
Aldersgate Square Apt - 1615 sf 4,527 nfa nfa 4,799 272 6.0%| nfa nfa
Aldersgate Square Apt - 1767 sf 4908 nfa nfa 5,202 294 6.0%| n/fa n/a
Aldersgate Square Apt - 1800 sf 4,952 nfa rfa 5,249 297 6.0%| nfa n/a
Aldersgate Square Agt - 2005 sf 5517  nfa n/a 5,848 331 6.0%| nfa n/a

Opening - 2023, Residency began after 12/31/23:

Aldersgate Square Apt - 1546 sf 4,752 nfa nfa nfa nfa
Aldersgate Square Apt - 1615 sf 4,879 nfa nfa nfa nfa
Aldersgate Square Apt - 1767 sf 5202 nfa nfa nfa nfa
Aldersgate Square Apt - 1800 sf 5249 nfa nfa nfa nfa
Aldersgate Sguare Apt - 2005 sf 5848 nfa nfa nfa n/a
Assisted Living-Studio 203 207 4 2.0% 213 ] 2.9% 222 9 4.2% 233 il 5.0% 247 14 6.0%| S 9 40%
Assisted Living-one Bedroom 236 241 4 2.1% 248 7 2.9% 258 10 4,0%| 271 13 5.0% 287 16 5a%| § 10 A%
Assisted Living - MemoryCare Unit 318 318 - Q.0% 318 - 0.0% 328 10 3.1% 344 15 4.9% 365 21 61%|$ 9 28%
Skilled - Private 331 341 10 3.0% 351 10 2.9%| 376 a5 7.1% 395 19 5.1% 427 32 81%| § 19 52%

NOTE: The above rates are based upon one person occupancy In all residential type units. Our overall rate structure also provides
for two-person occupancy In all types of independent living resldential units, The rate structure also includes
meals for all independent living residents. Residents can elect a monthly $394, $197, or $0 meal plan on an annual basls.
All rates shown are monthly rates except Skilled Nursing and Asslsted Living rates which are daily rates.

All rates are adjusted annually and are effectlve January 1st of each respective year. No rates have been adjusted other than annually far any year presented,



Arbor Acres
The Advantage Program

Arbor Acres offers a Residency option to those who may not want to physically reside on our
campus. This program is called “The Advantage Program.” The Resident can continue to live in
his/her current home but have access to Arbor Acres” Assisted Living, Skilled Nursing and other
health care programs. The Advantage Program is offered to residents of Forsyth County, NC and
surrounding counties in convenient proximity to Arbor Acres.

This residency status allows one to become a Resident of Arbor Acres with access to the campus
amenities, and ensures access to future health care services as needed, while remaining in his/her
current home and retaining his/her position on our waiting list for a potential future move to our
campus at a later date. Residents who join The Advantage Program may also move into Arbor
Acres if they so choose. Once one becomes a Resident of Arbor Acres, whether living on campus
or through the Advantage Program, he/she has equal access to all common areas of campus, equal
standing as members of the Residents Association and equal access to Arbor Acres’ health care
facilities.

POLICIES
Admission

Health Criteria. To be accepted as a resident, the applicant’s health must be such that the
applicant’s care requirements are appropriate to, and can be met within the level of care to which
the person is requesting admission. A person applying for admission to The Advantage Program
is considered an independent living resident and must be ambulatory, mentally alert, and able to
meet his’her personal care needs without assistance or supervision. The agreement entered into
between Arbor Acres and resident states that at the time of the execution of the agreement, Arbor
Acres has determined that the resident qualified for residency at Arbor Acres both with respect to
the resident’s mental and physical condition and the resident's ability to take care of anticipated
fees and charges. The agreement also provides that it will be necessary for the resident to meet the
Arbor Acres health and financial qualifications for residency at the time he/she becomes a physical
resident of the facility, subject to the understanding that if at that time the person is not mentally
or physically qualified to occupy a residential unit of the type contemplated under the agreement,
but is qualified to live in an Adult Care Home (Assisted Living) unit or in the Health Center
(Skilled Nursing) of Arbor Acres, he/she will be eatitled to such accommodations in the facility
most appropriate to his/her situation and needs. Once admitted to Arbor Acres, a resident, from
the standpoint of health, may continue to reside at Arbor Acres so long as the facilities and services
available can, in the opinion of the facility’s medical advisers, provide the level of care needed by
the resident. As a resident’s needs for care increases, the resident may be required to move to a
higher level of care provided by Arbor Acres in order to continue the right of residency at the
facility.

Financial and Insurance Criteria: To be accepted as a resident of The Advantage Program and in
order for residency to continue, an applicant must agree to pay the entrance fee and monthly fees
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and charges associated with The Advantage Program. Arbor Acres requires applicants to provide
a financial statement. Applicants with inadequate financial resources to carry them through their
projected life expectancy are nevertheless considered for admission if family members provide
guaranties of payment or if the applicant qualifies for financial assistance within the limit of Arbor
Acres’ ability to provide such assistance. Residents whose resources are depleted during residency
may remain as residents under the following circumstances: If members of resident’s family or
other interested parties provide guaranties of payment acceptable to Arbor Acres; or if the Arbor
Acres’ financial assistance resources are such as to enable the facility to provide the amounts
needed. Residents whose financial resources are diverted to other persons or causes, thereby
creating a financial need, are not eligible for consideration for financial assistance.

At present Arbor Acres has no insurance criteria affecting admissions. Applicants whose resources
are marginal or inadequate to cover their projected residency fees may be encouraged to consider
purchase of long-term care insurance as a method of increasing available income once the applicant
becomes a resident of a licensed level of care.

Age Requirements: One must be 62 years of age to become a resident of The Advantage Program.
In the case of a married couple, if one spouse is 62, the minimum age for the other spouse is 60.

Changes of Condition of Resident Prior to Occupancy/Refund(s)Applicable/Not Applicable/Time
Frame of Refund(s): If between the date of entering into a residency agreement such as The
Advantage Program and the date of initial occupancy on campus, an applicant’s financial condition
changes affecting the applicant’s ability to pay expenses associated with residency, the applicant
is required to submit a new financial statement. Improvement in the applicant’s financial position
may alter previous commitments by Arbor Acres to provide financial assistance. A decline in the
applicant’s capacity to pay the previously agreed upon periodic fees and charges may require
reassessment of the applicant’s ability to reside at Arbor Acres and whether Arbor Acres is in a
position to provide financial assistance. If the applicant is unable to move into Arbor Acres for any
reason, the applicant is entitled to an entrance fee refund to the extent of and in accordance with
the provisions of the agreement.

Cancellation/Termination - Refund(s) Applicable/Not Applicable/Time Frame of Refund(s).
Pursuant to the statute, the party (applicant) contracting with the provider (Arbor Acres) may
rescind the contract within thirty (30) days following the later of the execution of the contract or
the receipt of a disclosure statement. A resident may terminate residency upon thirty (30) days
written notice. Arbor Acres may terminate one's residency ift

I. Resident does not pay monthly fees and other charges on a timely basis;
Resident's behavior (or that of resident’s family members, responsible parties, or others
specified in the residency agreement) is detrimental to the spirit of Arbor Acres; or

3. Resident requires treatment or care other than that which Arbor Acres is licensed
ot staffed to provide.

Termination of residency by Arbor Acres occurs only “as a last resort,” when it becomes clear that
termination is necessary, and after the resident and/or the resident’s responsible party has an
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opportunity to be heard. On termination of residency any monthly fees paid in advance are prorated
and any appropriate refund is made thereof within sixty (60} days. Provisions relating to entrance
fee refunds upon termination of residency are set out in residency agreements. Subject to the
statutory refund provisions which apply in the event of rescission of the agreement within thirty
(30) days or preclusion, by death, illness, injury, or incapacity, from occupying a unit under the
terms of the agreement, then the entrance fee is refundable on a declining basis of two percent
(2%) per month for fifty (50) months, with no part of the entrance fee being refundable after a
person has participated in The Advantage Program with Arbor Acres for fifty (50) or more months,
The calculation and payment of any refund to a person who has become a resident is made in the
same manner whether termination of residency is voluntary, is at the request of Arbor Acres, or is
occasioned by death.

I. If aresident dies while a participant in The Advantage Program or before occupying a
living unit in the facility, or if, on account of illness, injury, ot incapacity a resident
would be precluded from occupying a living unit in the facility under the terms of the
contract for continuing care, the contract is automatically cancelled, Arbor Acres will
refund entrance fees paid, as stated in the residency agreement. The refund will be
provided within thirty (30) days of receipt by Arbor Acres of all billable costs incurred by
the resident.

2. Inthe event of the death of a resident as a participant of The Advantage Program, Arbor
Acres will refund the entrance fee, less the $1,000 non-refundable portion as stated in the
residency agreement, and under the prorated refund policy of 2% per month for fifty (50)
months, with no part of the entrance fee being refundable after fifty (50) or more months
or residency. Upon receiving payment of an entrance fee in The Advantage Program,
Arbor Acres will refund to the resident or the resident’s estate.

3. Inthe event of a resident vacating a unit due to moving to a higher level of care, then no
refund of the entrance fees paid will be provided unless that move occurs within ninety
{(90) days of the resident’s physical move-in date, as provided by the stated refund policy.

4. Entrance fees paid to Arbor Acres under The Advantage Program will be counted toward
any future entrance fee payable to Arbor Acres for a residence should the Advantage
Program participant elect to move into the physical campus. ‘

Inability to Pay: 1f a resident should encounter financial difficulty while participating in The
Advantage Program with Arbor Acres, there are guaranty agreements between Arbor Acres and
members of a resident’s family which make possible the resident’s continued participation in the
program.,

26



SERVICES

Standard Services Available:
Services provided by Arbor Acres while participating in The Advantage Program are addressed
in resident agreements. An overview of the benefits is listed below:

1. An annual health and wellness assessment.

2. Access to recreational, educational, cultural and spiritual life programs.

3. Limited in-patient temporary care in Arbor Acres skilled nursing facility. Arbor Acres
Nursing and Continuing Care staff will assist with admission to and discharge form
Arbor Acres’ licensed facilities, including skilled nursing and assisted living. Residents
pay the standard per diem for residency beginning on the day of admission.

4, Arbor Acres fitness center — complete access to our fitness center, consultation with our
wellness staff, a variety of exercise and wellness classes and development of a personal
health and fitness plan.

5. Arbor Acres dining and catering facilities — No monthly fee required. Each member pays
only for any food purchased.

6. Nursing consultation in our onsite medical clinic — At no additional charge, residents may
visit the Clinic as needed and receive support and guidance over the phone as well.

7. Support and guidance during a health care crisis. Arbor Acres Continuing Care staff is
available when needed for consultation and assistance with navigating the broader health
care system., '

8. Coordination of and access to Licensed Home Care services in the resident’s home.
Residents pay prevailing rates for these services.

FEES

Application/Registration Fee - Refundable/Non-Refundable
Arbor Acres’ application fee is $100.00; it is non-refundable.

Entrance Fees

The Advantage Program entrance fee is $12,500 per resident. On the day of execution of The
Advantage Program Residency Agreement, $1,000 of the single residency fee becomes
nonrefundable. The balance amortizes at a rate of 2% per month until the total amount paid
becomes fully nonrefundable. The entire amount of the entrance fee paid may be applied to the
amount of any future entrance fee payable to Arbor Acres in the event The Advantage Program
resident elects to physically move to Arbor Acres campus,

Monthly Fees

The monthly fee per resident is $400.00. This covers costs associated with utilization of
programs, services, facilities and amenities, support staff and dining. It does not include the cost
of any meals.
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Financial Overview Statement

Arbor Acres has relied upon gifts, pledges and bequests, and upon funds received from entrance
fees to cover most of the cost of construction, equipment, land improvements, other
extraordinary expenses, debt amortization and accumulation of reserve funds. Secondly, Arbor
Acres generally relies upon periodic fees and charges from residents to support the cash
requirements for operations.

On June 10, 2010 Arbor Acres obtained a tax-exempt bond issue (series 2010 Bonds) in the form
of a Bank Qualified loan to be withdrawn as needed up to $28,875,000. The Bank Qualified loan
was issued for the purpose of new construction of 8,500 square feet, 12-bed addition to
Arborview (Dementia Care) and for new construction of an 117,000 square feet Assisted Living
Building to contain 72 beds, new kitchen and dining areas, a new Physical Therapy space and a
new Community Life space for programming. The series 2010 Bonds consist of variable rate tax
exempt bonds, with a fixed interest rate swap at 3.333% per annum. Principal and interest is
payable monthly with a final maturity date of January 1, 2038.

In June; 2015, Arbor Acres entered into a construction loan agreement with a commercial bank
to provide financing for the renovation of the skilled nursing facility, Strickland Place at
Fitzgerald. In 2019 the construction loan was refinanced and an additional $1,000,000 was drawn
to finance construction of a new bistro dining space in independent living. The 2019 Bank Loan
consists of a $8,450,000 taxable loan amortized over 15 years with a maturity date of September
15, 2034, Interest is payable monthly at a variable rate of 1.15% over the 30 day LIBOR, and
reset monthly with a fixed rate swap with a rate of 2.865%. Principal and interest are payable
monthly. On July 27, 2021 Arbor Acres converted this taxable loan to a tax-exempt bond, the
Series 2021 A-3 bonds. The bonds carry a variable rate of 79% of one month SOFR plus
1.027%.

In December 2016, $13,159,000 of North Carolina Medical Care Commission Retirement
Facilities First Mortgage Revenue Refunding Bonds (Arbor Acres Methodist Retirement
Community) Series 2016 (the “Series 2016 Bonds™) were issued to refund the outstanding North
Carolina Medical Care Commission Health Care Facilities First Mortgage Revenue Refunding
Bonds (Arbor Acres Methodist Retirement Community) Series 2007 (the “Series 2007 Bonds”).
The Series 2016 Bonds consist of variable rate tax-exempt bonds, with a fixed interest rate swap
at 2.914% per annum. Principal and interest on the Series 2016 Bonds is payable monthly with a
final maturity of January 1, 2031.

In July 2021, the Series 2021 A-1 and A-2 Health Care Facilities First Mortgage Revenue Bonds
were issued for a total amount available up to $55,000,000 for the construction of new
independent living apartments on the existing campus at Arbor Acres. The project, Aldersgate
Square, was completed in 2023. The Series A-1 Bonds ($33m) provide for a 30 year
amortization period, with interest only through September 2024. The Series A-2 Bonds ($22m)
were repaid with initial entrance fees collected on Aldersgate Square in 2023. The Series A-1
Bonds carry a variable interest rate of 79% of SOFR plus 1.027%. At December 31, 2023
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$23,000,000 of the $33,000,000 outstanding carried an interest rate swap that fixed the interest
rate at 2.205%.

As required by G.S. 58-64-30, a comparison of Actual Results with Forecasted Projections as of
December 31, 2023 follows the financial section of this Disclosure Statement.

Reserves, Escrow and Trusts

As of the end of 2023, Arbor Acres had unrestricted cash and investments of $36,570,480,
investments funding operating reserves of $8,727,250, and restricted cash and investments for
purposes other than financial assistance of $682,108. The restricted investment includes a
$500,000 endowment, the income from which helps support the operating expense of a
swimming pool and spendable restricted funds to support a number of smaller ongoing projects
onh campus.

The facility expects to have a reserve requirement of $9,680,000 based on the 2024 Forecast.
The building of these reserves will continue in future years and will be accomplished primarily
through the receipt of entrance fees, contributions, and bequests from wills and trusts. These
projections show the achievement of an increasing operating reserve fund (projected at
$11,241,000 at December 31, 2028) which will enable Arbor Acres to maintain the reserve
requirements of G.S. 58-64-33 during the period of this forecast. The achievement of this reserve
requirement is predicated upon Arbor Acres being subject to the 25% reserve requirement based
upon the facility’s anticipated occupancy of units exceeding 90%. The facility’s occupancy is
projected to be approximately 94% for independent living units during this five-year period.

In addition to the investments discussed above, Arbor Acres had $19,658,767 of financial
assistance funds in place at the end of 2023, Of that amount, $19,141,219 constituted the
Assistance Endowment Fund; the balance constituted funds available for assistance to residents.
These are funds which arc used to provide charitable assistance to residents who otherwise
would not be able to afford residency at Arbor Acres.

Investments of funds are currently managed by an investment advisor, Bank of America. These
funds arc invested in separate accounts each consisting of a variety of funds including US
equities, International equities, Fixed income bond funds, a Real Estate Fund and alternative
funds. Investment fund accounts specifically for Assistance Endowment resources are segregated
from non-financial assistance amounts. Future investment strategies will depend upon future
investment opportunities and market conditions. Additional fund accounts include the operating
reserve fund, Investment strategies will be reviewed continuously, and as the amount of money
available for long-term investment changes, the diversity of investment vehicles utilized by the
facility is likely to change.

Overall policies and decisions relative to the magnitude of reserve funds and the investment of
reserve funds and financial assistance funds are under the direction of the Investment Commitiee
of the Board of Directors. In 2022, Arbor Acres engaged Bank of America, to act as its
Investment Manager. As the Investment Manager, Bank of America has the authority to exercise
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security trades as established by the Investment Policy parameters. Within the parameters of
these policies, specific investment decisions may be authorized by the Investment Committee
and are executed by the Chief Financial Officer. All Investment Committee positions are held by
board members and other community volunteers approved by the Board of Directors. David W.
Matthews, Chief Financial Officer, is the only individual in the direct employment of Arbor
Acres who is included in this investment authorization process. Mr. Matthews holds a Bachelor
of Science degree in Accounting from The University of North Carolina at Charlotte (1995). Mr.
Matthews is a Certified Public Accountant licensed in North Carolina (1999). His experience
includes 17 years in public accounting, serving as a Senior Manager with a national accounting
firm and nine years working in the hospitality and senior living indusiries as Controller and CFO,

An Escrow Agreement has been established for administering entrance fee receipts to the extent
and as required by applicable statutes. A copy of the Escrow Agreement follows the financial

section of this Disclosure Statement.

Facility Development/Expansion

The Board of Directors in 2019 approved a Core Facilities renovation plan that calls for
independent living expansion and replacements of aging structures.

On May 1, 2023, Arbor Acres completed an Independent Living expansion on its current campus
with the addition of two hybrid villa apartment buildings, adding a total of 56 new units. The
project feature connectivity to the existing independent living common areas, including dining
venues and meeting spaces. The steel and concrete apartment buildings include covered parking
on the ground floor with apartments above, with unit sizes ranging from 1546 to 2005 square
feet. Amenities include indoor and outdoor gathering areas, and two elevators in each building.
SFCS Architects produced all architectural plans and drawings related to the project.

Arbor Acres continues to invest in its facilities to improve their appearance, functionality, and
marketability. Occasionally, older houses that prove difficult or too costly to renovate are
removed and replaced with new construction. Likewise, aging apartment buildings are constantly
under renovation in order to improve the livability and marketability of smaller residential
offerings. The eventual renovation and/or replacement of these aging structures remains part of
the strategic master facilities plan, though no specific plans are in place to advance these
initiatives in the foreseeable future, Arbor Acres has stopped marketing the oldest apartment
buildings on campus to allow for the natural attrition of those units.

Completion of Annual Disclosure Statement Filing Supplement
An Annual Disclosure Statement Filing Supplement was completed and included with Arbor
Acres’ 2024 disclosure filing to the North Carolina Department of Insurance.
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OTHER MATERIAL INFORMATION, AS APPLICABLE

Arbor Acres is not the subject of any existing bankruptcy filing, receivership, liquidation or the
like. The facility has historically been exempt from property taxes and remains exempt under
current statute which bases the degree of exemption upon the amount of charity care and
community benefit provided by the facility.

STATEMENT OF RELATIONSHIP

ATTACHMENT I

Current Audited Financial Statements

Arbor Acres operates on a fiscal year which coincides with the calendar year and the financial
records of the facility have been audited annually. Arbor Acres selected Forvis, LLP, as its
independent auditor for fiscal year beginning January 1, 2004 and anticipates continuing this
relationship through at least 2024. Audited figures for 2023 are included in the financial section
of this Disclosure Statement.

ATTACHMENT 2

Five Year Projection Statements
Five year projections are included in the financial section of the Disclosure Statement.

ATTACHMENT 3

Escrow Agreement
An Escrow Agreement has been established for administering entrance fee recelpts to the extent
and as required by applicable statutes.

ATTACHMENT 4

Resident's Agreements/Contracts

Copies of standard resident agreements for each level of care available in the facility are inserted
in the back of the Disclosure Statement and were filed with the Disclosure Statement submitted
annually to the North Carolina Department of Insurance.
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STATEMENT OF RELATIONSHIP

THIS FIATVEMENT OF RELATIONSHIP ig made and effective ags of the day of
August 28, 2018 by and between the Western North Carolina Anoval Conference of the United
Methodist Chwreh (the “Confercnce™ and Athor Acres United Methodist Retirement
Comnsunity, Inc., @ nonprofit corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of
North Carolina (the “Affliated Organivation™),

PRETIMINARY STATEMENT

The Conference is one of the anaual conterences of The United Methodist Church. The
term “The United Methodist Church” refers to the oversll denomination and connectional
relation and identity between its mrany local churches, the various conferences and their
respective counvils, boards and agencies, and other c¢hurch ynits, which colicetively constitute
the religicus system known as United Methodism. Under the Constitution and disciplinery
procedureq set forth in The Book of Discipline of The United Methodist Church (the
“Discipling”), “The United Methodist Church” as & denominational whole is not an cntity, nor
does it possess legal capacitiex and attributes. Tt does not and cannot hold title to property, nor
does it have any officer, agent, employee, office or location, Conlerences, councils, boards,
agoncies, local churches and other unite bearing the name “United Methodiat” are, for the most
part, legal entities capable of suing and being sued and possessed of legal capadities.

The sonnectional structure of the Chucch is maintained throuph the conferences, Each of
the Annual Conferences (of which the Conference is one) is composed of an equal number of
ministers and lay members elected by the local churches. In turn, there i3 one General
Conference, composed of an equal number of ministers and lay members elected by the Annual
Confererices. The Diseipline is the book of law of the Church, The Discipline is the product of
muory than 200 years of the Goneral Conferences of the denominations which now forin the
Church, Pach General Conference amends, perfects, clarifies, and adds its own contribution to
the Discipiine. The Discipline reflecls what is expecled of its lalty and clergy as they sech to be
effective wiltosses in the world as a part of the whole Rody of Christ. (See paragraph. 114 of the
1992 Discipline). Tho relationship set forth in this Statement of Relationship is solely and
exclusively between the Conforenee and the Affiliated Orpandzation. . '

United Methodists give high priority to helping and healing ministries as a vital part of
their Christian mission. [n the United State wlone, there are hundreds of helping and healing
programs refaled (o local churches, and thare ace also bundreds of institutlonal ministrics of
“wiich the Affilisted Organization is one. United Methodists recognize the importance of
operating, maintaining and protecting these institutionul ministries as a vital means of canrying
out the Christian mission of United Methodism, ‘the health and welfare ministries cmbtaced
within this missfon include services in the areas of child cere, aging, health care and
handicapping conditions.

United -Methodists, the Conforonec and the vatious ipstitutional ministrics share a
common intorest that health and welfare ministries bearing the name United Methodist shall be
demonstrably caring, quality missions of Christian service that operate in a manner consistent
with the Sucial Principles and other pottinent provisions of the Diseipline,
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The Afliliated Organization is onc of the health and wclfare iinistries of United
Methodism within the houndaries of and affiliated with the Confarence. The Affiliated
organization was organized with the socoumgement aod approval of the Conference by
individuals members of the Church who were comumitted to the belief that the Affiliatcd
Organization was needed to perform the ministry set forth in its chatter (the “Ministry”), The
Conference and the Affiliaied Organizalion continue in that belicf, The Ministry is among the
Christinh missions of United Methodism and of the Conference,

The purpose of this Stutemenl of Relationship is to set forth an accurale statersent of the
relationship between the Conference and the Affiliated Organization.

NOW, THERDFPORE, the Conference covenants and agrees with the Affilisted
Organizalion and the Affiliated Organization covenants snd agrees with the Conference thal this
Statement of Relationship, including the foregoing Preliminary Staternent, is. an accurate
statement of the relationship between the Confurence snd the Afliliated Organivation,

COVENANTS

[ Although the Conference and the Affiliated Organization shere a common interest in
carrying oul the Chrigtian mission of United Methodism and in the puwpeses of the Minisiry of
the Affiliated Organization, the Conference end the Affilinted Organization are separate, self-
governing and independent. Neither is owned by the other nor is efther the parinor or agent of the
other. 'Lhe sole purposs of each of the parties in affiliating with the othee as herein set out is that
each believes this affilistion with the other is mutually beneficial 1o parties in the performance of
their respective missions of Christian scrvice. The partios hercto agroe that under this affiliation:

2) The members of the governing board of the Affiliated Organization shall be confirmed,
clecied andior selected by the Conference, subject to tho axticles of incorporation and
bylaws, present and future, as amended from time to time, of the Affiliated Organization,
The governing board of the Affiliated Organization includes among its members both
United Melhollist ministers and laity within the Conforence, and may include other
persons e provided in its charter or bylaws,

b} The Conference provides: (i} encouragernent and support, including financial support {o
the cxtent deomed appropriate and- feasible by the Conference; (ii) oppottunities for the
interchange of information and ideas among persons and instifutions performing sitnilar
work and for the development of the Minisfry goals and crileria; (iii) authorization for the
Affilisicd Opgantzation to identify ifself as an organizetion affiliated with ihe

- Clonference; and (iv} an opportunity for the Affiliated Organization to report on the
Ministry to sach regular session of the Conference.

¢j The Affiliated Organization undertakes: (1) to Lfill its mission of Christian service in a
manner that is consistent with the Social Principles and othor pertinent provisions of the
Discipline, and ncceptable to those whom i€ would serve and to members of the Church in
the Conference; and (i) to the extent if deems appropriate, to utilize services of the
Conference and (he Church available to the Affiliated Orpanization o performing its
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d) The Affilisted Organization, desirous of yuining maximum beneft fom its aftiliation
with the Conforcnee and to satisfy the Conference that it continues fo operate in o manner
worthy of o United Methodist ministry, will continue to provide to the Conference such
of the following as may be requesled or desired by the Conference: (i) information that
may be of interest to other similar minigiries; (i) copies of regulat operational and
financial reports; and (iii) other information regarding plans, services and ministries of
the Affiliated Orpanization,

2, The Clonference i not eontractually or legally committed to provide eny particular level
or amount of financial support to the Affitiaied Organization, Any support that the Conference
does or may provide to the Affiliated Organization is, and shall be, voluntary, as determined,
from time to time, solely by the Conference. The Conference has no authority to require the
Affiliated Oiganization o assume any confractual, fmancial or other obligation; nor may the
Conference accept or assume any such obligation in the name of the Affiliated Organization.
Similarly, the Affiliated Organization hus no suthority to accept or assume any such obligation in
the name of the Conforence, Both agree that the Conference shall have no obligation or
responsibility for or with respect to any contract, commitment or lability of the Affiliated
Organization. '

3. Church-wide solicitations (thet is, solicitations addressed to the general membership of a
local chureh) within or through local United Methodist churches of the Confercnce are not fo be
mede by the Affiliated Organization except as herstofore or hereafter approved by the
Conferatice or the resident bishop. Other solicitations, such as solicitations of individuals and
entities, whether or nol church membors or chutcherclated, are matiors befween the Affiliatod
Organization and the parties solicited and do not require the approval of the Conference.

4, If the affiliation between the Conference and the Alfiliated Organization should at any
fime beeome unaceeptable to them, or to one of them, they or either of them may sover the
affiliation hetween them and thereafier operate entirely independently of the other. If action to
sever the relutionship is taken by one party only, that parly shall give prompt written notice of
the sovetance of the relationship to the other party,

5 Tn the event of the dissolution of the Afliliated Organization, ils assets may be conveyed
to the Conference or as otherwisc provided in the articles of incorporation, 03 amended from time
to tite, of the Affiliated Organization,

6, This Statement of Relationship shafl be subject to review and amendment at such times
and in such manner as may be mutually agreeable to the Conference and the Affiliated

Organization.

| Signaiure Page Follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, cach of the parlies bereto bas caused this Statement of
Relationship to he executed in its name on the date set opposite its name below,

CONFERENCE:

WEHSTERN NORTH CAROLINA ANNUAL
CONFERENCE OF THE UNITED METIIODIST

gj AU

Namc Dr. R. Mark ng
Title: Treasurer, Westens Notth Caraling
Conierence of The United Methodist Church

AFFILIATED ORGANIZATION:

ARBOR  ACRES  UNITED METHODIST
RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC.

s Andi -- Anulegate”' '
Title: Prcs:dénrfCE'O 2
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500 Ridgefield Court / Asheville, NC 28806
P 828.254.2254 / F 828.254.6859
forvis.com

Independent Auditor’'s Report

Board of Directors
Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. and Affiliates
Winston-Salem, NC

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement
Community, Inc. and Affiliates (collectively, the “Company”), which comprise the consolidated balance
sheets as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the related consolidated statements of operations and
changes in net assets, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated
financial statements.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the results of its operations
and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America (*GAAS”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consoclidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
required to be independent of the Company and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance
with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audits. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Responsibilities of Management for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America,
and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are
conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Company's ability
to continue as a going concern within one year after the date that the consolidated financial statements
were available to be issued.

—— QPRAXITY

FORVIS is a trademark of FORVIS, LLP, registered with the U.S. Patent and Trademark Cifice S



Board of Directors
Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. and Affiliates

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to ohtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report
that includes our opinion, Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not absolute assurance,
and therefore is not a guarantse that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a
substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a
reasonable user based on the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we:

e Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to

fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures

include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements.

» Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstancas, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

+ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

+ Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, censiderad in the aggregate,
that raise substantial doubt about the Company's ability to continue as a going concern for a
reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with these charged with governance regarding, ameng other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain intemal contral-related matters
that we identifiad during the audit.

Report on Supplementary Information

Qur audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic consolidated financial
statements taken as a whole. The supplemental schedules listed in the foregoing table of contents are
presented for purposes of additional analysis of the consolidated financial statements rather than to present
the financial position of the individual companies and are not a required part of the basic consolidated
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2023. Such information is the responsibility of
management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records
used to prepare the consolidated financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing
procedures applied in the audit of the consolidated financial statements and certain additional procedures,
including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other
records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements or to the consolidated financial statements
themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in
the United States of America. In our opinion, the information is fairly stated in all material respects in relation
to the consolidated financial stalements as a whole.

FORVIS,LLP

Asheville, North Carolina
April 23, 2024



Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. and Affiliates

Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31, 2023 and 2022

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Accounts receivable
Other receivable
Prepaid expenses

Total current assets

Non-current assets:
Assets limited as to use:

Board designated for:
Assistance endowment
Capital projects
Strategic fund

Donor restricted for:

Resident assistance

Assistance endowment

Other specific purposes
Operating reserve requirement
Escrow deposits held by trustee

Total assets limited as to use

Beneficial interest in perpetual trusts
Other long-term assets
Interest rate swap asset
Operating lease right of use assets
Property and equipment, net

Total non-current assets

Total assets

See accompanying notes,

2023 2022
14,760,497 7,330,871
21,809,983 17,677,389

922,856 625,989

- 4,052,925

454,874 399,996
37,948,210 30,086,270
6,375,855 5,853,027
2,520,013 2,520,013

- 927,617

517,548 914,581
12,765,364 11,700,768
682,108 851,203
8,727,250 7,962,500

- 3,135,750

31,588,138 33,665,757
1,304,603 1,219,500
289,265 223,003
4,361,081 4,775,082
145,741 -
128,019,145 123,153,811
165,707,973 163,037,243
203,656,183 193,124,213

{continued)



Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. and Affiliates

Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31, 2023 and 2022

{continued)

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Accrued interest payable
Estimated refundable entrance fees
Current maturities of operating lease liabilities
Current maturities of long-term debt

Total current !iabilitie.s
Long-term liabilities;
Refundable deposits
Deferred revenue from entrance fees
Operating lease liabilities, less current maturities
Long-term debt, less current maturities

Total long-term liabilities

Total liabilities

Net assets:

Without donor restrictions
With donor restrictions

Total net assets

Total liabilities and net assets

See accompanying notes.

2023 2022
1,495,616 $ 8,581,308
1,577,750 1,468,262

99,763 244,200
1,156,353 464,254
60,275 -
2,459,000 2,146,000
6,848,757 12,904,024
35,000 3,172,670
59,524,182 36,969,430
85,466 -
65,334,885 73,661,644
124,979,533 113,803,744
131,828,290 126,707,768

56,568,270 51,929,895

15,269,623 14,486,450

71,827,893 66,416,445

203,656,183 $ 193,124,213




Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. and Affiliates
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets
Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

2023
Without Donor With Donor
Restrictions Restrictions Total
Revenue, gains, and other support:
Contributions $ 166,394 1,125,008 1,290,402
Resident fees 34,086,612 - 34,086,612
Home Care revenue 2,207,254 - 2,207,254
Entrance fees earned 8,105,184 - 8,105,184
Investment income, net 1,351,186 319,761 1,670,948
Other 153,414 - 153,414
Net assets released from restrictions 1,854,628 (1,854,628) -
Total revenue, gainsg, and other
support 47,923,671 {409,859) 47,513,812
Expenses:
Medical and personal care 10,836,664 - 10,836,664
Food service 6,653,004 - 6,653,004
Facility services 6,512,724 - 6,512,724
Utilities 1,515,932 - 1,515,932
Resident services 1,538,174 - 1,538,174
Administration 3,770,374 - 3,770,374
Human resources 900,415 - 900,415
Home Care expenses 1,933,336 - 1,933,336
Marketing and development 1,189,204 - 1,189,204
Depreciation 8,787,854 - 8,787,854
Interest 2,084,532 - 2,084,532
Total expenses 45,722,213 - 45,722,213
Operating income (ioss) 2,201,458 {409,859) 1,791,599
Non-operating revenue (expenses):
Loss on disposal of property (212,904) - {212,904)
Net realized gain on investments 1,219,906 513,166 1,733,072
Change in value - interest rate swaps (414,001) - {414,001)
Change in value - perpstual trusts - 85,103 85,103
Net unrealized gain on investments 1,833,816 594,763 2,428,579
Excess of revenues over expenses 4,628,275 783,173 5,411,448
Net assets, beginning of year 51,929,995 14,486,450 66,416,445
Net assgets, end of year $ 56,558,270 15,269,623 71,827,893

See accompanying notes.

{continued)



Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. and Affiliates
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets

Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 (continued)
2022
Without Donor With Donor
Restrictions Restrictions Total
Revenue, gains, and other support;
Contributions L 258,725 $ 2,895,824 $ 3,154,549
Resident fees 28,493,438 - 28,493,439
Home Care revenue 1,772,121 - 1,772,121
Entrance fees earnad 5,845,146 - 5,845,146
Investmeant income, net 601,032 198,665 799,697
Other 4,139,724 - 4,139,724
Net assets released from restrictions 1,143,655 (1,143,655) -
Total revenue, gains, and other
support 42,253,842 1,850,834 44,204,676
Expenses:
Medical and personaf care 8,692,743 - 8,692,743
Food service 5,883,277 - 5 883,277
Facility services 5,377,669 - 5,377,669
Utilities 1,394,417 - 1,394,417
Resident services 1,303,789 - 1,303,789
Administration 4,417,751 - 4,417,751
Human resources - 1,088,572 - 1,068,572
Home Care éxpenses 1,656,130 - 1,556,130
Marketing and development 1,106,596 - 1,106,556
Depreciation 7,570,817 - 7,570,817
Interest 1,346,142 - 1,346,142
Total expenses 39,717,903 - 39,717,903
Operating income 2,635,939 1,950,834 4,486,773

Non-operating revenue (expenses):

Loss on disposal of property (468,144) - (468,144}
Net realized loss on investments {39,944) (228,086} (269,010}
Change in value - interest rate swaps 7,960,117 - 7,960,117
Change in value - perpetual trusts - (317,229) (317,229)
Net unrealized loss on investments (5,779,040) (1,566,714) {7,345,754)
Excess of revenues over {under) expenses 4,208,928 (162,175) 4,048,753
Other changes in net assets:
Net assets released from restrictions -
capital 388,707 (358,707) -
Change in net assets 4 567 635 (520,882) 4,046,753
Net assets, beginning of year 47,362,360 15,007,332 62,368,602
Net assets, end of year $ 51,925,995 $ 14,486,450 $ 66,416,445

See accompanying notes.



Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. and Affiliates

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

Operating activities:
Change in net assets

Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to

net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation
Loss on disposal of property

Realized and unrealized (gain) loss on investments

Change in value perpetual trusts

Contributicns restricted for long-term investment

Entrance fees and deposits received
Amortization of entrance fees
Amortization of deferred costs
Change in value interest rate swaps
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable

Other receivable

Prepaid expenses

Other long-term assets

Accounts payable

Accrued expenses

Refundable deposits

Unearned grants

Net cash provided by operating activities

Investing activities:
Acquisition of property and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment

Increase in investments

(Increase) decrease in assets limited as to use

Net cash used by investing activities

See accompanying notes.

2023 2022
5,411,448 4,048,753
8,787,854 7,570,817

212,904 468,144
(4,161,651) 7,614,764
(85,103) 317,229
{139,101) (1,737,193)
7,095,105 9,851,483
(8,105,184) (5,845,146)
154,830 141,735
414,001 (7,960,117)
(296,867) 9,409
4,052,925 (4,052,925)
(54,878) (15,450)
(66,172) (102,030)
(1,928,518) 2,013,068
(34,949) 249,030
(1,920) 1,096,140
- {113,250)
11,254,524 13,552,461
(19,023,266) (37,920,975)
- 10,063
29,057 (3,340,479)
2,077,619 (226,227)
{16,916,590) (41,476,718)

{continued)



Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. and Affiliates

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

{continued)

Financing activities:
Payment for financing costs
Entrance fees received on new units
Payment on long-term debt
Proceeds from bonds
Refunds of entrance fees and deposits
Contributions restricted for long-term investmant

Net cash provided by financing activities

Change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning

Cash and cash equivalents, ending

Supplemental information:
Interest paid

Unit customization fee, included in existing
unit entrance fees and deposits

Non-cash activities:
Purchase of property and equipment in
accounts payable at year-end

Deposits held in escrow at year-end

See accompanying notes,

2023 2022
$ (12,885) S -
22,186,075 -
{22,293,750) (2,050,163)
14,138,256 31,230,518
(1,084,895) (429,025)
139,101 1,737,193
13,091,892 30,488,521
7,429,826 2,564,264
7,330,671 4,766,407
$ 14,760,487 $ 7,330,671
$ 2,625,034 $ 1,616,352
$ 386,245 $ 1,447,896
$ 622,641 $ 5,778,815
$ - $ 3,135,750




Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. and Affiliates
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2023 and 2022

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Organization

Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. ("Arbor Acres”) is a non-profit corporation that operates
a continuing care retirement community in Winston-Salem, North Carolina, providing residential, persanal, and
medical care to its residents. Arbor Acres is accredited by the Commission on Accreditation of Rehabilitation
Facilities—Continuing Care Accreditation Commission.

In November 2018, Arbor Acres became the parent corporation and sole member of Arbor Acres Home Care, LL.C
{*Home Care"). Horne Care operations began during the year ended December 31, 2019.

In June 2023, Arbor Acres became the parent corporation and sole member of Arbor Acres Strategic Development,
LLC (“Strategic Development”). Strategic Development was created to investigate growth opportunities for Arbor
Acres.

Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Arbor Acres, Strategic Development and Home Care
{collectively, “the Company”). All material intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in
consolidation,

Basis of accounting and presentation

The accompanying consclidated financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting and
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("GAAP").

The Company classifies its net assets as net assets with or without donor restrictions:

e Net assels without donor restrictions — resources of the Company that are not restricted by donors or
grantors as fo use or purpose. These resources include amounts generated from operations, undesignated
gifts, and the investment in property and equipment.

e Net assels with donor restrictions — resources that are subject to donor-imposed restrictions. Some donor
imposed restrictions are temporary in nature, such as those satisfied by the passage of time or actions of
the Company. Other donor-imposed restrictions stipulate that donated assets be maintained in perpetuity,
but may permit the Company to use or expend part or all of the income derived from the donated assets.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash-and cash equivalents, excluding those classified as investments and assets whose use is limited, include
cash in banks, cash on hand and investments in highly liguid debt instruments with an original maturity of three
months or less when purchased. The Company maintains its cash in bank accounts which, at times, may exceed
federally depository insurance (“FDIC”} limits. Management believes the credit risk associated with these deposits
is minimal.



Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. and Affiliates
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2023 and 2022

Investmentis

Investments in mutual funds, exchange traded funds, and fixed income securities are measured at fair value based
on quoted market prices. Investment in certain alternative investments are recorded at net asset value. Net
investment gain (loss) is reported in the consolidated statement of operations and consists of interest and
investment income, realized and unrealized gains and [osses, less external investment expenses. See Note 3 for
further discussion of fair value measurements.

Beneficial interests in perpetual trusts are recorded when the Company is notified of the trust's existence and the
necessary information to measure the interest is available. The arrangement is recognized as a donor-restricted
contribution to revenue and as an asset, measured at fair value. Annual distributions from the trust are reported as
investment income. Unrealized gains and losses are included in the change in net assets on the consolidated
statements of operations and change in net assets. See Note 4 for further discussion of charitable frust
arrangements.

Assets limited as to use

Assets limited as to use primarily include assets designated by the Board of Directors for specific purposes, assets
restricted by donors for future capital improvements and resident assistance, asssts limited under state statute and
assets limited under trust agreements.

North Carolina General Statute Chapter 58, Article 64, requires continuing care retirement cormmunities to maintain
an operating reserve equal to a statutorily required percentage of total forecasted operating costs (less certain
expenses) for a specific period. This operating reserve is not Board-controlled and cannot be used without the prior
approval of the commissionsr of the North Carolina Department of Insurance pursuant to GS § 58-84-33(c). At
December 31, 2023 and 2022, this reserve totaled $8,727,250 and $7,962 500, respectively.

Assistance endowment funds include donor restricted funds and amounts designated by the Board of Directors.
The Company uses certain board designated net assets and the earhings from certain restricied net assets for
assistance to residents.

Fair value measurements

Fair value as defined under GAAP is an exit price, representing the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The
Company utilizes market data or assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability.
GAAP establishes a three-tier fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used when measuring fair value.
These tiers include: Level 1, defined as observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets; Level 2, defined
as inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are either directly or indirectly observable; and Level 3,
defined as unobservable inputs about which little or no market data exists, therefore requiring an entity to develop
its own assumptions.

Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable consists of resident accounts receivable, Medicare and other third-party payers, and other
miscellansous receivable amounts. Accounts receivable are recorded at the amount management expects to
collect. The allowance estimate is derived from a review of the Company's historical losses based on the aging of
receivables. The Company believes historical loss information is a reasonable starting point in which to calculate
the expected aliowance for credit losses.
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Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. and Affiliates
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2023 and 2022

Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Donated property is recorded at its
estimated fair value at the time of receipt. Interest on borrowings used to finance the facility is capitalized during
construction. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method based on the following estimated useful lives:

Land improvements ‘ 20 years
Buildings 10 to 40 years
Fumniture and equipment 3 to 10 years

Debt issuance costs

Debt issuance costs include underwriter fees, feasibility studies, modification fees and other professional fees. Debt
issuance costs have been recorded as a deduction against the related debt and are being amortized using the
straight-line method over the lives of the various debt issues, which approximate amortization computed using the
effective interest method.

Refundable deposits -

The Company had collected escrow deposits totaling $-0- and $3,135,750 as of December 31, 2023 and 2022,
respectively. These escrow deposits are reflected as refundable deposits and escrows deposits held by trustee on
the consolidated balance sheet. Refundable deposits also include the portion of the payment of parking and golf
cart fees that will be refunded to the resident when parking or golf carts fees are no longer required.

Donor restrictions

Gifts of cash and other assets are reported as restricted support if they are received with donor stipulations that
lirnit the use of the donated assets. When a donor restriction expires (that is, when a stipulated time restriction ends
or a purpose restriction is accomplished), net assets with donor restrictions are reclassified to net assets without
donor restrictions and reported in the consolidated statement of operations and changes in net assets as net assets
released from restrictions.

Gifts of property and equipment {or other long-lived assets) are reported as support without donor restrictions unless
specific donor stipulations specify how the donated assets must be used. Gifts of long-lived assets with explicit
restrictions that specify how the assets are to be used and gifts of cash or other assets that must be used to acquire
long-lived assets are reported as restricted support. Absent explicit donor stipulations about how long those assets
must be maintained, expirations of donor restrictions are reported when the donated or acquired long-lived assets
are placed in service.

Interest rate swaps

The Company utilizes interest rate swaps to manage the variability in interest rates on its variable rate debt. The
Company accounts for its interest rate swaps under GAAP, which requires companies to recognize all derivative
instruments as either assets or liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet at fair value. The accounting for changes
in the fair value (i.e., gains or losses) of a derivative instrument depends on whether it has been designated and
qualifies as part of a hedging relationship and, further, on the type of hedging relationship. For those derivative
instruments that are designated and qualify as hedging instruments, a company must designate the hedging
instrument, based upon the exposure being hedged, as a fair value hedge, cash flow hedge, or a hedge of the
foreign currency exposure of a net investment in a foreign operation. For derivative instruments not designated as
hedging instruments, the changes in fair value are recognized in excess of revenue over expenses. The Company's
interest rate swaps are not desighated as a hedging instrument and the change in fair value is included in excess
of revenue over expenses.

1"



Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. and Affiliates
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2023 and 2022

Obligation to provide future services

The Company annually calculates the present value of the net cost of future services and the use of faciities to be
provided to current residents and compares that amount with the balance of deferred entrance fees. If this calculated
value exceeds the deferred enfrance fees, a liability is recorded, with a corresponding charge to income. The
obligation is discounted at 2.71 percent based on management's estimate of interest earnings. At December 31,
2023 and 2022, the calculated value did not exceed the balance of deferred entrance fees; therefore, no liability for
the cbligation to provide future services is required to be recorded.

Income taxes

The Company is exempt from federal income taxes under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code. Home
Care and Strategic Development are limited liability companies that have not elected to be taxed as a corporation
under current Internal Revenue Code ("IRC") regulations. Home Care and Strategic Development are wholly owned
by Arbor Acres. As such, Home Care and Strategic Development are considered disregarded entities under current
IRC regulations.

Based on the information above, the accompanying consolidated financial statements do not reflect a provision or
liability for federal and state income taxes. The Company has determined that it does not have any material
unrecognized tax benefits or obligations as of December 31, 2023.

Deferred revenue from entrance fees

Fees paid by a resident upon entering into a contract agreement are recorded as deferred revenue and amortized
into income using the straight-line method over the estimated remaining life expectancy of the resident, adjusted
on an annual basis. The non-refundabie portion of the entrance fee that is considered an application fee is
recognized as income when the resident moves in. Subject to certain exceptions, entrance fees are initially
refundable, but become non-refundable at the rate of two percent per month untit becoming fully non-refundable
after 50 months. Upon receiving payment of an entrance fee from an acceptable substitute resident, the Company
will refund to the resident, or to resident's estate, the applicable amount of refund owed. Total contractual refund
obligations under existing contracts (that is if all residents with a refundable balance were to have withdrawn}) are
$32,748,770 and $12,321,035 at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Statement of operations and changes in net assets

The consolidated statements of operations include excess of revenues over expenses. Changes in net assets which
are excluded from excess of revenues over expenses, consistent with industry practice, include contributions of
long-lived assets (including assets acquired using contributions which by donor restriction were to be used for the
purposes of acquiring such assets). The Company considers excess of revenues over expenses to be its
performance indicator.

Methods used for allocation of expenses among programs and supporting services

The Company has presented a schedule of expenses by both function and nature in Note 18. The Company
allocates expenses on a functional basis among its various programs and supporting services. The schedule of
expenses in Note 18 reports certain categories of expenses that are attributable to one or more program or
suppotting services of the retirement community. These expenses include food service, facilities service, and
depreciation. Facilities service and depreciation are allocated based on square footage. Food service is allocated
based on occupancy.

Resident fees

Resident fees represent the estimated net realizable amounts from residents, third-party payers, and others for
services rendered as further described in Note 2.
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Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. and Affiliates
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2023 and 2022

Financial assistance

The Company currently maintains a financial assistance program and policy for residents helding continuing care
residency agreements in the event the resident{s) should become unable to pay for services. The Company
reserves the right to change the program and policy and does not guarantee future financial assistance. Since the
Company does not expect to collect the normal charges for services provided for those residents who meet the
financial assistance provisions, estimated charges for such assistance are not included in revenue. The cost of the
charity care provided by the Company is based on financial assistance awarded to qualifying residents (Note 7),
charges forgone under government and other third-party payer programs as well as charges that residents are
unable to pay. The cost of providing charity care was approximately $1,995,000 in 2023 and $1,346,000 in 2022.
The cost is discounted by the operating margin percentage {(operating revenues less realized gains/losses on
investments divided by operating expenses), which calculated to be 0.92 percent for 2023 and -7.30 percent for
2022. The Company uses both board restricted funds and net assets with doner restrictions that are temporary in
nature to provide financial assistance. The Company receives contributions in three main ways: through annual
fundraising efforts, annual requests of outreach ministries, and estate donations. Donations and other services
provided by the Company that were not reimbursed by other sources were approximately $187,000 and $515,000
in 2023 and 2022, respectively, for a total community benefit of $2,182,000, and $1,861,000, respectively.

Use of estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and
accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Recently Adopted Accounting Guidance
Leases

On January 1, 2023, the Company adopted the requirements of ASU 2016-02, Leases (“Fopic 842"). The objective
of this ASU, along with several related ASUs issued subsequently, is to increase transparency and comparability
between organizations that enter into lease agreements. For lessees, the key difference of the new standard from
the previous guidance (“Topic 840"} is the recognition of a right of use (*ROU") asset and lease liability on the
combined and consolidated balance sheet. The most significant changa is the requirement to recognize ROU assets
and lease liabilities for leases classified as operating leases. The standard requires disclosures to meet the objective
of enabling users of financial statements to assess the amount, timing, and uncertainty of cash flows arising from
leases.

As part of the transition to the new standard, the Company was required to measure and recognize leases that
existed at implementation using an alternative transition approach. For leases existing at the effective date, the
Company elected the package of three transition practical expedients and therefore did not reassess whether an
arrangement is or contains a lease, did not reassess lease classification, and did not reassess what qualifies as an
initial direct cost. The Company also elected the short-term exception for leases that, at the lease commencement
date, have a lease term of 12 months or less and does not include an option to purchase the underlying asset that
the Company is reasonably certain to exercise.

At lease inception, the Company determines whether an arrangement is or contains a lease. Operating leases are

included in operating lease right of use assets, current maturities of operating lease liabilities, and operating lease
liabilities, less current maturities, in the consolidated financial statermnents.

13



Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, inc. and Affiliates
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2023 and 2022

ROU assets represent the Company’s right to use leased assets over the term of the leases. Lease liabilities
represent the Company's contractual obligation to make lease payments over the lease terms. For operating leases,
ROU assets and lease liabilities are recognized at the commencement date. The lease liability is measured as the
present value of the Iease payments over the lease term. The Company uses the rate implicit in the lease if it is
determinable. When the rate implicit in the lease is not determinable, the Company uses the risk-free rate at the
commencement date of the lease to determine the present value of the lease payments. Operating ROU assets are
calculated as the present value of the lease payments plus initial direct costs, plus any prepayments less any lease
incentives received. Lease terms may include renewal or extension options to the extent they are reasonably certain
to be exercised. The assessment of whether renewal or extension options are reasonably certain to be exercised
is made at lease commencement. Factors considered in determining whether an option is reasonably certain of
exercise include, but are not limited to, the value of any leasehold improvements, the value of renewal rates
compared to market rates, and the presence of factors that would cause a significant economic penalty to the
Company if the option were not exercised. Lease expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.

Allowance for Credit Losses

In June 20186, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (*FASB") issued guidance ("FASB ASC 326") which
significantly changed how entities will measure credit losses for most financial assets and certain other instruments
that aren't measured at fair value through net income. The most significant change in this standard is a shift from
the incurred loss modet! to the expected ioss model. Under the standard, disclosures are required to provide users
of the financial statements with useful information in analyzing an entity’s exposure to credit risk and the
measurement of cradit losses. Financial assets held by the company that are subject to the guidance in FASB ASC
326 were accounts receivable.

The Company adopted the standard effective January 1, 2023. The impact of the adoption was not considered
material to the consolidated financial statements and primarily resulted in enhanced disclosures only.

Subsequent events

Subsequent events have been evaluated through April 23, 2024, which is the date the consolidated financial
statements were available to be issued.

Note 2. Revenue Recognition

The Company generates revenues, primarily by providing housing and health services to its residents. The following
streams of revenue are recognized as follows:

Monthly service fees

The contracts that residents select require an advanced fee and monthly fees based upon the type of
accommodation they are applying for. Resident fee revenue for recurring and routine monthly services is generally
billed monthly in advance. Payment terms are usually due within 30 days. The services provided encompass social,
recreational, dining along with assisted living and nursing care and these performance obligations are earned each
month. Under Accounting Standards Codification (*ASC”) Topic 606, management has determined that the
performance obligation for the standing obligation to provide the appropriate level of care is the predominate
component and does not contain a lease component under ASC Topic 842. Resident fee revenue for non-routine
or additional services are billed monthly in arrears and recognized when the service is provided.
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Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. and Affiliates
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2023 and 2022

Entrance fees

The nonrefundable entrance fees are recognized as deferred revenue upon receipt of the payment and included in
liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet until the performance obligations are satisfied. The refundable portion
of an entrance fee is not considered part of the transaction price and as such is recorded as a liability in the
consolidated balance sheet. Additionally, management has determined the contracts do not contain a significant
financing compeonent as the advanced payment-assures residents the access to health carg in the future. These
deferred amounts are then amortized on a straight-line basis into revenue on a monthly basis over the life of the
resident as the performance obligation is the material right associated with access to future services as described
in FASB ASC 606-10-55 paragraph 42 and 51.

Health care services

In the facility, the Company provides nursing care to residents who are covered by government and commercial
payers. The Community is paid fixed daily rates from government payers. The fixed daily rates and other fees are
billed in arrears monthly. The monthly fees represent the most likely amount to be received from the 3rd party
payors. Most rates are predetermined from Medicare.

Under ASC Topic 606, management has elected to utilize the portfolio approach in aggregating the revenues under
these revenue streams.

Pecember 31, 2023

Independent Assisted Skilled Home
Living Living Nursing Care Total
Private pay $ 13,924,295 $ 8,741,418 $ 10,068,512 $ 2,207,254 $ 349841479
Medicare - - 1,352,387 - 1,352,387
Total $_13924205 § 8741418 $ 11,420,899 § 2207254 § 36203866
December 31, 2022
Independent Assisted Skilled Home
Living Living . Nursing Care Total
Private pay $ 11,128,368 $ 8,503,278 $ 7,962,072 5 1,772,121 $ 29,365,839
Medicare - - 899,721 - 899,721
Totaf $ 11128368 $ 8503278 $ 88061793 § 1772121 § 30265560

Note 3. Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liahilities

Prices for certain investments, such as mutual funds, exchange traded funds, and fixed income securities, are
readily available in active markets in which those securities are traded thus the resulting fair values are categorized
as Level 1. Prices for Level 2 assets and liabilities are determined on a recurring basis based on inputs readily
available in public markets or can be derived from information available in publicly quoted markets. As further
explained in Note 4, the Company has a beneficial interest in a perpetual trust. The value of this trust is disclosed
as level 3 in the fair value table below in accordance with GAAP and is valued at the market price of the underlying
investments.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2023 and 2022

The Company invests in certain investments for which quoted prices are not available in active markets for identical
instruments. The Company utilizes the net asset value (“NAV") provided by the administrator of the fund as a
practical expedient to estimate fair value. This practical expedient would not be used if it is determined to be
probable that the fund will sell the investment for an amount different from the reported NAV. These investments
are not required to be classified within a level on the fair value hierarchy.

There were no changes during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 to the Company’s valuation
technigues used to measure asset and liability fair values on a recurring basis.

Assets and liabilities are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair
value measurement, The Company's assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value
measurement requires judgment, and may affect the valuation of fair value assets and liabilities and their placement
within the fair value hierarchy levels. The following table sets forth by level, within the fair value hierarchy, the
Company’s financial assets and liabilities accounted for at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2023
and 2022:

Fair Value as of December 31, 2023

_ Level1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
investments:
Mutual funds $14683.017  $ - % - $14,688,017
Exchange traded funds 16,290,794 - - 16,290,794
Bonds 8,173,046 - - 8,173,046
Commodities 893,005 - - 893,005
Stocks 7.898 476 - - 7.898,476
Total investments in the fair value
hierarchy 47,94 $ - 8 - $47,043338
Investments at NAV (a) 2,581,948
Total investments at fair value $ 50,525 286
Beneficial interest in perpetual trusts 3 - 3 - § 1304603 1.3 03
Interest rate swap asset, net $ - § 4,361,081 $ - $ 4361081
Fair Value as of December 31, 2022
Level 1 Level2  _ Level3d Total
Investments:
Mutual funds $ 8,959,498 % - % - % 8,559,498
Exchange traded funds 12,256,653 - - 12,256,653
Stocks 7,310,864 - - 7,310,864
Total investments in the fair value
hierarchy $28527015 % - 3 - $28,527,015
Investments at NAV (a) ’ 7,361,334
Total investments at fair value $ 35,888 348
Beneficial interest in perpetual trusts 3 - 3 - § 1219500 § 1,219,500
Interest rate swap asset, net $ - 4,77 $§ - § A775082
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(@) In accordance with Topic 820, certain investments that were measured at NAV per share (or its equivalent)
have not been classified in the fair value hierarchy. The fair value amounts presented in this table are
intended to permit recongiliation of the fair value hierarchy to the line items presented in the consolidated

balance sheets.

Mutual funds consist of the following at December 31, 2023; 30% large cap, 14% mid cap, 11% investment grade
taxable bonds, 16% international development, and 29% other.

Mutual funds consist of the following at December 31, 2022: 33% large cap, 18% mid cap, 18% investment grade
taxable bonds, 14% international development, and 17% other.

The Company has $2,872,835 and $12,319,047 of cash and cash equivalents included in investments and assets
limited as to use on the consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, which was not
classified as a level as prescribed within the provision.

The Company recognizes transfers between the levels as of the beginning of the reporting period. There were no
gross fransfers between the levels for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022,

The following table summarizes investments for which fair value is measured using the NAV per share practical
expedient as of December 31, 2023 and 2022:

Fair Value at Fair Value at Other Redemption
December 31, December 31, Unfunded Redemption Notice
2023 2022 Commitments Restrictions _ Period
European Equity Fund $ - $ 1,769,053 None Monthly 30 days
Real Property Fund $ 2181,638 $ 2,707,289 None Quarterly 60 days
Global Absolute Return Fund $ 400,413 $ 1,630,076 None Quarterly 65 days
Globkal Equity Fund $ - $ 1,354,917 None Quarterly 60 days

The preceding methods described may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative of net realizable
value or reflective of future values. Furthermore, although the Company believes its valuation methods are
appropriate and consistent with other market participants, the use of different methodologies or assumptions to
determine the fair value of certain financial instruments could result in a different fair value measurement at the

reporting date.

The fallowing is a reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of assets measured at fair value on a recurring
basis classified as Level 3 during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022.

2023 2022
Balance, beginning of year $ 1,219,500 $ 1,536,729
Unrealized gains (losses) 85,103 (317,229)

$ 1,304,603 $§ 1219500
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Note 4. Charitable Trust Arrangements

Charitable Remainder Trust

A charitable remainder trust provides the payment of distributions to the donor or other designated beneficiaries
over the income beneficiaries’ lifetimes. At the end of the trust’s terms, all or a portion of the remaining assets are
available for the Company’s use as specified by the donor.

Two charitable remainder trusts have named the Company as a the remainder beneficiary. One trust provides
payments out of principal which prevents the ability to measure the interest. There is insufficient information on the
second trust to permit the Company to account for the trust. No asset is recorded in relation to the trusts.

Perpetual Trusts

During 2019, the Company received information that identified it as the beneficiary of perpetual trusts and
subsequently recorded an asset for the beneficial interests and a correspending donor-restricted contribution which
is reflected on the consolidated statement of operations and changes in net assets. The Company will receive
income distributions from the perpetual trusts but will not receive the assets of these trusts. Distributions from the
trusts are unrestricted. The beneficial interest in these perpetual trusts, recorded as donor-restricted net assets,
were $1,304,603 and $1,219,500 at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Note 5. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consists of the following at December 31, 2023 and 2022:

2023 2022
Land and improvements $ 16,776,855 S 14,142,345
Buildings 192,037,509 141,543,174
Furniture and equipment 12,664,096 11,589,178
Construction in progress 2,656,899 43,914,826
224,135,359 211,189,523
Accumulated depreciation (96.116,214) (88,035,712)

$ 128.019.145 $ 123,153,811

Interest costs totaling approximately $872,000 and $551,000 were capitalized in construction in progress during the
years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

18



Arhor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. and Affiliates
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2023 and 2022

Note 6. Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt consists of the following at December 31, 2023 and 2022;

L]
[=]
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o
[oe]
Lo ]

Series 2010 Health Care Facilities First Mortgage Revenue Bonds

at variable rate of 79% of one month LIBOR plus 1.0854% through

6/30/2023 and 79% Secured Overnight Financing Rate ("SOFR")

plus 1.0854% effective 7/1/2023 through year end, and reset

monthly with a fixed interest rate swap with a rate of 3.333% in

2023 and 2022 on the cutstanding principal balance {See Note 12);

monthly payments of $60,000 to $240,000 due January 1, 2038. $ 22,000,000 $ 22,780,000

Series 2016 Health Care Facilities First Mortgage Revenue Bonds

at variable rate of 78% of one month LIBOR plus 0.948% through

6/30/2023 and 79% SOFR plus 1.0424% effective 7/1/2023

through year end, and reset monthly with a fixed interest rate swap

with a rate of 2.914% in 2023 and 2022 on the outstanding principal

balance (See Note 12); monthly payments of $76,000 to $92,000

due January 1, 2031, 7,227,000 8,149,000

Series 2021 Health Care Facilities First Mortgage Revenue Bonds:

Series 2021 A-1 for a total amount available up to $33,000,000 at

variable rate of 78% of one month SOFR plus 1.027% and reset

monthly with a fixed interest rate swap with a rate of 2.205%

effective starting July 2023 on the outstanding principal balance up

to $23,000,000 (See Note 12); monthly payments of interest only

through September 2024 then interest and principal payments

ranging from $130,000 to $135,000 through January 1, 2052, 33,000,000 19,572,483

Series 2021 A-2 for a total amount available up to $22,000,000 at
variable rate of 79% of one month SOFR plus 0.948% and resst
monthly; amount was repaid with entrance fees from new units in
2023. - 19,377,261

Series 2021 A-3 at variable rate of 79% of cne month SOFR plus
1.027% and reset monthly with a fixed interest rate swap with a
rate of 2.865% in 2023 and 2022 on the outstanding principal
balance (See Note 12); monthly payments interest and principal

ranging from $49,000 to $56,000 due January 1, 2035. 6,482,087 6,985,837
68,709,087 76,864,581

Current maturities _ {2,459,000) (2,146,000)
Bond issuance costs (915,202) {1.056,937)

65,334,885 § 73661644

The Series 2010, 2016, and 2021 bonds bear interest payable monthly on the amount of bond proceeds
outstanding. The bonds are secured by a pledge of future revenues and substantially all of the property and
equipment of the Company. The trust indenture and loan agreements underlying the Series 2010, Series 2016 and
Series 2021 bonds contain certain covenants and restrictions.
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Annual principal maturities of long-term debt are as follows:

2024 3 2,459,000
2025 3,170,750
2026 3,238,078
2027 3,352,511
2028 3,411,087
Thereafter 53,077 663

$ 68,708,087

The Company has a revolving line of credit with a bank in the amount of $3,000,000. Interest is payable monthly at
a rate of one-month SOFR index plus 1.30 percent and is secured by a deed of trust. There was no balance
outstanding as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, The line of credit expires in December 2024,

Note 7. Net Assets with Donor Restrictions

Net assets with donor restrictions that are tempeorary in nature consist of the following at December 31, 2023 and
2022;

2023 2022
Financial assistance $ 2,364,742 $ 1,836,678
Other 182,108 151,203

3 2,546,850 $ 1.987.881

Net assets wers released from donor restrictions by incurring expenses satisfying the restricted purposes or by
occurrence of other events specified by donors as follows for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022:

2023 2022
Financial assistance $ 1,733,431 $ 947,649
Other 121,197 196,008
Net assets released from restrictions—operating 1,854,628 1,143,655
Net assets released from restrictions—capital - 358 707

$ 1,854,628 $ 1,502,362

Net assets with donor restrictions that stipulate assets be held in perpetuity consist of the following at December
31, 2023 and 2022:

2023 2022
Assistance endowment $ 10,918,170 $ 10,779,069
Swimming pool endowment 500,000 500,000
Beneficial interest in perpetual trusts 1.304.603 1,219,500

1 2773 $§ 12,498.569
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Note 8. Endowment Funds

The Company’s endowment was organized to provide financial assistance to the residents of the Company in the
event the resident(s) become unable to pay for services, and to help provide maintenance to the swimming pool.
The Company's endowment funds include donor-restricted funds and board designated funds classified as net
assets without restrictions. As required by generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America,
net assets associated with endowment funds, including funds designated by the Board of Directors to function as
endowments, are classified and reported based on the existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions.

Interpretation of reievant law

The Board of Directors of the Company has interpreted the North Carolina Uniform Prudent Management of
Institutional Funds Act (the “Act’) as requiring the preservation of the fair value of the criginal gift as of the gift date
of the donor-restricted endowment funds absent explicit donor stipulations to the contrary. As a result of this
interpretation, the Company has classified as perpetually restricted net assets (a) the original value of gifts donated
fo the perpetual endowment, (b) the original value of subsequent gifts to the perpetual endowment, and (c)
accumulations to the perpetual endowment made in accordance with the direction of the applicable donor gift
instrument at the time the amount is added to the fund. The remaining portion of the donor-restricted endowment
fund that is not classified in perpetually restricted net assets is classified as with donor restrictions until those
amounts are appropriated for expenditure by the Company in a manner consistent with the standard of prudence
prescribed by the Act. In accordance with the Act, the Company considers the following factors in making a
determination to appropriate or accumulate donor-restricted endowment funds:

The duration and preservation of the fund
The purposes of the organization and the donor-restricted endowment fund
General economic conditions

The possible effect of inflation and deflation
The expected total return from income and the appreciation of investments

ook w N

The investment policies of the Company

Return objectives and risk parameters

The Company has adopted investment and spending policies for endowment assets that are intended to provide
an ongoing stream of funding for financial assistance that is supported by the endowment. Endowment assets
include assets of donor-restricted funds that the organization must hold in perpetuity as well as board-designated
funds. Under this policy, as approved by the Board, the endowment assets are invested in a manner that is intended
fo produce a high level of total investment return consistent with a prudent level of portfolio risk. The Company
expects its endowment funds, over time, to provide an average rate of return of apprommately 4.5 percent annually.
Actual returns in any given year may vary from this amount.

Strategies employed for achieving objectives

To satisfy its long-term rate-of-return objectives, the Company relies on a total return strategy in which investment
returns are achieved through both capital appreciation (realized and unrealized) and current yield (interest and
dividends). The Company targets a diversified asset allocation that includes fixed income instruments and equity-
based investments to achieve its long-term return objectives within prudent risk constraints. investments are
rebalanced in order to maintain the desired asset allocation mix, consistent with the Company's investment policy
statement.
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Spending policy and how the investment objectives refate to the spending policy

The Company's policy is to appropriate for distribution the accumulated income and appreciation up to 4.5 percent
of the trailing three calendar year end average market halance. In establishing this policy, the Company considered
the long-term expected return on its endowment. Accordingly, over the long term, the Company expects the current
spending policy to allow its endowment to grow at an average of 4.5 percent annually. The exception to this policy
would be that if the accumulated income and appreciation of the doneor restricted endowment is less than 4.5 percent
of the trailing three calendar year-end average market balance, the funds necessary to support the annual financial
assistance would be taken from the board designated portion of the endowment fund., In this way, the principal of
the denor restricted endowment is preserved. This is consistent with the Company objective to maintain the
purchasing power of the endowment assets held in perpetuity or for a specified term as well as to provide additional
real growth through new gifts and investment return.

Changes in endowment net assets for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

Without Donor With Donor

Restrictions Restrictions Total

Endowment net assets

December 31, 2021 $ 7,107,194 $ 12,573,109 $ 19,680,303
Contributions - 1,737,196 1,737,196
Investment earnings 96,477 176,165 272,642
Net depreciation (1,050,368) {1,795,780) (2,848,148)
Appropriation of endowment

assets for expenditure (300.276) (489,928) (790,204)
Endowment net assets

December 31, 2022 5,853,027 12,200,762 18,053,789
Contributions - 139,101 139,101
Investment earnings 155,986 297,261 453,247
Net appreciation 626,649 1,107,928 1,734,577
Appropriation of endowment

assets for expenditure (259,807) (479,688) {739,495)
Endowment net assets

December 31, 2023 $ 6375855 13,265,36 $ 19641219

Note 9. Employee Benefits

The Company's employaes may patticipate in the United Methodist Personal Investrent Plan defined contribution
retirement plans of the General Board of Pensions of The United Methodist Church. These plans cover all
employees who elect to participate the first of the month following their employment, as determined at enroliment
dates each month. Arbor Acres contributes a match equal to 200% of all contributions up to a maximum of 6 percent
of regular earnings for all eligible participating employees. Effective January 1, 2021, Home Care conditionally
contributes a match equal to 50% of contributions up to a maximum of 3 percent of regular earnings for all eligible
participating employees. Company contributions for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 were
approximately $609,000 and $627,000, respectivaly.

On February 23, 2023, The Company merged the Arhor Acres and Home Care Plans. The merged plan is called
the Arbor Acres 403(b} Plan. The merged plan covers all employees of Arbor Acres and Home Care. New hires are
eligible for participation on their first day of employment. The Company contributes a match equal to 200% of all
contributions up to a maximum of 8 percent of regular earnings for all eligible participating employees.
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Note 10. Professional Liahility and Workers Compensation Coverage

The Company has an insurance policy for possible litigation in the ordinary course of business related to
professional liability claims. Management believes that claims, if asserted, would be settled within the limits of
coverage, which is on a claims-made hasis. Should the Company not renew its claims-made policy, or replace it
with equivalent insurance, occurrences incurred during its term but asserted after its expiration would be uninsured,
unless the Company obtains tail coverage. No claims were outstanding at year-end and the Company has made
ne accrual for unasserted claims.

In 2022, the Company contributed surptus of $92,530 and became a subscriber of the Unity Mutual Insurance
Compeany (“UMIC"}, reciprocal captive insurance company. UMIC provides reinsurance coverage for workers’
compensation coverage, for the UMIC subscribers, based on a quota share arrangement. The workers’
compensation policy covers workers' compensation claims on a statutory basis and alsc provides Employers
Liability limits of $1,000,000 per occurrence. As part of this arrangement, the Company is entitled to a share in the
profits and losses of UMIC in accordance with an Allocation Policy Agreement. These annual allocations are not
cash allocations, but rather income ar loss allocations retained in their subscriber's allocation account of UMIC
which will increase and decrease the Company's subscriber interest in UMIC. Subscriber allocations are determined
and made on or before March 15th and are recorded in the Company's change in net assets in the year the allocation
is made,

Note 11. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and other assets approximate fair value.
Investments, assets limited as to use, beneficial interests in trusts and the interest rate swaps are reported at fair
value as of the date of the consolidated financial statements. See Note 3 for more information relating to the fair
value of investments, assets limited as to use and the interest rate swaps.

The carrying amounts of accounts payable, accrued expenses, accrued interest payable and other accrued and

long-term liabilities approximate fair value. The carrying amount of the 2010 series, 2016 series and 2021 bonds
approximates fair value as they contain variable interast rates.

Note 12. Interest Rate Swap Agreements

The Company has entered into interest rate swap agreements (*Swaps”). The table below summarizes the terms
of the various swap agreements.

Original Notional Effective Date __Maturity Date Borrower Pays
$ 25,800,000 20172018 12/1/2037 3.333%
$ 12,287,000 21112018 1/1/2031 2.914%
$ 8,450,000 9/25/2019 9/25/2034 2.865%
$ 23,000,000 71172023 7/1/2033 2.205%
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The fair value of the Company’s interest rate swaps are reported as a long-term asset or liability in the consolidated
balance sheets, The change in fair value of the interest rate swaps are included in excess of revenues over
expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets.

Absent an early termination, subsequent changes in the interest rate swaps will continue to be reflected in excess
of revenues over expenses, which has no cash flow impact to the Company. The cash flow settlements of the
interest rate swap agreements are reflected annually in interest expense as the Company pays interest to the swap
counter-party at the rates noted above.

Note 13. Health Insurance Plan

In 2019, the Company established a self-funded employee health insurance plan administered by a third party. The
plan is funded by employee and employer contributions and is available to all full-time staff. The costs of the plan
are comprised of expected net claims, insurance premiums to acquire specific stop loss coverage and claims
administration fees. Claims in excess of the stop-loss limit of $100,0000 are funded by insurance coverage. The
Company has estimated and recorded amounts for the self-insurance portion of this arrangement. Plan costs
incurred by the Company were approximately $2,447,000 and $1,839,000 for the years ended December 31, 2023
and 2022, respectively. The estimate for claims incurred but not reported is approximately $225,000 as of December
31, 2023 and 2022.

Note 14. Liquidity and Availability

As part of its liquidity management, the Company has a policy to structure its financial assets to be available as its
general expenses, fiabilities, and other obligations come due. In addition, the Company invests cash in excess of
daily operating funds in short-term investments such as treasury bills, certificates of deposit, and money market
funds,

The following schedule reflects the Company's financial assets to meet cash needs for general expenses within
one year. The financial assets were derived from the total assets on the consolidated balance sheets by excluding
the assets that are unavailable for general expenses in the next 12 months. Board designated amounts for capital
and strategic projects have been includad in the schedule below as the board could release these funds for liquidity
purposes if needed.

The Company also has the ability to draw down on a $3,000,000 line of credit if needed (as discussed in Note 8).

The Company seeks to maintain sufficient liquid assets to cover 30 to 45 days of operating and capital expenses.

Asset Categories 2023 2022
Cash and cash equivalents $ 14,760,497 $ 7,330,671
Accounts receivable 922,856 625,989
Investments and assets limited as to use 53,398,121 51,343,148
Less: aperating reserve (8,727,250) (7.962,500)
Less: board designated funds for assistance endowment (6,375,855) (5,853,027)
Less: escrow held for deposits held by trustee - (3,135,750)
Less: donor restricted funds for resident assistance, endowment

and other purposes (13,965.020) {13,266,950)

: 0,013,349 $ 29081579
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Note 15. Related Party Transactions

The Company utilized a construction company in which a board member's spouse is a key member of management.
The Company received services in the amount of approximately $12,102,000 and $34,322,000 from the
censtruction company in 2023 and 2022, respectively. The board member's term expired in April 2023,

Note 16. Provider Relief Funds and Government Grants

in response to the economic impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, Congress introduced the Employee Retention
Credit ("ERC"). The ERC is a refundable payroll tax credit available to taxpayers who experienced either a full or
partial suspension of business operations due to government orders or had a significant drop in gross receipts in
2020 or the first three quarters of 2021. The credit is available for 50 percent of qualified wages for 2020 and 70
percent of qualified wages for the first three quarters of 2021 limited to a maximum credit per qualified employee.
The Company qualifies for the ERC and accounts for the ERC as a government grant. The ERC may be recognized
onhce the conditions attached to the grant have been substantially met. As of December 31, 2022, the Company
incurred qualifying wages and has recognized approximately $4,052,000 associated with the ERC as other income
in the consolidated statement of operations and changes in net assets with a corresponding receivable in the
consolidated balance sheet. As of December 31, 2023, the Company had received the funds associated with the
ERC receivable.

Note 17. Leases

The Company leases copiers under operating leases. Terms of these leases vary and expire between 2025 and
2026, with monthly rental payments ranging from $1,865 per month to $3,709 per manth.

The following table presents lease-related assets and liabilities at December 31, 2023:

Operating leases:

Operating lease right-of-use asset 3 145,741
Current pottion of operating lease liability 60,275
Operating lease liability, net of current portion 85,466

Total operating lease liabilities 5 145,741

The components of lease expanse (and related classification in the consclidated statement of operations and
changes in net assets) for the year ended December 31, 2023 were as follows:

Operating lease expense (administration) 3 66,905

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of the lease liability for the year ended December 31, 2023 is
as follows: '

Operating cash flows from operating leases ' $ 66,905

25



Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. and Affiliates
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2023 and 2022

The following is a schedule of lease liability maturities for the years ending December 31:

2024 $ £6,905

2025 66,905

2026 22.391
156,201
Less; interest (10,480)
Lease liability 3 145,741

Other information:

Weighted-average remaining lease ferm 2.42 years
Weighted-average discount rate 5.60%
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18, Schadule of Functional Expenses

The follewing is a schecule of expenses by koth function and nature for the year ended December 31, 2023

Frogram Services Administiativa Marketing
Independent Asslsted Living Skilled Nursing Home Care Total and General and Fundralsing Total

Satarles and benefits $ 5636425 $ 5485288 § 7608,298 & 1834143 % 20854622 § 2,508,574 § 76766 & 24,021,047
Medlkcal and personal care 282,386 144,522 1,522,186 099,193 2055418 - - 2,058.418
Foad services 1,061,021 549,738 466,859 - 2066518 - - 2,086,518
Facllitles services 1,470,029 868,173 579,340 - 2,717,642 19,152 - 2,736,604
Hiltfes 689,049 471478 354,505 - 1,515,932 - - 1,515,832
Adminisiration - - - - - 2,027,663 - 2,027,603
Marketing and devslop! - - - - - 421,667 421,557
Deprzgiation 6,557,030 1,480,379 702,237 - 8,739,646 49,208 - 4,767,854
Interest 1,178,238 739,875 116,319 2,084,532 - 2,084,532
Tota! expenses includsd nthe

expenses seclion on the

congolidaled statement of

oparations and changes

in net asseta 13 16876077 § 5500422 § 11,440,573 § 1,933,236 § 39,839,408 & 4603507 & 1,189,208 § 45,722 213
The following Is & schedule of sxpenses by both function and nature for the year ended December 31, 2022:

Program Services Administrative Markefing
4 dent Assisted Living Skilled Nursing Home Care Total and General and Fundralsing Total

Salaries and benefits % 4524212 ¢ 4876364 % 6325084 B 1460388  § 17,186,056 $ 2.560678 § I8l § 20,473,918
Medical and persanal care 284 981 136,041 874,337 95,744 1,361,103 - - 1,381,103
Food seivices 1,063,338 545,188 462954 - 207478 - - 2,071,478
Facitifies services 1,269,350 426,803 426,261 - 2182414 14,384 - 2,185,778
Utllitizs 611,012 444 855 338,660 - 1,394 417 - - 1.394.447
Adminkstration - - - - - 2,953 830 - 2,053,836
Markating and development - - - - - - 379,418 379418
Depreciation §,085120 1,667,607 793,703 - 7.616,330 54,487 - 7.570817
Imterest 366642 813,376 177,124 - 1,346,142 - - 1,346,142
Tolal expenses included in the

exponses section on the

consulidated statzment of

operations and changes

In net assets $ 13163656 & 8,810,132 $ 5,208,023  § 158613¢  § 33,027,940 5 5,583,366 § 1,108,597 § 35,717,003
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Consolldating Balance Shest
December 31, 2023

Strategic
ASSETS Arbor Acres Home Care Development Eliminations Total
Current assets:
Cash and ¢ash equivalents $ 10,423,856 3 188,868 $ 4147774 % - § 14,760,498
Investments 21,809,982 - - - 21,809,982
Accounts receivable 666,575 257,281 - - 922,858
Prepald expenses 454,874 - - - 454,874
Due from affiliates 23,764 - 16 {23,779) -
Total current assets 33,378,051 446,148 4,147,789 (23,779) 37,948,210
Non-current assets:
Assets limited as to use:
Board designated for.
Assistance endowment 6,375,855 - - . 6,375,866
Capital projects 2,520,013 - - - 2,520,013
Strategic fund - - - - -
Dener restricied for:
Resident assistance 517,548 - - - 517,548
Assistance endowment 12,766,364 - - - 12,765,364
Other specific purposes 682,108 - - - 682,108
Operating reserve requirement 8,727,250 - - - 8,727,250
Total assels limiled as to use 31,588,138 - - - 31,588,138
Beneficial interest in perpetual trusts 1,304 603 - - - 1,304,603
investment in affiliates 4,200,939 - - (4,200,939) -
Other long-term asseis 177.319 111,946 - - 289,265
Interest rate swap asset 4,361,081 - - - 4,361,081
Operating right of use assets 145,741 - - - 145,741
Preperty and equipment, net 128,019,145 - - - 128,019,145
169,796,966 111,946 - {4,200 939) 165,707,973
Total assets 3§ 203,175,017 $ 558,098 $ 4147788 § (4,224718) § 203,656,183

See independent auditor's report.



Arbor Acres Unlted Methodist Retirement Cammunity, Inc. and Affiliates )
Gonsolidating Balance Sheet

December 31, 2023 {continued)
Strategic
LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS Arbor Acres Home Care Development Ellminations Total
Current liabilities:
Accounis payable $ 1,493 805 $ 1,611 $ - $ - % 1,495,618
Accried expanses 1,506,960 70,790 - - 1,577,750
Accrued interest payable 99,763 - - - 99,763
Estimated refundable entrance fees 1,156 353 - - - 1,156,353
Current maturities of operating leases 60275 - - - 80,275
Cutrent maturities of long-term debt 2,459,000 - - - 2,459,000
Dus 1o affiliates - 23,778 - {23,779 -
Total current liabilities 5,776,156 85,380 - (23.779) 5,848,767
Leng-temm liabilities:
Refundable deposlts 35,000 - - - 35,000
Daferred revenue from entrance fees 59,524,182 - - - 59,624,182
Operating leases, less current maturities 85,466 - - - 85 466
Long-term debt, less current maturitizs 56,334,885 - - - 65,334,885
Tetal long-term liabilities 124,979,633 - - - 124,679 533
Total liabilties 131,755,689 96,380 - {23,778 131,828,200
Net assets:
Without doncr restrictions 56,149,705 461,715 4,147,788 {4,200,939) £6 558,270
With donor restrictions 15,269,623 - - - 15 269,623
Total nat assels 71,419,328 461,715 4,147,789 (4,200,939) 71,827,893
Tetal liabilties and net assets $ 203175017 § 558,005 5 4147789 $ (4,224,718) $ 203,656,183

See Independent auditor's report.
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Arbor Acras United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc, and Affiliates
Consolidating Statement of Operations - Without Dongr Restriction

Year Ended December 31, 2023

Revenug, gains, and other support:
Contributions
Resident fees
Home Care revenue
Entrance fees earned
Invesiment income, net
Other
Net assets released from restrictions

Total revenue, gains, and other

support

Expenses:
Medical and personal care
Food service
Facility services
Utifitles
Rasident services
Administration
Human rescurces
Home Carae expanses
Marketing and development
Depreciation
Interest

Total expenses
Operating income

Non-operating revenue {expenses):
Loss on disposal of property
Net realized gain on invesiments
Change in value - interest rate swaps
Net unrealized gain on investments

Excess of revonues over expenses

See independent auditor's report.

Strategic Consolidated
Arbor Acres Home Care Development Eliminations Total

165,394 $ - - - $ 165,394
34,086,612 - - - 34,086,612
- 2,207,254 - - 2,207,254

8,105,184 - - - 8,105,164
1,292,389 - 58,796 - 1,351,185
213,414 - - (60,000) 153,414
1,854,628 - - - 1,854,628
45,717,621 2,207,254 58,796 (60,000} 47,823,671
10,836,684 - - - 10,836,664
5,663,004 - - - 6,653,004
8,512,724 - - - 6,512,724
1,615,932 - - - 1,515,932
1,638,174 - - - 1,538,174
3,770,374 - 3,770,374
900,415 - - - 800,415

- 1,693,338 - (80,000) 1,933,336

1,188,204 - - - 1,189,204
8,787,864 - - - 8,787,854
2,084,532 - - - 2,084,632
43,788,877 1,093,336 - (80,000) 45,722,213
1,028,744 213,918 58,706 - 2,201,458
(212,904) - - - {212,904)
1,219,806 - - - 1,219,506
{414,001) - - - {414,001)
1,833,815 - - - 1,833,818
4,355,561 $ 213,818 58,706 - $ 4,628,275
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Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirament Community, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
March 31, 2024 and 2023

ASSETS (Unaudited) (Unaudited)
2024 2023
Cuirent Assets:
Cash and cash equivaients $ 10,333,793 $ 4,663,529
Investments 27,706,493 18,709,846
Accounts recelvable, net 959,674 824,232
ERC grant receivable - 4,062,925
Prepald expenses 568,654 438,002
Total Current Assets 39,568,814 28,778,534

Non-current assets:
Assels limited as to use:

Board designated for:
Assistance endowment 5,593,758 6,081,469
Capital projects 2,520,013 2,520,013
Slrategic fund - 1,058,698
Donor restricied for:
Resident assistance 307,847 666,316
Asgistance endowment 13,198,801 12,037,678
Other specific purposes 042,770 713,762
State operating resetve requirement 8,727,250 7,982,500
Restricted deposits - 8,845,450
Total assets limited as to use 32,288,43¢% ap 867,776
Beneficial Interest in perpetual trusts _ 1,304,803 1,219,600
Other long-term asseis 324,612 223,003
Interast rate swap asset 5,254,014 3,505,310
Property and equipment, net 127,383,457 130,804,638
Total non-current assets 166,655,125 175,720,217
TOTAL ASSETS $ 206,123,938 5 204 498,751
LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
Current Habilitles:
Aceounts payable $ 1,427,164 $ 8,813,218
Accrued expenses 1,413,664 1,333,450
Currant maturities of long-term debt 2,459,000 2,146,000
Estimated refundable entrance fees 1,156,353 464,254
Total current liabillles 6,456,181 12,756,022
Long-tarm liabilitles;
Refundable deposits 35,000 36,020
Lease lability - long-term portion 70,711 -
Deposits ~ unoccupied units - 8,845,450
Deferred revenus from entrance feas 58,930,956 36,799,774
Long-term debt, less current maturities 64,828,400 79,350,814
Total long temm labllitles 123,866,067 125,041,958
Total Liabilities 130,322,248 137,798,880
Net Assets
Without donor restrictions 60,049,667 82,080,714
With donor restrictions 15,752,024 14,639 157
Total Net Assets ' 75,801,691 - 66,699,871

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS $ 206,123,939 $ 204,498,751




Arbor Acres Unlted Methodist Retiremant Community, inc.
Consolldated Statements of Operations and Changes In Net Assets
For The Three Months Ended March 31, 2024 and 2023

Revenue, gaing and other support
Contributions
Resigent foes
Continuing care services without lodging
Entrance fees earned
Home care fees
Investment income
Othier revenue
Net assets released from restrictions

Total revenue, gains and other support

Expenses
Medical and personal care
Food service
Faclity sarvices
Utilities
Resldent services
Administration
Human resources
Marketing & development
Continuing care services without lodging
Home care services
Depraciation
Interest axpense

Total expenses

Operating incoma ({loss)

Non-operating revenue (expenses):
Gain (loss) on disposal of property

Net realized galn {loss) on investmants
Unrealized gain (loss) from interest rate swap
Galn {loss) oh captive insurance investment

Net unreallzed gain {loss) on invesiments
Excess {deficit) of revenues over expenses

Other changes in net assets:
Net assets released from restrictions -~ capital

Change in net assets

Nat aissets, beglnning

Net assets, ending

2024 (Unaudited)
Without Donor With Donor 2023
Restrictions Restrictions Total (Unaudited)
$ §3,163 § 341,762 5 394,028 $ 210,010
9,320,471 - 9,328,471 7,797,672
43,381 - 43,381 52,880
1,948,641 - 1,948,641 1,688,867
631,748 . 631,748 547,193
239,642 35,003 278,648 257,628
38,083 - 38,083 28,380
412,598 {412,698) . -
12,696,727 (31,833) 12,684,894 10,462,549
2,649,260 . 2,649,260 2,486,693
1,692,073 - 1,652,073 1,639,793
1,550,892 - 1,560,892 1,853,400
402,066 - 402,086 351,186
398,001 - 398,001 353,818
1,083,967 - 1,083,967 854,275
200,067 - 200,067 216,842
270,124 . 270,124 289,087
516,634 - 516,624 469,061
2,305,861 - 2,305,861 1,955,181
557,204 - 657,204 313,023
11,626,049 - 11,626,049 10,381,249
1,070,678 (31,833) 1,038,845 111,300
(213,292) . (213,202) (78)
(57,578) 38,934 {18,844) 566,500
892,933 - 592,933 (1,269,772)
(95,640) . (95,640) -
1,894,290 475,296 2,368,586 885,481
3,491,391 482,397 3,973,788 283,442
3,491,391 482,397 3,073,768 263,442
56,558,276 15,269,627 71,827,903 68,416,429
$ 80,049,667 $ 16,752,024 5 75,801,641 $ 66,899,871




Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For The Thrae Months Ended March 31, 2024 and 2023

{Unaudited) (Linaudited)
2024 2023
Cash flows from operating activities
Change in net assets $ 3,973,788 % 283,442
Adjustments to reconcile change in nst
assets to net cash provided by operating activities
Depreciation 2,305,861 1,855,181
Loss cn disposal of assets 213,292 76
Realizad & unrealized (gain) loss on investments {2,350,942) {1,441,980)
Contributions restricted for long-term investment {1,113} {7,155)
Loes on captive insurance Investment 95,640 -
Entrance fees received 1,598,400 1,445,981
Amortization of enfrance fees {1,948,641) {1,598,887)
Amortization of deferred cosls 35,433 35433
Unrealized (gain) losg oh interest rate swap {892,033) 1,269,772
Change in operating assets and liabilities
Accounts receivable (25,649) (198,244)
Prepaid expenses and deposits {125,152) (38,018)
Accounis payable (68,444) 231,906
Accrued expenses {324,123) (379,012}
Net cash provided by operating activities 2,483,417 1,559,566
Cash flows from investing activities
Acqguisition of property and equipment (1,883,463) (8,705,084)
(Increase) decrease in assets limited as to use (700,300} (492,322}
Purchase of investments, net {3,545,569) 319,536
Net cash used in Investing activities {6,129,332) (9,878,770)
Cash flows from financing activities
Borrowings on long-term debt - 6,256,740
Payments for long-term debt (540,818) (524,002)
Entrance fee refunds (240,285) {17,770)
Gontributions restrictad for long-term Investment 1,113 7,166
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activitles (780,790) 5,652,123
Increase (decreass) in cash and cash equivalents (4,428,705) (2,867,142)
Beginning balance, cash and cash equivalents 14,760,498 7,330,671
Ending balance, cash and cash equlvalents 10,333,793 $ 4,663,529
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FORV/S

191 Peachtree Street, NE, Suite 2700 / Atlanta, GA 30303
P 404.575.8900 / F 404.575.8870
forvis.com

Accountants’ Compilation Report

Board of Directors
Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. and Affiliates
Winston-Salem, North Carolina

Management of Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. and Affiliates
(collectively, the “Company™) is responsible for the accompanying financial forecast of the
Company, which comprises the consolidated balance sheets as of and for each of the five years
ending December 31, 2028 and the related forecasted consolidated statements of operations,
changes in net assets, and statement of cash flows for each of the years then ending and the related
summaries of significant assumptions and rationale in accordance with guidelines for the
presentation of a financial forecast established by the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“AICPA™).

The accompanying forecast and this report were prepared to comply with the requirements of
North Carolina General Statutes, Chapter 58, Article 64 Continuing Care Retirement Communities
and Title 11 of the North Carolina Administrative Code. Accordingly, this report should not be
used for any other purpose.

We have performed a compilation engagement in accordance with Statements on Standards for
Accounting and Review Services Committee of the AICPA. We did not examine or review the
financial forecast nor were we required to perform any procedures to verify the accuracy or
completeness of the information provided by Management of the Company. Accordingly, we do
not express an opinion, a conclusion, or provide any form of assurance on this financial forecast.

The forecasted results may not be achieved, as there will usually be differences between the
prospective and actual results because events and circumstances frequently do not occur as
expected, and those differences may be material. We have no responsibility to update this report
for events and circumstances occurring after the date of this report.

FORVIS,LLP

Atlanta, Georgia
May 13, 2024

=l QPRAXITY
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Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc.
and Affiliates

Forecasted Consolidated Statements of Operations
For Each of the Five Years Ending December 31,

(In Thousands)
2024 2025 2026 2027 2028
Revenues:
Independent living resident fees $ 15662 § 15918 § 16267 $ 16,845 § 17,519
Healkheare resident fees 23457 24328 25,301 26,313 27,366
Advantage program fees 194 225 260 297 337
Home care revenues 2444 2,542 2,643 2,749 2,859
Entrance fees earned 7,354 7354 7,354 7354 7354
Financial assistance (2,222) (2,117} (2,185) (2,258) (2,333
Contributions ‘ 412 412 412 412 412
Investment income 1,050 2,039 2272 2427 2,600
Other : 119 123 127 132 138
Net assets released from restriction - operating 2,021 1,550 1,550 1,550 1,550
Total revenues, gains, and other support 50491 52,374 54,001 55,821 57.802
Expenses:
Medical and personal care 11,293 11,798 12,270 12,761 13,271
Food service 6,730 6,980 7234 7517 7817
Housekeeping 2,664 2,768 2874 2,588 3,107
Laundry 282 293 304 316 329
Maintenance 2,517 2,610 2,705 2,811 2,924
Properties development 1,000 1,039 1,080 1,124 1,165
Utilities 1,641 1,660 1,741 1,806 1,878
Resident services 1,597 1,678 1,742 1,812 1,384
Home care 2209 2211 2,259 2,361 2AR7
Administration 4,195 4,364 4,536 4720 4,506
Human resources PB6 974 1,013 1,053 1,095
Marketing and development 1,174 1,223 1,272 1,322 1,375
Lease expense 67 &7 22 - -
Depreciation B.924 9,197 9,379 9611 9,895
Interest 2,305 2244 2,144 2041 1,937
Total expenses 47,534 49,136 50,618 52273 34,077
Operating income 2,957 3238 3383 3,548 3,725
Loss on disposal of property (400) {40C) (400) (400) (400)
Change in nct assefs without donor restrictions $ 2557 § 2838 § 20983 % 3,148 % 3325

See accompanying Accountants’ Compilation Report and Summary‘ of

Significant Forecast Assumptions and Rationale
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Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc,

Forecasted Consolidated Statements of Changes in Net Assets

and Affiliates

For Each of the Five Years Ending December 31,

(In Thousands)
2024 2025 2026 2027 2028
Net assets without donor restrictions:
Operating income $ 2957 § 3238 & 3383 % 3548 % 3,725
Loss on disposal of property (400} (400) (400) (400) {400)
Change in net assets without donor restrictions 2,557 2,838 2,983 3,148 3,325
Net assets with donor restrictions:
Contributions - financial assistance 785 785 785 785 785
Contributions - endowment 200 200 200 200 200
Net assets released from restriction - operating (2,021} {1,550) (1,550) (1,550) {1,550)
Change in net assets with donor restrictions (1,036) {565) (565) (565) {565)
Change in net assets 1,521 2273 2418 2,583 2,760
Net assels, beginning of vear 71,828 73349 75,622 78,040 80,623
Net assets, end of year 3 73,349 § 75622 § 78040 & 80,623 § 83,383

See accompanying Accountants’ Compilation Report and Summary of

Significant Forecast Assumptions and Rationale
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Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc.

and Affiliates

Forecasted Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For Each of the Five Years Ending December 31,

(In Thousands)
2024 2025 2026 2027 2028
Cash flows from operating activities:
Change in net assets 3 1,521 8 2213 3 2418 8 2583 % 2,760
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets
to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation 8,924 9,197 9,379 9611 9,895
Loss cn disposal of property 400 400 400 400 400
Entrance fees and deposits received 9,503 10,117 10,614 11,072 11,636
Aumortization of entrance fees (7.354) (7,354) (7,354) (7.354) (7.354)
Amortization of deferred costs 142 142 142 142 142
Amortization of right-of-use assets - operating 60 64 22 - -
Changes in current assets & labilities:
Accourts receivable 128 29 (28) (33) 37
Prepaid expenses & deposits (82) 20 21} (22) 24
Accounts payable 38 59 59 65 69
Accrued expenses 1 60 61 66 7
Accrued interest i2 17 16 16 16
Lease liabilities - operating (60) (64) (22) - -
Net cash provided by operating activities 13,233 14,862 13,686 16,546 17,574
Cash flows from investing activities:
Ongoing capital additions (5,565} (5,844) (6,137 (6,443) (6,766)
Change in investments (9.902} (3,856} (4,634) (5,172) (5,775)
Change in assets limited as to use (1,153) (709 (520) (561) (571
Net cash used i investing activities {16621) (10409} (11,29 (12,176) (13,112}
Cash flows from financing activities:
Payment on long-term debt - Series 2010 Bonds {720) (775) {780) (840) (8403
Payment on long-term debt - Serfes 2016 Bonds {937 (970) {996) (1,020} (1,044}
Payment on long-term debt - Series 2021A Bonds (802) (1426) {1,462) (1,492) (1,527
Refunds of entrance fees {950) 977 {850) (684} (695)
Net cash provided used in financing activities (3,415) (4,148) {4,088) (4,036} (4,106}
Change in cash and cash equivalents (6,803) . 305 307 334 356
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 14,760 7957 8,262 8,569 8,903
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 7957 % 8262 % 8569 § 8903 § 9259

See accompanying Accountants’ Compilation Report and Summary of
Significant Forecast Assumptions and Rationale
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Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc.

and Affiliates
Forecasted Consolidated Balance Sheets
At December 31,
(In Thousands)
2024 2025 2026 2027 2028
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 7957 § 8262 § 8566 3 8903 $ 9259
Investments 31,713 35,569 40203 45375 51,150
Accounts receivable 794 823 851 884 921
Prepaid expenses 537 557 578 600 624
Total current assets 41,001 45211 50,201 55,762 61,954
Non-current assets:
Assets limited as to use;
Board designated for:
Assistance endowment 6,376 0,376 6,376 6,376 6,376
Capital projects 2,520 2,520 2,520 2,520 2,520
Donor restricted for:
Resident assistance 518 518 518 518 518
Assistance endowment 12,965 13,165 13,365 13,565 13,765
Other specific purposes 682 682 682 682 682
{perating reserve requirement 0,680 10,189 10,506 10,870 11,241
Assets limited as to use 32,741 33450 33970 34,531 35,102
Donated property held for resale 289 289 286 289 289
Property and equipment, net 124,261 120,508 116,866 113,298 105,769
Interest rate swap asset 4,361 4,361 4361 4361 4361
Operating lease right-of-use asset 86 2 - - -
Beneficial interest in perpeiual lrusts 1,305 1,305 1,305 1,305 1,305
Total non-current assets 163,043 159935 156,751 153,784 150,826
Total assets $ 204044 % 205,146 $ 206952 § 200546 $  2§2780

See accompanying Accountants’ Compilation Report and Summary of

Significant Forecast Assumptions and Rationale
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Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc.

and Affiliates
Forecasted Consolidated Balance Sheets (continued)
At December 31,
(In Thousands)
2024 2025 2026 2027 2028

Liabilities and Net Assets
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable 1,53 § 1,593 § 1652 § 1,717 § 1,786

Accrued expenses 1,579 1,639 1,700 1,766 1,837

Accrued interest 112 129 145 161 177

Estimated refundable entrance fees 977 850 684 695 713

Current maturities of bonds payable - Series 2010 Bonds 775 780 840 840 900

Current maturities of bonds payable - Series 2016 Bonds 970 996 1,020 1,044 1,068

Current maturities of bonds payable - Series 2021A Bonds 1.426 1462 1492 1,527 1,562

Current maturities of operating lease libilities &4 2 - - -
Total current liabilities 7437 7471 7533 1,750 8043
Long-term debt:

Bonds pavable, less current maturities - Series 2010 Bonds 20,505 16,725 18,885 18,045 17,145

Bonds payable, less current maturities -~ Series 2016 Bongs 5,608 4,612 3,592 2,548 1,480

Bonds payable, less current maturities - Series 2021A Bonds 36,966 35,504 34,012 32485 30,923

Debi issuance costs (773) (631) (489) 347y (203)
Total long-term labilities, net 62,306 56210 56,000 52,131 49343
Lease liabilities - operating, net of current porfion 2 - -
Refundable deposits 35 35 35 35 35
Refindable enirance fees 30,815 29,665 29281 28,586 27873
Deferred revenue from entrance fees 30,080 32,843 36,103 39821 44,103
Total liabilities 130,665 126,524 128,952 128,623 129,397
Net assets:

Without donor restrictions 59,115 61,553 64,936 68,084 71,409

With donor restrictions 14,234 13,669 13,104 12,539 11,974

Total net assets 73,349 75,622 78,040 80,623 83,383

Total liabilities and net assets 204,044 % 205146 § 206992 % 206546 § 212,780

See accompanying Accountants’ Compilation Report and Summary of

Significant Forecast Assumptions and Rationale
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Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. and Affiliates

Summary of Significant Forecast Assumptions and Rationale

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying financial forecast presents, to the best of the knowledge and belief of management
(“Management™) of Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. (the “Corporation™),
and Affiliates (defined hereinafter), the expected financial position, results of operations, and cash
flows of the Corporation and Affiliates (collectively the “Company™) as of and for each of the five
years ending December 31, 2028. Accordingly, the financial forecast reflects Management’s judgment
as of May 13, 2024, the date of this forecast, based on present circumstances and the expected course
of action during the forecast period.

The accompanying forecast and this report were prepared to comply with the requirements of North
Carolina General Statutes, Chapter 58, Article 64 and Title 11 of the North Carolina Administrative
Code. Accordingly, this report should not be used for any other purpose. The assumptions disclosed
herein are those that Management believes are significant to the prospective financial statements.
There will usually be differences between the prospective and actual results because events and
circumstances frequently do not occur as expected, and those differences may be material.

The prospective financial statements included in the forecast have been prepared in accordance with
the accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Significant accounting
policies are described in the appropriate assumptions and notes to the prospective financial statements.
The assumptions described are not all-inclusive.

Background

The Corporation, incorporated in 1975, is a non-profit corporation under Internal Revenue Code
{(“IRC”) Section 501(c)(3) and is, therefore, exempt from federal and state income taxes. The
Corporation owns and operates a continuing care retirement community (“CCRC”) known as Arbor
Acres (the “Community”) in Winston-Salem, North Carolina,

The Corporation was organized under the sponsorship of the Western North Carolina Annual
Conference of the United Methodist Church (the “Conference”). The Conference is not responsible
for the financial and contract obligations of the Corporation. The Community operates under the
supervision of a volunteer board of directors (the “Board™), whose members are elected by the Board,
The Board is responsible for the establishment of operational policy and consists of not less than 15
or more than 25 members. Board members are elected for a three-year term and are eligible for one
additional successive three-year term, After serving six successive years, a Board member must be off
the Board for one year before becoming eligible again.

Arbor Acres Home Care, LLC (“Home Care™) was formed in 2018 to provide skilled nursing, sitter,
and home care aide services to residents of the Community in the comfort of the residents’ homes (the
“Home Care Program”). Arbor Acres Strategic Development, LLC (“Strategic Development™) was
formed and funded in June 2023 for the purpose of investigating potential growth opportunttics for
the Corporation. As of December 31, 2023, Strategic Development held approximately $4,148,000,
For purposes of the forecast, no changes to Strategic Development’s financial position during the
forecast period are assumed. The Corporation is the parent corporation and sole member of both Home

See accompanying Accountants’ Compilation Report
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Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Ine, Summary of Significant Forecast Assumptions
and Affiliates and Rationale, Continued

Care and Strategic Development. Home Care and Strategic Development are referred herein as the
“Affiliates”.

The Community is located on approximately 82 acres in Winston-Salem, Forsyth County, North
Carolina at 1240 Arbor Road and provides a continuum of residential accommodations which
currently include 177 independent living apartments (the “Independent Living Apartments™), 132
independent living homes (the “Independent Living Homes™), 65 assisted living units (the “Assisted
Living Units™), 30 assisted living memory care units (the “Memory Care Units™), and 83 skilled
nursing beds (the “Nursing Beds”).

The Independent Living Apartments are located across six mid-rise residential buildings, which also
include the following support facilities: business offices, fellowship hall, recreational areas, dining
room, bistro, beauty shop, several parlors, kitchen, housekeeping, laundry, and maintenance service
areas.

The Independent Living Apartments and the Independent Living Homes are collectively referred to as
the “Independent Living Units.”

In 2018, the Corporation added a membership program known as the “Advantage Program™ offered
to prospective residents living in the surrounding area. Advantage Program members (“Advantage

Program Members™) have access to Community amenities and healthcare services while remaining in
their current homes.

See accompanying Accountants’ Compilation Report
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Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Ine. Summary of Significant Forecast Assumptions
and Affiliates and Rationale, Continued

The following table summarizes the type, number, approximate square footage, monthly fees
(“Monthly Fees™), and entrance fees (“Entrance Fees™) for the Independent Living Units.

Table 1
Independent Living Unit Configuration
Type of Unit Number of Units Square Footage Entrance Fees'?  Monthly Fees!)
Studios .
Studio 12 315 $ 49,000 $ 2,144
Studio w/ Study 6 315 49,000 2,144
. Totaliweighted averages - - - .18 315 o 8 49000 8. 2,144
Studio Suites
Connecting Room Suite 38 630 § 127,000 $ 3,128
1 BR — Corpening Apt. 20 630 134,000 3,219
. Total/weighted averages . ...~~~ -~ - "8 ~ . 630 7 %.129414 . . § -3,159 "
Apartments
1 BR - 1 Bath— Type A 4 991 $ 214,000 $ 3,240
1 BR— 1.5 Bath— Type B 6 1,160 251,000 3,586
2 BR - 2 Bath — Type C-1 6 1,217 266,000 3,809
2 BR -2 Bath — Type C-2 6 1,397 305,000 4,040
2 BR — 2 Bath — Type C-3 6 1,500 327,000 4,272
2 BR -- 2 Bath — Type D-1 6 1,592 350,000 4,616
2 BR — 2 Bath — Type D-2 8 1,602 353,000 4,668
2 BR — 2 Bath — Type D-3 3 1,728 381,000 4,967
Total/weighted averages ~ . 45 1,404 .. $ 307,044 8 4,159
Aldersgate Square Independent Living Units
2 BR - Duo 2 1,546 $ 421,000 $ 4593
2 BR — Standard 14 1,615 444000 4,799
2BR —Deluxe 14 1,767 512,500 5,202
2BR - Alcove 12 1,800 520,500 5,249
2 BR — Deluxe Den _ 14 2,005 627.000 5,848
- Total/weighted averages L 56 1,788 - - . $..522446. . - 8§ 5251
Homes
I BR -1 Bath 4 1,150 $ 280,852 3 3,017
2 BR -2 Bath 21 1,300 317,000 3,707
2 BR -2 Bath 29 1,500 365,500 3,968
2 BR -2 Bath 11 1,700 414,500 4,445
2 BR - 2 Bath 17 1,900 463,500 4,962
2 BR -2 Bath 9 2,100 526,500 5,198
2 BR — 2 Bath 18 2,300 591,272 5,051
Total/weighted averages ~ ~ ~ =~ -~ © " 109 -~ 1,743 - § 423856 - § 4,465
Courtyard Homes
1 BR -1 Bath 6 1,060 $ 259,000 $ 3,441
2 BR — 2 Bath 6 1,187 289,000 3.654
__Totaliweighted averages - - S0 12 1,124 . $ 274000 . . § 3,548
Patio Homes
2 BR —2 Bath 11 1,326 § 324,000 $ 3,606
__Total/weighted averages . 11 1326 0 0§ 324000 $ 3.606
" Total ILUs/weighted averages ' - 309 - 13600 0 0 8 338234 - . § 4,117
Second person fees $10,000 $1,161

Source: Management
(I  The Entrance Fee and Monthly Fee pricing is effective as of January 1, 2024,
(2)  The Corporation offers a declining refundable Entrance Fee plan (the “Traditional Amortizing Plan™).

See accompanying Accountants’ Compilation Report
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Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Ine. Summary of Significant Forecast Assumptions
and Affiliates and Rationale, Continued

The Assisted Living Units are located in a mid-rise residential building (the “Assisted Living
Building™). The Memory Care Units and Nursing Beds are located in Fitzgerald Health Center
(“Fitzgerald”). Support facilities in Fitzgerald include offices, family rooms, dining rooms, activity
areas, physical therapy room, special bathing unit, and beauty shop. The Assisted Living Units,
Memory Care Units, and Nursing Beds are collectively referred to as the “Healthcare Units”.

The Assisted Living Units and Memory Care Units are classified as “Adult Care Homes,” which are
licensed and regulated by the North Carolina Department of Health and Human Services (“DHHS™).
The Community is licensed for 106 Adult Care Home beds. Including the Assisted Living Units and
Memory Care Units, the Corporation is currently operating 98 licensed Adult Care Home beds.

The following table summarizes the type, number, approximate square footage, Monthly Fees, and
daily fees (“Daily Fees™) of the Healthcare Units, effective January 1, 2024,

Table 2
Healthcare Unit Configuration

Number Numberof Square Monthly/ Daily

Type of Unit of Units Beds)® Footage Fees®
Assisted Living Units
Studio 22 22 453 $ 7,513
1 BR® 42 44 341 8,730
2BR 1 2 904 10,342
- Assisted Living Units — Total/weighted averages 65 . 68 . 517  § 8343
Memory Care Units
Level 1ll Memory Care 30 30 450 § 11,102
LTV e gy w5 s
Nursing Beds
Private Room 83 83 314 8427/ day
i''I'-I"ealt'lg'(:,a_1‘(_:'Uni'ts.—Tc':ta_b’w_eig'l:t'e(:'l'average's REE I SRS T3 ENEERNEUE | 3 I

Source: Management

(1) The Comnunity is licensed by DHHS for 106 Adult Care Home beds.

(2) The Community is licensed by DHHS for 83 nursing beds. The Corporation does not participate in Medicaid and is licensed
for 6 Medicare skilled nursing beds. The Corporation is curtently operating three Nursing Beds for Medicare temporary stays
and three Nursing Beds for private pay temporary stays.

(3)  There is a $5,000 non-refundable Entrance Fec for direct admission into the Assisted Living Units and a $3,500 non-refundable
Entrance Fee for direct admission into the Memory Care Units and Nursing Beds.

(4) Three Assisted Living Units allow for double occupancy,

See accompanying Accountants’ Compilation Report
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Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. Summary of Significant Forecast Assumptions
and Affiliates and Rattonale, Continued

Residency Agreement

Services and Amenities

The residency agreement (“Residency Agreement”) is a contract under which the Corporation is
obligated, upon payment by the resident (the “Resident” or “Residents™) of an Entrance Fee and ongoing
Monthly Fees, to provide certain services to the Resident. While the Resident occupies an Independent
Living Unit, services provided include:

Dining services with meals or meal allowance;

Weekly housekeeping service and annual deep cleaning;

Laundering of bed and bath linens furnished by the Community;

Heat, air conditioning, electricity, gas, water, and sewer; telephone jack, but no personal
telephone handset or telephone service;

Basic cable television and internet service;

Emergency call system, nursing assessments, and assistance in emergenmes
Routine consultation regarding health concerns;

Recreational, educational, cultural, wellness, and spiritual life programs;
Routine transportation to non-emergency medical appointments;

In-patient care in Fitzgerald with limited days at no additional charge;
Maintenance of the Community’s buildings and common grounds; and,

e 24-7 security personnel on the grounds of the Community,

Admittance Standards

To be accepted for residency to a selected Independent Living Unit, the Resident will execute a
Residency Agreement. The terms of the Residency Agreement require the Corporation accept persons
who exhibit the ability to live independently and meet the financial obligation as a Resident. Upon
execution of the Residency Agreement, the Resident has the following payment options: (i) pay the
Entrance Fee in full, or (ii) pay twenty-five percent of the total Entrance Fee, with the balance to be paid
no later than five days prior to the date of occupancy.

Additional Services or Care
Pursuant to the Residency Agreement, the Resident may reside in the Independent Living Unit for as
long as he or she is capable of meeting the requirements of occupancy. If the Resident is no longer able

to meet the requirements of residing in the Independent Living Units, the Resident may be transferred
.temporarily or permanently to a Healthcare Unit.

See accompanying Accountants’ Compilation Report
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Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Ine, Summary of Significant Forecast Assumptions
and Affiliates and Rationale, Continued

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Basis of Accounting — The Company maintains its accounting and financial records according to
the accrual basis of accounting. ‘

(b) Principles of Consolidation — The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the
Company consisting of the Corporation, Home Care, and Strategic Development. All material
intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

(cy Cash and Cash Equivalents — Cash and cash equivalents, excluding those classified as investments
and assets whose use is limited, include cash in banks, cash on hand and investments in highly
liquid debt instruments with an original maturity of three months or less when purchased. The
Company maintains its cash in bank accounts which, at times, may exceed federally depository
insurance limits. Management believes the credit risk associated with these deposits is minimal.

(d) Investments — Investments in mutual funds, exchange traded funds, and fixed income securities
are measured at fair value based on quoted market prices. Investment in certain alternative
investments is recorded at net asset value. Investment income (including realized gains and losses
on investments, interest, and dividends) is included in operating income unless restricted by donor
or law. Management assumes no realized or unrealized gains and losses in the forecast period.

(e) Assets Limited as to Use — Assets limited as to use primarily include assets designated by the
Board, over which the Board retains control and may, at its discretion, subsequently use for other
purposes, or restricted by donors or trustee agreements for future capital improvements, operating
reserves, and resident assistance.

North Carolina General Statute Section 58-64-33 requires CCRCs to maintain an operating reserve
equal to 50 percent of total operating expenses (adjusted for non-cash items) in a given year, or 25
percent of such total operating expenses (adjusted for non-cash items) if independent living and
assisted living occupancy exceeds 90 percent.

Assistance endowment funds include donor-restricted funds and amounts designated by the Board,
The Corporation uses certain board designated net assets and the earnings from certain
permanently restricted net assets for assistance to Residents.

(f) Property and Equipment — Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation,
Donated property is recorded at its estimated fair value at the time of receipt. Depreciation is
computed using the straight-line method based on the following estimated useful lives;

Land improvement 20 years
Buildings 10 to 40 years
Furniture and equipment 3 to 10 years

See accompanying Accountants’ Compilation Report
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Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. Summary of Significant Forecast Assumptions
and Affiliates and Rationale, Continued

(g) Lease Accounting — On January 1, 2023, the Corporation adopted the requirements of Accounting

Standards Update (*ASU”} No. 2016-02, Lease Accounting Standard in February 2016. ASU
2016-02 requires all leases with lease terms over twelve months to be capitalized as a right-of-use
asset and lease liability on the balance sheet at the date of lease commencement,. I.eases will be
classified as either finance or operating. For purposes of the forecast, lease expense is recognized
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

(h) Debt Issuance Costs — Debt issuance, cosis include underwriter fees, feasibility studies,

(@

@

modification fees, and other professional fees. Debt issuance costs have been recorded as a
deduction against the related debt and are being amortized using the straight-line method over the
lives of the various debt instruments, which approximate amortization computed using the
effective interest method.

Refundable Deposits — Refundable deposits include advance payments to be made at the time an
individual is accepted for residency into the Independent Living Units, as well as the portion of
the payment of parking fees that will be refunded to the resident when parking is no longer
required,

Obligation to Provide Future Services — As of December 31, 2023, the calculation of the
Corporation’s obligation to provide future services resulted in the net present value of future cash
inflows exceeding the net present value of future expenditures, less the balance of unamortized
deferred revenue, plus depreciation of facilities to be charged related to resident contracts.
Therefore, no liability was reflected in the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2023.
For purposes of the forecast, no provision for future service obligations is assumed to be required
during the forecast period.

(k) Interest Rate Swap — The Corporation ufilizes interest rate swaps to manage the variability in

M

interest rates on its bonds. The Corporation accounts for its interest rate swaps under accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States, which requires companies to recognize all
derivative instruments as either assets or liabilities in the balance sheet at fair value. The
accounting for changes in the fair value (i.e., gains or losses) of a derivative instrument depends
on whether it has been designated and qualifies as part of a hedging relationship and, further, on
the type of hedging relationship. For those derivative instruments that are designated and qualify
as hedging instruments, a company must designate the hedging instrument, based upon the
exposure being hedged, as a fair value hedge, cash flow hedge, or a hedge of the foreign currency
exposure of a net investment in a foreign operation. For derivative instruments not designated as
hedging instruments, the changes in fair value are recognized in excess revenue over expenses.
The Corporation’s interest rate swaps are not designated as hedging instruments and the changes
in fair value are included in changes in net assets without donor restrictions. For purposes of the
forecast, no changes in the fair value of interest rate swaps are assumed during the forecast period.

Income Taxes — The Corporation has been recognized by the Internal Revenue Service as a non-
profit corporation as described in Section 501(c)(3) of the IRC and is exempt from federal income
taxes pursuant to Section 501(a). The Affiliates are limited liability companies that have not
elected to be taxed as a corporation under IRC regulations. The Affiliates are wholly owned by the
Corporation. As such, the Affiliates are considered disregarded entities under current IRC
regulations.

See accompanying Accountants’ Compilation Report
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Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc, Summary of Significant Forecast Assumptions
and Affiliates and Rationale, Continued

(m) Deferred Revenue from Entrance Fees — The non-refundable portion of Entrance Fees received are
recorded as deferred revenue and are recognized as operating income using the straight-line
method over the estimated remaining life expectancy of the Residents in the Independent Living
Units, adjusted annually as determined by actuarial life expectancy tables,

(n) Refundable Entrance Fees — Refundable entrance fees represent the total contractual refund
obligations under existing contracts (that is if all Residents with a refundable balance were to have
withdrawn).

(0) Resident Fees — Resident fees represent the estimated net realizable amounts from patients, third-
party payors, and others for services rendered. Resident fees are recorded as revenue when earned.

(p) Financial Assistance — The Corporation currently maintains a financial assistance program and
policy for Residents holding continuing care residency agreements in the event the resident(s)
should become unable to pay for services. The Corporation reserves the right to change the
program and policy and does not guarantee future financial assistance. The Corporation does not
expect to collect the normal charges for services provided for those Residents who meet the
financial assistance provisions so estimated charges for such assistance are not included in
revenue. The Corporation uses both donor-restricted and board-restricted funds to provide
financial assistance. The Corporation receives contributions in three primary ways: through annual
fundraising efforts, annual requests of outreach ministries, and estate donations.

(q) Use of Estimates — The preparation of the forecasted financial statements in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires Management
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the forecasted consolidated
financial statements. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

(r} Net Assets — The Corporation classifies its net assets as net assets with or without donor
restrictions:

o Net assets without donor restrictions — Resources of the Corporation that are not restricted
by donors or grantors as to use or purpose. These resources include amounts generated from
operations, undesignated gifts, and the investment in property and equipment.

¢ Net assets with donor restrictions — Resources that are subject to donor-imposed restrictions.
Some donor-imposed restrictions are temporary in nature, such as those satisfied by the
passage of time or actions of the Corporation. Other donor-imposed restrictions stipulate
that donated assets be maintained in perpetuity but may permit the Corporation to use or
expend part or all of the income derived from the donated assets.

See accompanying Accountants’ Compilation Report
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Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. Summary of Significant Forecast Assumptions
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Summary of Revenue and Entrance Fee Assumptions
Independent Living Units

Resident service revenue for Residents living in the Independent Living Units is based upon the
assumed occupancy and the Monthly Fees of the respective units. The Independent Living Units®
Monthly Fees are assumed to increase 4.0 percent beginning January 1, 2025 and annually thereafter.

As part of strategic initiatives and recent expansion efforts, Management plans to eventually vacate
the McPherson building. For purposes of the forecast, Management anticipates all 21 Independent
Living Units in the McPherson building to be vacated over a 33-month period beginning January 2024,
for an average of 0.6 units per month, with the McPherson building being fully vacated by October
2026.

The Independent Living Units are assumed to reach 94.0 percent occupancy by October 2026 and are
anticipated to maintain that level of occupancy throughout the remaining forecast period.

The following table summarizes the assumed utilization of the Independent Living Units,

Table 3
Utilization of the Independent Living Units
Fiscal Years Ending
December 31, Average Occupied Average Available Percent Occupied
Forecasted:
2024 286.9 304.1 94.3%
2025 279.6 296.8 94.2%
2026 2725 289.7 94.1%
2027 270.8 288.0 94.0%
2028 270.8 288.0 94.0%

Source: Management
(1}  Changes in average available Independent Living Units reflect an assumed reduction of all the 21 Independent Living Units
in the McPherson building over a 33-month period, beginning Junuary 2024.

Double occupancy percentages in the Independent Living Units are assumed to be 27.9 percent of the
occupied units throughout the forecast petiod.

See accompanying Accountants’ Compilation Report
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Assumed Independent Living Turnover

The assumed turnover for the Independent Living Units due to death, withdrawal, or transfer to
assisted living, memory care, or nursing accommodations, and double occupancy of the Independent
Living Units has been based, in part, on historical experience of the Corporation,

Refunds of Entrance Fees are generated upon termination of the Residency Agreement and withdrawal
from the Community, subject to the re-occupancy of the vacated Independent Living Units. Entrance
Fees may be generated from Independent Living Unit turning over without a corresponding refund
because the Resident has not withdrawn from the Community, but has permanently transferred to
assisted living, memory care, or nursing accommodations. The assumed number of refunds on the
Independent Living Units is provided by Management.

The following table presents the assumed attrition Entrance Fees received and the total Entrance Fee
refunds,

Table 4
Attrition Entrance Fee Receipts and Total Entrance Fee Refunds
(In Thousands)

Fiscal Years Ending December 31, 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028
Number of Entrance Fees Received

Turnovers 31.0 31.0 32.0 320 320
Entrance Fees Received

Independent Living Units 9,147 9,873 10,331 10,790 11,268

Assisted Living Units & Nursing Beds‘! 147 147 147 147 147

Advantage Program® 209 97 136 135 221
Entrance Fees Refunded

Independent Living Units®™ (915) 931) (797) (625) (629)

Advantage Program™ €Y} (46) (53) (59) (66)
Entrance Fees Received, Net of Refunds $8,547 $9,140 $9.764 510,388 $10,941

Source: Management

(1) There is a $5,000 non-rsfundable Entrance Fee for direct admission into the Assisted Living Units and a $3,500 non-refundable
Entrance Fee for direct admission inte the Memory Care Units and Nursing Beds.

(2y  There is a $12,500 Entrance Fee for Advantage Program Members, which is refundable over 50 months minus a $1,000 nen-
refundable fee.

(3)  The Community offers a Traditional Amortizing 1'lan.

(4)  FEntrance Fees already paid for Advantage Program are transferrable to the Entrance Fee required to move into a residential unit at
the Commmunity.

Entrance Fees for the Independent Living Units are assumed to increase 3.0 percent beginning January
1, 2025 and annually thereafter.

See accompanying Accountants’ Compilation Report
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Assisted Living Units and Memory Care Units

The Community currently has accommodations, equipment, staffing, programs, services, and
supervision necessary for the Assisted Living Units and Memory Care Units, with these
accommodations available to Residents on a priority basis. However, the Corporation cannot
guarantee access to these areas.

The Monthly Fees are generated from assisted living and memory care services provided to Residents
transferring from the Independent Living Units or Assisted Living Units, as well as direct admissions
from the surrounding area to the Assisted Living Units or Memory Care Units. Residents permanently
transferring from the Independent Living Units to the Assisted Living Units or Memory Care Units
are assumed to pay the then-current Monthly Fee. Assisted Living Monthly Fees and Memory Care
Monthly Fees are assumed to increase 4.0 percent beginning January 1, 2025 and annually thereafter.

The Assisted Living Units and Memory Care Units are assumed to maintain a 95.1 and 93.3 percent
occupancy level throughout the forecast period, respectively.

The following table summarizes the assumed utitization of the Assisted Living Units and Memory
Care Units.

Table §
Utilization of the Assisted Living Units and Memory Care Units
Assisted Living Units Memory Care Units

Fiscal Years Ending  Average Average Percent Average Average Percent
December 31, Occupied  Available Occupied Occupied Available  Occupied
Forecasted:

2024 61.8 65.0 95.1% 28.0 30.0 93.3%

2025 61.8 65.0 05.1% 28.0 30.0 93.3%

2026 61.8 65.0 95.1% 28.0 30.0 93.3%

2027 61.8 65.0 95.1% 28.0 30.0 93.3%

2028 61.8 65.0 95.1% 28.0 30.0 93.3%

Source: Management

Double occupancy percentages in the Assisted Living Units are assumed to be 3.1 percent of the
occupied units throughout the forecast period.

See accompanying Accountants’ Compilation Report
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Nursing Beds

The Community currently has accommodations, equipment, staffing, programs, services, and
supervision necessary for the Nursing Beds, with these accommodations availablé to Residents on a
priority basis. However, the Corporation cannot guarantee access to these areas.

The Daily Fees are generated from services provided to Residents transferring from the Independent
Living Units, Assisted Living Units, Memory Care Units, or as direct admissions from the surrounding
area to the Nursing Beds. Residents permanently transferring from the Independent Living Units,
Assisted Living Units, or Memory Care Units would pay the then-current Daily Fee. Nursing Bed
Daily Fees are assumed to increase 4.0 percent beginning January 1, 2025 and annually thereafter.

The Nursing Beds are assumed to maintain a 90.4 percent occupancy level throughout the forecast
period. The following table summarizes the assumed utilization of the Nursing Beds.

Table 6
Utilization of the Nursing Beds

Fiscal Years Ending Private Temporary Temporary Beds Average Average Percent

December 31, Pay  Beds— Medicare  —Private Pay  QOccupied Available®® Occupied
Forecasted:
2024 71.0 2.0 2.0 75.0 83.0 90.4%
2025 71.0 2.0 2.0 75.0 83.0 90.4%
2026 7L.0 2.0 2.0 75.0 83.0 90.4%
2027 71.0 2.0 2.0 750 83.0 90.4%
2028 71.0 2.0 2.0 75.0 83.0 90.4%

Source: Management
(1)  The Community is licensed by IDHHS for 83 nursing beds, The Community does not participate in Medicaid and is Heensed
for 6 Medicare skifled nursing beds. The Community is currently operating three Nursing Beds for Medicare temporary stays
and three Nursing Beds for private pay temporary stays.

In addition, resident revenues for the Independent Living Units, Assisted Living Units, Memory Care
Units, and Nursing Beds also include revenues from additional resident meals, beer and wine sales,
barber and beauty services, and parking fees, which are assumed to increase 4.0 percent beginning
January 1, 2025 and annually thereafter.

See accompanying Accountants’ Compilation Report
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Advantage Program

Advantage Program revenue is based upon the assumed utifization and an assumed monthly fee of
$400 per individual Member, which is assumed to increase 4.0 percent annually throughout the
forecast period.

Table 7
Advantage Program Members
Fiscal Years Ending December 31, 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028
Average Number of Advantage Program Members 40.5 45,0 50.0 550 60.0

Source: Management
Home Care Program

Home Care Program revenue is based upon the assumed utilization and an assumed hourly fee of
$25.87 per hour for home care aide and sitter services. Hourly fees are assumed to increase 4.0 percent
annually throughout the forecast period.

Table 8
Home Care Program Utilization
Fiscal Years Ending December 31, 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028
Home Care Program Health Aide / Sitter Hours 84,300 84,300 84,300 84,300 84,300

Source: Management

Other Revenue

Other revenue consists of revenues from catering meals, guest apartment rentals, application fees, gift
shop sales, and other miscellaneous sources. Other revenue is assumed to increase 4.0 percent annually
throughout the forecast period.

Interest Income

The average annual rate of return on the Corporation’s unrestricted cash, investments, and assets
limited to use is assumed to be 3.0 percent.

Contributions

Contributions include endowment income unrestricted and donor-restricted gifts.

See accompanying Accountants’ Compilation Report
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Summary of Operating Expense Assumptions

Operating expenses are estimated by Management based on its historical experience and expectations
for the forecast period. Staff salaries and benefits are based on prevailing local salary and wage rates
and are assumed to increase 4.0 percent annually throughout the forecast period. The costs of employee
fringe benefits are assumed to approximate 27.6 percent of salaries and wages.

Other non-salary operating expenses are assumed to include ongoing marketing costs, raw food costs,
utilities, supplies, maintenance and security contracts, building and general liability insurance, legal
and accounting fees, and other miscellaneous expenses and are assumed to increase 4.0 percent
annually throughout the forecast period.

Assets Limited as to Use

Assets limited as to use include donor-restricted funds for residence assistance, assistance endowment,
and for other specific purposes.

Operating Reserve Requirement

North Carolina General Statute § 58-64-33 requires CCRCs to maintain an operating reserve (the
“Statutory Operating Reserve”) equal to 50 percent of the total operating costs in a given year, or 25
percent of such total operating costs if occupancy as of a certain date exceeds 90 percent of the
independent living unit capacity. This law provides security to Residents that the Community is able
to meet its contractual obligations to provide continuing care. Management’s forecast shows sufficient
cash and investment balances to comply with the Statutory Operating Reserve requirement throughout
the forecast period.

See accompanying Accountants’ Compilation Report
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Lease Expense (Operating Lease)

The Corporation leases copiers under operating leases. Terms of these leases vary and expire between
2025 and 2026, with monthly rental payments ranging from $1,865 per month to $3,709 per month.

As of December 31, 2023, the Corporation recognized approximately $146,000 in Right of Use assets
related to the operating lease and a corresponding lease liability of approximately $146,000 (the
“Present Value™). The Present Value lease payments are based on a weighted average discount rate of
5.6 percent of the Present Value lease payments due over the remaining weighted average term of 2.42
years,

Property and Equipment and Depreciation Expense

The Corporation’s property and equipment costs, net of accumulated depreciation, during the forecast
period are summarized in the table below.

Table 9
Schedule of Property and Equipment
(In Thousands)
Years Ending December 31, 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028
Property and equipment, beginning balance $224,135  $229,301 $234,745 $240482  §246,525
Ongoing capital additions 5,566 5,844 6,137 6,443 6,766
Disposal of assets (400) (400) (400) (400) {400)
Property and equipment 229,301 234,745 240,482 246,525 252,801
Accumulated depreciation (105,040)  (114,237y  (123,616) (133,227)  (143,122)
Property and equipment, ending balance $124261 $120,508 $116,866 $113,298 §109,769

Source: Management
Long-Term Debt and Interest Expense
Series 2010 Bonds

In June 2010, the Corporation obtained debt (“Series 2010 Bonds™) to pay for the construction of the
Assisted Living Building. The Series 2010 Bonds consist of $28,845,000 with a variable interest rate
of 79 percent of Secured Overnight Financing Rate plus 1.0854 percent. The Series 2010 Bonds are
covered by an interest rate swap that effectively fixes the variable interest rate bonds at 3.333 percent
and expires in December 2037, Interest on the Series 2010 Bonds is payable monthly. Principal on the
Series 2010 Bank Bonds is paid monthly with a final maturity on January 1, 2038. As of December
31, 2023, the balance of the 2010 Bonds was approximately $22,000,000.

See accompanying Accountants’ Compilation Report
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Series 2016 Bonds

In December 2016, $13,159,000 of North Carolina Medical Care Commission Retirement Facilities
First Mortgage Revenue Refunding Bonds (Arbor Acres Methodist Retirement Community) Series
2016 (the “Series 2016 Bonds™) were issued to refund then-outstanding debt, The Series 2016 Bonds
consist of variable rate tax-exempt bonds, with a fixed interest rate swap at 2.914 percent per annum.
Interest on the Series 2016 Bonds is payable monthly. Principal on the Series 2016 Bonds is paid
monthly with a final maturity on January 1, 2031. As of December 31, 2023, the balance of the Series
2016 Bonds was approximately $7,227,000.

Series 20214 Bonds

In July 2021, the Corporation entered into an agreement with a commercial bank (the “Bank™) for the
purchase of up to $62,640,000 of North Carolina Medical Care Commission Retirement Facilities First
Mortgage Revenue Bonds (Arbor Acres Methodist Retirement Community), Series 2021A (the
“Series 2021A Bonds”™) to be advanced on a draw-down basis to pay for costs related to the
construction of an Independent Living Unit expansion and to convert a then-outstanding taxable bank
loan to tax-exempt bonds. The Series 2021 A Bonds consist of Series 2021 A-1 Bonds, Series 2021 A~
2 Bonds, and Series 2021A-3 Bonds. As of December 31, 2023, the Series 2012A-2 Bonds were paid
off. As of December 31, 2023, the Series 2021 A Bonds balance was approximately $39,482,000.

The Series 2021 A-1 Bonds currently consist of $33,000,000 tax-exempt bonds, with a fixed interest
rate swap at 2.205 percent per annum on the outstanding balance of $23,000,000, effective July 2023
and a variable interest rate of 5.50 percent annum on the outstanding balance of $10,000,000, effective
July 2023. Interest on the Series 2021 A-1 Bonds is payable monthly, Principal on the Series 2021A-1
Bonds is paid monthly beginning September 1, 2024, with a final maturity on January 1, 2052, As of
December 31, 2023, the Bank had purchased approximately $33,000,000 of the Series 2021A-1
Bonds.

The Series 2021A-3 Bonds consisted of up to $7,474,000 variable rate tax-exempt bonds, with a fixed
interest rate swap at 2.865 percent per annum on the outstanding balance, Interest on the Series 2021 A-
3 Bonds is payable monthly. Principal on the Series 2021A-3 Bonds is paid monthly, with a final
maturity on January 1, 2035, As of December 31, 2023, the Bank had purchased approximately
$6,482,000 of the Series 2021 A-3 Bonds.

See accompanying Accountants’ Compilation Report
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Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc. Summary of Significant Forecast Assumptions
and Affiliates and Rationale, Continued

The following table presents the assumed annual debt service during the forecast period.

Table 10
Annual Debt Service
(In Thousands)
Fiscal Years Ending Series 2010 Bank Bonds  Series 2016 Bonds Series 2021A Bonds  Total Debt
December 31, Principal  Interest  Principal Interest  Principal  Interest Service
2024 $ 720 $ 736 5 937 $ 201 $ 802 § 1,239 $ 4,635
2025 775 709 970 173 1,426 1,203 5,256
2026 780 683 996 144 1,462 . 1,159 5,224
2027 840 656 1,020 114 1,492 1,113 5,235
2028 $ 840 3 629 $ 1,044 $ 84 $ 1527 $ 1066 $ 5,190

Source: Management

Current Assets and Current Liabilities

Operating expenses exclude amortization, depreciation, other non-cash expenses, and interest expense.
Operating revenues include service fees. Working capital components have been estimated based on
industry standards and Management’s historical experience as follows:

Table 11
Working Capital — Days on Hand
Accounts receivable 7 days operating revenues
Prepaid expenses 5 days operating expenses
Accounts payable 15 days operating expenses
Accrued expenses 16 days operating expenses

Source: Management

See accompanying Accountants’ Compilation Report

(23)



ARBCR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC.
COMPARISCN OF AUDIT TO FORECAST BALANCE SHEET
December 31, 2023
{in thousands of dollars)

ASSETS Audit* Forecast™
2023 2023 $Varlance % Variance  Explanation

Current Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 14,760 $ 4,192 § 10,568 2652% A
Investments 21,810 28,682 (6,872) -24%

Accounts recelvable, nat 923 628 295 47% B
Prapaid expenses 455 491 (38) -T%

Total Current Assets 37,948 33,983

Non-current assets:
Assats limited as to use:
Board designated for:

Assistance endowmant 6,376 5,863 523 9%
Capital projects 2,520 2,520 - 0%
Strategic fund . 928 {928) -100% Cc
Daner restricted for:
Resldent assistance 518 915 (387} -43% D
Assistance endowment 12,768 11,201 864 7% E
Other specific purposes 682 851 31 5%
State operating raserve raquirement 8,727 8,727 - 0%
Tetal assets limited as to use 31,588 31,485
Other long-term assets 435 223 212 95%
Property and equipment, nat 128,019 129,728 {1,709) 1%
Beneficial intarest in perpeatual trust 1,305 1,220 85 7%
Interest rate swap asset 4,361 4,774 (413) 9%
Totzl non-current assets 165,708 167,440
TOTAL ASSETS $ 203,656 3 201,433

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

Current llabilities:

Accounts payable $ 1,499 $ 1,374 126 2%
Accrued expenses 1,578 1,387 161 14%
Accrued interest payable 100 259 (158} -61%
Current maturities of long-term debt 2,459 2,171 288 13%
Current maturities of cperating lease liabilities 60 - 60 #DIV/0!
Estimated refundable entrance fees 1,156 953 163 16%
Total curvent ilabiliies 6,852 5,184
Long-erm liabifities:
Refundable deposits 35 37 {2) -5%
Deferred revenue from entrance fees 59,524 62,216 {2,692) -4%
Long-term debt, less current maturilies 65,335 67,827 {2,492) -4%
Qperating lease liabilities, less current maturities 85 - 85 #HOIV/OI
Total long term liakiliies 124,979 130,080
Total Liabilities 131,831 136,264
Nat Assets
Without donor restrictions 56,558 51,286 5,272 10%
With donor ragtrictions 15,270 13,883 1,387 10%
Total Net Assats 71,628 65,169
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS $ 203,659 $ 201,433

Materiality for purposes of this disclosure are differences greater than $250,000 and 25% variance from the previous year.

A - See Statement of cashflows for reasons for the difference in the ending ¢ash balance,

B - The receivables balance was significantly higher at the end of 2023 due to a significant ameunt of sales tax receivable related to a recent expansion pro
C - Arbor Acres board of directors removed the strategic designation from these assets and they were moved to unrestrictad investments.

D - Arher Acres was able to utilize a significant amount of unspent restricted funds for financial assistance.

E - Arhor Acres was able to capture significant investmeant appreciation that was not budgeted,

* Amaounts are derived from the audited financial statements and presented in thousands of dollars.

** Amounts are derived from the December 31, 2023 - 2027 financlal projection. Amounts are presented in a format similar to the
audit presentation.



ESCROW AGREEMENT

'THIS ESCROW AGREEMIENT {this "Agreement”) Is made this | % day of Jme., 2020 by and
betwean Arhor Acres United Methodist Retirement Cortiminiity, Ine.. a North Carolina nosprofit
cotporation {"Sponsor™), and Tryist Back, 2 North Carolina banking corporation ("Eserow Agent),

As. -Sponsar s the intended operator of ¢ortaln property Joeited ift Winston-Saletn, North Carolida s
acotitihing cate rétifement commusiity known as Atbor Acres (the "Commumity"). As the opetator,
Sponsor wiil from time 1o tire snter into non-bitding priovity ligh feservation pgreements with persons
desiziug tp reside at Atbol Acres and irito-binding reservation agreements and/or resident agroements
with persons contracling for residenses at the Community: and

B Pursuant to sieh non-binding pilority Hst resedvation-ageeements, persons dekiring to. resids g
Athor Acres depbsit Runds (“Depotits”) with Spobsorand, pursuastto such binding reservation
agreements and/or xesident agreements, the prospective-resident(s) (*Depositing Person(s)") eontwiciinig
foi & regiderice ate required 10 pay afl dr'a pottion of certalit éntrance feas {"Entrance Fees) prior to
oceupancy by them; and

G Pusuant i Asficle 4.0 Chaptei 58 of the Norith Gaiolina General Stattites, a9 amended (ihe
“Act”), ot Thile 13, Chapior 11, Subchaptor 5, Section 0102(0(b)iiy of the North Davolina
Admiisirative Code, the Depostis teesived in conneotion with fion-binding piceity it vesérvation
agegemints fnd vertain Entenct Fees recefved in coithiedtion with binding reservation agreements
and/or resident agreements must be eseroweds and

D, Subject to the terms of the Act, Spohiorhereby agreés to dopisit inan esorow fund established
and teaintatived by the Bscrow Agent (the "Escrow Aceount*) the Déposits and the Hrtrance Feos that
are viquiired {0 be deposited intd il ¢4erW fiiiid pursiant to the Act; dnd

B Th partles hefeto noty desire and inteid 6 provide for the safekeeping of the Deposits and such
Entrance Fees and for the provedures Tn disbursing the Deposits and such Bntratios Fogss

WITNESSETH!
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises set forth dbove, the natuial cpyanants set forth
Below, pid othet’ sood and valtiable considarstion, the receipt, and sufficiency of which ate berehy

weknowledged, the parties heteto agree as follovis:

1. The Escrow Agent s]'xgﬁ dpen the Bgarow Avcotint, and the Sponsor-shall deposit with the
.. Esdpow Speni (¢) any and all Depositsmade by Jupostting: Persons piirsunnt to theit $pecific non-

inding pricrity list reervation agréements, and (b)Y all Entrantd Feds rotelvid or Deposils recast as
Enteande Faes puuant to paragraph 4 hereafter, except (3} iF the conditions set foith in paregrapl: 6
hereatter have been met, only 75% of Ftratice Fees rseeived of Daposits recast us Entrance Fees shall



be deposited or retdined, rospeetivély, and (if) if the conditions set forth in parapraph 7 hétgafier have
been met, no such Entrance Fees received or Deposits requst as Entrance Fees shatl be deposited ar
rotained, raspeciively.

2, The Escrow Agent hereby agrees to nisintaia the Dieposits and Entrance Fee amounts Sepagata
and apati from it other funds, and shall held and dishurss the Deposits and Entimee Fé¢ amounts in
accordance with-this Agreemant, Orior befors éach delivery to e Esorow Agent.of any Deposits and
Fintidrnios Fees, Sporigor shall fumish to.the Byorow Agent the tarvie and address 6f each Depdslting.
Person providing such Deposits and Brtrancs Feos, iogether with such other feformation conceshing
¢each saeh Deposititg Person as the Bicrow Agerit shall reasonably reguest, The Fgerow Agent shall
mintdln redords as 16:this Dépositsaid Entrance Kees with respeek to each such Depositing Person mnd
soall vaport sueh inforination monthly to Sponsor, '

The Bseravr Agent shall investall funds held pursuant fo this Eserow Agreetiwitib the SunTrust
Institutional Preferred Dimosit Optloti, The investmens in the SuniTrust Institutional Preferred Denosic
Optiot are insured, subject fo the applicable niles and regulations of the Federal Deposit bissifarice
Corporation (the “FDIC"), in the stindard FDIC idsurance amount of §230 000, Including princfpal ang
rocriied interest, dud are not secured. Tho SunTrust Tngtinnlonal Preferied Dieposit Optiosis tapre firlly
deseribed i materials which Tave been fursishd 1o the Sponsor. by the Eserow Agent, andl the Spansor
acknoveledges écelpt of such materials fom the Escrow Agent, Iristractions 1o thake any otliey

Anvestment must ba-in wiitivig zmd-sigﬁca-wm.‘s_‘pmm The Bponsor vécognizes and agrees thiat the
Esorow Agent will not provide supsrvision, réeormmendations or advice relating to-the investngnt of
sopeys held hesgunder or the purchase, sale, retention or other disposition of siny Tinvesiient, and the
Eserow Ageit shall not be able to thy Spoiisor of any other-person or entity for any Joss inctived ity
somnection with any suchinvestrent. The Bscrow Agent is hereby-authitwized to Bieoute purchases and
sales of investinents throngh the facilitide of ity own tading or capital matkets ‘opeiations of those 6f any
affilisted entity. TheEsurow Agent or any of its affiliates tdy veoelvé coiiperisation with respect for any.
‘nvestoignt divectsd horeusider inchuding withowt Hinitation charging any applicable dgency fiein
connection with sach transaction, The Bscrow Agent shall nse {ts bestethires to invest-funds on a timely
basis upolt redeipt of swdh flirds; provided; howsver, that the Escrow-Agent ghall n 110 event be Jiable
for compensation fo the Sponstr.or.other person or etitity related to fhinds which. are hield un-dovested or
furids which are not invested timely, The Esérow Agent i nothorized and directed to sell orredsem dny
investments a5 3t deems becessary fo make any- payrients or distibutions required vunider this Bastow
Agresment, '

3. The Sponstragrees that afl titreer and income from the investment. of the fands shall be
reporied 8s having been-eamed by the Sponsor-as of the end of gach wal eridar year, whether or not such
income was disbirsed during stch culendar year and to the-extent requinsd by the Intemal Revetne
Service, On or before the executionand detivary of this-Esorow Agrgerent, the Sponsét shall provide
to the Eserow Agent a-cormdof, duly completed, dated aid eiéited curgant Unlted States Hntergal
Revenug Servise Form W-9 or Fors W8, whichever isappropriate or any sucsessar farmg thereto, i 2
foum-end substance satisfactory to the Eserow Agent including appropiiate supporting documentation:
agd/or any othet fot, doctirient, andfor carfificate required ar reasonably requested by the Estrow

A pontto -wﬂm-ﬂﬁffmmﬁmmgﬂ,;:M@;withsmd_i;;g‘.—‘gmethiri;g;td;thg::wﬁim?;ﬁhmia—-pmv}i‘El'ed;.a‘récg‘:pt

for the detivéry and Bling of tax information reporting forms requived purgpant o the Intdmal Reéveniie
Code of 1986, 2 amendsd,; to be delivered and filed with the Internal Revenue Servics by the Bsorow
Agent, as estrow agent horcundsr, the Bserow Agent shall have no duty to prepare of i¢ any Fedgral op



Htdite sk report ot tetiin withi fespiect to any funds beld pursuddt to this Bscrow Agredment or any
Ingotiie gatned théreon. With tespect to the preparation, defivery and filing of such required fax
information teporting forms and all ratters pertaining to the repotting of urmirigs ot fimds held under
this Esortiiv Agreemerit, the Escrow Agent shall be entifled to request and receive written Instructions
from the Sponsor, and the Brerow Agent shall be entitfed fo xely conclisively dnd without fuirthér
iricfudry-on such written instivetions, The Sponsor agrees fo indetnnify, defend and hold the Esergw

Ageat harmless from and against any tax, Tate payment; itiferest, Héhalty or other ost or expense that
dy e assessed ajzalns 6 Brcrow Agent on or with respect to the Bscrow Fudd ot any earnings or
Iinferest therson unless such tax, late payment, interest, perialty o cthsr oot or expangé was fnally
adjudicated by a Eoutt.of compétent jurdidiction to have been directly.cansed by-th pross. neghigence or
wiltfil misconduet of the Bscrow Agent, The lndemuifieation provided in this seetion 18 in gddition to
the indenmification provided to the Escrow Agent éliewbere in this Bscrow Apgreement and shall survive
the tesigiation or rextioval of the Escrow Apent and the tetmination Gi'thig Esorow Agréement,

4, Upon written notification to-the Tsoraw Agent by the Spojsor Statiig thata Depositing Person
has eutered info 4 binding réservation Agréement and/or resident agreemerit with the Sponscl, the
Bscrow Agent shafl forthwifli recast such Depositing Person's Dieposit In'the Bstiow Adcoupi as
Emiange Fees, Thereaftad; if the Sponsor notifies the Escrow Apent jn writing that either of the
<ondifions deseribed i Bection 6 tr Seption 7 below have boen satisfied, the Bivioly Agbnt shull
pronyilly disburse w-the Sponsor the ameuits yet forth 1n sald Seation 6 or Section, 7. pursusnt to the
Sponsor's wiitten refisest,

5 Upon written-notificaifon to the Bserow Agent by the Sponsor that a Depasiting Petson wishes to
Yerinate of withdeaw'his ot her ion-binding priority Jist reservation agreement oribiat such Deposiifng
Ferson's Deposieds othbrwise required fo be retistied t such Dejiositing Person, the Fserow Agent shall
Torthweith disbirso siich Deposising Person's money on depositin the Escrow Aceonnt in aetiordance
with such written instruotions withi five.(5) business days ofrecelpt of siich wiltten vitice. All injereit
eartiingsshail B allocabls to the Sponsor. Upon wiitten notifigation oy 'ﬂ;eﬁsnmwhgem’ by the Sponsor
Statipg that Entrande Fées &€ 1o be retiurned to any Depositing Persan, the Escrow Agent shadl forfhwith
disburse such Deposiiing Perions money or.deposit i the' Bseroyw Acsotint o siich Depositing Person in
aceotdancs with the Sponser's written instractions within five (5) business days of recelpt oF such
wiitten niotipe, Afl inferestearnings shall 1é allocable to the Sponsor;

6. Upor receipt by the Escrow Agent of written notice Trom thie Sponsor stating that the
requirement set forthin Heetion 58-64-350a)(1) of the Act has beeh inet foi atiy Phisse 65 the project {a
"Phase™ will be defined hod agréed vpot betwesn tie-Bpangar thé Nopth Cargling Department:of

Insuranee, Findnelal Bvaluationt Diviston, Special Entities Section), 25% of the Banance Fees for thit

Phase; together with the earnings thereon shall be disbursed to the Sponso within five (5) biisinass days.

7. Upan receipt by the Bsorow Agent of writtes futice frorm thie Sponsor stating. that the
rpguirementt set forth in Section $8-64.35(a) (2 of the Act has hegn et for any Phiase of the pioject (a

"Phise" will be fofinod shd agreed upcn botween the Sponsor the North Carolina Depariment of

Tsuzaee, Alterative Makets Diviston; Special Brtities Sestion), all Femaining Enirance Fees for thal
Phase and all earnings thereon'shatl be dishursed to the Sponsor within five (5) business days.
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8, This Agreemont shall tetminate when aHl disbursemerits of the Deposits and Entrarice Fees
required to be made with respect to the Bscrow Accoiat by the Escrow Agent under the provisions
tsreof shall bemade,

9. Inpérforming its duties wider this Agregment, or upon the claimed failure to perform its dutics,
the Ecrow Agent shall have no liability except for'the Hecrow Agent's witlful misconduct or

negligence, In tio event shall the Bssrow Ageént be lable for incidental, indbrect, §pecial, and,
sonsequential or punitlve damages, The Escrow Agein shall kave no ivnplied duties or obligations wider
the terms of this.Agreettient or otherwise. The Escrow Agent shall not be sharged with i bs decined to
have any knowledge or noticé of any itotice, fact, of cirduistance ot specifically set forth in this
Agregingdt or fisnished to the Bserow Agent fit niotives provided to the Bscrow Agent i weiting and
siriclly in accordance with the notice provisions of thiiy Agroement, The Escrow Agent shall not be
tédiiired to Wk riotiée of any difeemnent o understanding, including bt not limited to any binding
residents’ agreenents, other than this Agreemerit and shall have no duty oregponsibility vo take ay
action pusstent to the terms thereof, The Escrow Agent shull have o liability with respect to the-transfer
or distribution of any fuids affected by the ‘Eﬁs@;ﬁpﬁv‘ﬁgam puisiant to witing or wwansfer instructions:
provided to the Escrow Agent by.any party to-this Agroement. The Bserow Agent shall be etititled 1o
seik the ravies of fegal counsel with respect to any satter ariging under this Agreoment. The Bserow
Agent shulf not be pbligated fo take nny lepal action of 1o cormience afiy procesdings in tonnection with
this-Agresrent 6¥ any firids heid hereunder or to appeat in, prosecute or defond 1o any such legal action
ot proceedings. The Escrow Agent shall be erififled to.rely upon and shall b fully proteeted in‘atting on
any vequest, ltistrinction, statémerit o Othier fostrugiuent, ot paly 44 toits due execution, validity and -
effuotiveness, hut &so as to the truth and accuraey of any information sef forth therein, which the
Escrow Agent shall i gvod faith befizve to be genuios, to hiave been signed or presented by the porson
ar partles purporting to-sign the same and to confarm 16 the picvisions of this Agrdement. The Etctow
Agont shall biave ris duty or obligation to collect orotherwiss require payment of any check or other
Instrument defiveréd ifi paymeit of deposits betdunder, other than subinission o such instruments for
payrient i the ofdingry sourse of business. In o ovent shull the Bserow Agent have any obligation to
Tnvest or-dishuse fands usder this Apreemiont othier thaa with regpest to. $6liéeted funds and dny
parninis thereon, The Eserow Agent shall ely sxclusively on iotices; requests, and pomimurications
frotn- Sponsor and its anthofized representatives fnd agenis dind shall have fio-duty-or obligatiohito take
notiee ¢For o tike aotion parsuant to ahy nofics, tequest, ot other commurication furnished to the
Bsorpw Agent.fiom any other party, ‘

10.  Asanadditionsl consicerdtion for and a9 an inducement for Fscrow Ajgentto serve as Hsorow
Agent hereutsder, ftis understood and agreed that in the event of any disagresment between the parties fo
this Agresment or among any of thews and any other parsons resilting i adverse clajng or deminds
being mdde in connection with or for any funds or otier property hefd pursuant tothis Agreoment, the
Escxow Agént shall be entitled, af the election of the Bgorow Agent, to refuse 1o cornply with the
dupiaiids of such partles, orany of such parties, solong as such disapreoment shall continue. In sush
even, the Bsérow Agant shall sike no delivety or ather diggosttion of wity funds or propérty held
pursuarit:to the tering of this Agreement or any. part thercof, Anything herein to the. gontrary

- —— hotwithsinding, he Eserow Agent-shall ot be-ow bigome Hable to-such.parties-orany-of them forthe

failure of the Escrow Agent fo comply with confliéting or adverse demarids of stich pertics or any of
such pérties, Tn the eveni of any dispute or disagreement as deseribed above, the Bscrow Agert shall
have the fight, in addition te the rights described above and at the election of the Eserow Agent, to



tender into the registry ot custody of any-uourt having jurisdiction; all money and property hield under
this Agreement and may take Such. other legal netion 4 may be anpropeiuie ortiecessary, i the ppinion

of the Hserow Agent, Upon such tender, {he parties hereto agres Mat the Escrow Agent shafl be
discharged from all furthier dutiss under this Agreament; provided, however, that the filing of arly such
Jegal proctedings shall not deptive the Hieroiw Agent of fts corpensation hereunder earned prior 1 such

filing andl discharge of the Bsciow Agent of its duties bereunder.

11, The Escrow Agent wuy regign & any timefrom its obligetions wderthis Agreemetitby
providing written nofice to the parties hereto, Such resignation shall bo gffaetive b thie date vet Tosthiin
snich written notice, which shall e i daitiet thin thisy (30) days after such written notice hag beery
fuenished. In the Event no successor sscrow agent has been appointsd on or prior 16 the date such
vesignation Is to begome offoctive, thie Everow Agent shall beentitted to tender into the costody of any
court of competent jurisdiction. ali fiiiids and othér progerty thet held by it herounder and shall
thereupon bé rolieved of all furthier dutles.and obligations under this Agiedmant: Hsorow Agent shall-
heve o rasponsibilify for the appointinent of a sitcoesior escrow agent hereunder.

12, Spongor shall Bave the right to requira the Escrow Agent o réslgn ag Fadrow Agentupon giving
not Jess than fadity (30 days written notice, int which case Sponsor shall appointa sutcessor Eserow
Agent.

13, The Sponsoragreesto pay to the Eaciow Agent compeasation, and to oltaburse the Bscrow
Agent for costs aaid expenses, all i decordunce with the provisions of Exhibit B heréto, shich i
incarporated hetein'by refirence and Made 4 pait heteof.

14, The Sponsoragrees fo indemnify and hald harmless the Escrow Agent sid ¢ach of the Hscrow
Agen's officers, diséeiors, agénts und employees (the “Indenwnitied Parties”) from and aguinet any and
all losses, labilites, clairns, damages, expenses-and costs (iachiding attbmgys' fees) of ¢9¢iy nature
whetgoever whighany sugh Indemnified Paety may-incor and which arise direcily ot indirectly fiom thiz
Agreement of which arise directly oripdirctly by vitite of the Estiow Agent's undertaking to serve as
Pacrow Ageiit hetéiider: provided, however, that no Indemnified Party shall be entitled to Indgmmity in
wage of such Indemnified Patty's gvoss nedligenca of willful milsconduct. The provisions of this section
‘shial) survive the tetrination of this Agreement and any resignation or removal of the Es¢row Agent.

18,  The Escrow Agent shall havend duty or réspongibility or determining whether the offer and sale
of the resldency arrangements desciibed heretn or the terts and provisions of this Agreement comply
with the provisions of any sgiplicable stute or Federal Taw or regirlation, including but not Jimited to the
Act or regulations thereundir, The Spohsor vepresents and wagrdnts lo the Escrow Agent thiat it has
obtafned and relied upon the advice of legal cownsel with respect fo all such maters, The Sponsor
further iepresents snd, waitdnty that fth otfer aid gale of the residency arvanpements desciibed herein
and the terms aind provisions of this Agrecment and each binding resident’s agreement comply it 41t
respects wiih all snch applicable state.and Féderal laws and reigulations, The Esorow Agent hag ot

e ypdutputed dncthe preparation ot revigw ot any salow oroffering materiabrelating tosthieresideney - o0 -
arangements deseribed dh this Agréentent: No sales or offeriig litétaturg o iaterial itilized i

connodtion with thé aifer aid sile of the residency anungemients described hersin shall contain the name

“Pruist Bank of au¥ variation thisreaf; except o7 the limited putpose of identifying the Bserow Agent as



éserom agont yinder the tefrs of this Agreement,  In addition (o other indemnities provided for in this
Agreement, the Sponsor shall indemnify and hold harmless th Egorow Agenit-and each of its offivers,
digectors, agents and employees ftom and against all slaimns, Habilities, losses and démiages (imchwding

attosniays’ Feos) ineusred by the Escrow Agent or such frersons end which directly or indirectly rosult

fror any violatian, o alleged viglation of any such state or Federal laws.

6. -Any anil all notices, fequests. demsnds and dther commuriications given under or in epnnection
with this-Agréement (“Wotipe”) shall be éifective only if in writing addressed to thie address of the
rodiplent set Forth below ot siich dther address proyided by thie recipient and shall be.deemed delivered
by {1) kand detivery upon recelpf, (i) registered mall o centified mal, return receipt requested, postage
prepuid, npon delivery tg the address indicated In the Notice, (i) by con fitmed elecitonte mail (with
confirnied read:veceint) when sent, or (Iv) overnight coutiet {next business day defivery) on the next
bissingss day ifter itis sent:

Spondor!

Adbor Afes United Methodist Retirethent Cosaniunity, inc,
At Vies Bregident and CFO |
1240 Arhot Road:

Winston-Salkim, NC27104

P 336.924.7923 ext. 1222

F 336:721.0271

Bserdw Agent:.

Aty Bserow Services

Muil Céide: VAHIDQ-1203
919 Baist Main Stréet, Sth Floor
Richmond, Virginid 23219
Client Managor: Byten Roldan
Phone: B04.782-5404
Facsimile: ‘804-225-7141

'No notice, request, demand, or other eommunicafior horeunder shall be deemed effective as to the
Escrow Agent unless i vritiag deliversd in striof accordance with the provisions bereof or prior

to the Excrow Ageit's actual recoipt dhereof.

_ . Vi - Contemporansonsly with the execution and delivery of this Agreement aid, if nogessary, o

firne £ tithe theréafier, the Spovsor shall exeenterand deliverto the Beetow Agenta Cerlificate of
Indumbency substantisty i the form of Exhibit A horoto (a~Cestificate of Incumbancy”) for the
purpose of establishing the ideiitity and authority.of persons entitled to-issue fotices, instctions or



ditestions to the Bagrow Agent on bebalf of the Spongor, Until such time as the Bscrow Agent shall
regelve an amended Certificate of Incumbeney teplacing any Certificate of Incumbency therstofore
delivered o the Recrow Agent, the Eserow Agent shall bio fully protected in retying, without further
itiquiry, on the st recerit Cortificate of Tncuribensy firaished to the Bsorow Agent, Whenevoar this
Agiceinent provides foir writteh noticos, written istriivtions or bther agtions to be delivered to the
Escrow Agent, the Bsorow Agent shall be fully profected in relylng, without further inguiry, on avy
“written notice, instruetiang of astion exenitéd by persons pémed in aych Ceniffease of Inoumbetiay.
This AgreemeRt may be modificd or antended dnly upon the witich consent of both Bpohisr and the
Hserow Agent; Neither this Agroement nor any inferest herein may be transferred or assigned without
thie ekpreds writfon consent of gach of the paities Hereto.

18 Ifanyone or more of the sovenants oF agresments provided in this Agrecment shdll be
deteriined by d court of competent jurisdictlon to.be coitrary40 Jaw, sk covenabt of agteement shall
b deepitd and constritetéd to be severdble fiom the remalniig covihants did agieomeins heredi
containied and shall fn no way affit the validity ol the xemaining provisions of this Agrecment:

19, This Agreement may be executed fn ssveral-counterparts, all or any of whichshall be regarded
for all piposes a5 oiié original afid shall bonistitoté and be but ong aud the samé instrurment. Electronie,
POF ok facsindile vorsions of this Agreément shall have the same legal effect g originals, andall of
ohich, wheh fully executed, shall congtitute on¢ and the samelnstiument, '

20, This Agresment shall be construed and eniforeed. in aecordance with the Jatis of the State of
North Carolina,

[signatyre page jollows]




TN WITNESS WHEREOQF, the partios heroto have exveuied this Agreoment as of the date and year
first writken above.

Arbor Acres Uriited Methodlist Retirement 'Qumzﬂunﬁy,‘ Tnk., AS SPONSOR

Naing: David W, Matthews, CPA
Title: Chief Finaneial Officer

Truddh, AS ESCROW AGENT
e \ice Presidond




TRUIST iH

Truist Bank - Corporate Trust and Escrow Services
Incumbency Certificate and Client Notice

INDIVIDUAL({S) AUTHORIZED TO DIRECT TRUIST BANK AND SIGN DOCUMENTS ON BEHALF OF ARBOR ACRES UNI\TED
METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNTY, INC. (“CLIENT”) WITH REGARD TO AN ESCROW ACCOUNT 70708784 | ARBOR
ACRES RES DEP 8 ENTRANGE FEE

- Wame: David W, Matihews Phone #¢1; 338,724, 7921 Phone #2:
Tiile: VEAE Finance/CFOQ Emell #1: dmalthews@arhoragres,org | Emall #2: ,
' Q Fax: 336,631,1342 Account View Access (YIN), Y
Slgn: . (,\) . Noles (Enlar # of Soealal Instructions Belw’: 1
Name: Andrew \W, Apolegete ‘ Phona ##1: 336,724,7021 Phone #2:
Title: Presicent and CEQ Emalli: aapplenate@arbaracres.org i Erall #2;
' : Fex: 338,721.0271 ' Account Vlew Access (YIN): Y
Sigels ‘ ,551—' Nolas (Bntor # of Speglaf Insiruglions Balow): 1 '
w et
Neme: _ Phone #1: _ Phone #2;
Title: Email #1: Ermall #2: ~
- Fax: Acoount View Access (Y/N):
Sign: ‘ Notes (Enter # of Spadial insiniglions Bajow), 1

INDIVIDUAL(S) AUTHORIZED TO RECEIVE ONLINE ACCESS « ONLY

Name: Darell Holland Phone #1: 336,724.7921 - Phone #2:
Title; Gondrolier - _ 1 Email#1: dholland@arboracres.org_ § Ergall #2:

. \ 16 I Fax: 336,721.0271 ] AccduntVleWAocess (UMY Y
Sign: W Y 1 _Motes (Enfer # of Spacial fnstructions Below}:

NOTE SPECIAL INSTRUCTIONS {e.g., Limitations of AuthoerTty)
1 Authorized to perform &l Cliant actions contermplated under the governiig docutnents,
2 Authiorized 1n complete telephohé confirmation of signed writlen reguesty
3 Authorlzed Io recoive ateass to oriline reporling

The balow undersigned individual hereby certifies: (i) o possess famliliarity with dotuments and records that govam fhe above-
referenced account and the bparation and mahagement of Client, (i) to have the power and authorlty on behalf of Cllent to execute this
incimbency Certificate, and (iil) that the afore-referenced Individuals {along with the undersigried, as noted) dre duly authorized to
instruct Triist Bank Corparate Teust on behalf of Clisnt, and/or authorlzed to view benk statements regarding the above-referencad

account.
K. / / 5/3;1\ “___I%:y\/‘gm eeetery
(]

Trulst Bank shall be entitiéd to rely upon any Instructions from the individuals listed herain until notified In withg otherwise, or until
termination of the above-refarenced account. Cllent's (allure to submit an updated Incumbency Cerlificate shall deem the Certificate
of Incumbency (or aimilar signatory andfor Notices disclosure) on file as its Evergrean In;:um%:ancy Cartificate -and all current trust
accounting acoess as approved. All curre 1 accounfing. access, . including paper statements, online statenvents and onfing |

" —{ransaclion feview accass, shal-be-approved; as applicable. — Client shal-promply sdvise Tralst Bank Corporete Trust and ESCow
Serviges of any changes affecting this Incumbency Gerificate.

CTES Incumbency Gerillicate (0821)



Exkibif B
Truist, as Eserow Agent FEES PAVABLE TO ESCROW AGENT

§1,000.00 ~ one tinte only payable at the time of signing the

Acceptance/Legal Review Fee:
Escrow Agreement

{Fee is waived i no legal review is ngéded)

The Legal Review Feednchides taview of all related doouments and aceeptitig the appoiniment of Escrow
Ageht o behalf of Truist Bank. The fee also dncludes serting upthe requlred acdopit(s) and: feeoritiig
muorris, doanmem ﬂlmg, and cnoxdmatmg the mmpt of funds/assets foi deposit to. the Bscrow Account.
'E‘hm 5.4, 0n¢nt1mc fw paya&le tipon ‘execition of the Esemw Agreement. AS soon a3 Triist Bapk's
v b ' the, ggmmg,gt the: iﬂ;zgg ;ev ew fee is subject to payment regmﬂ]ﬁgs 1f
it s diffi decision 1s thade fhat the Bscrow Agi

Administration Fee: $3,500 = pryabl¢ at the time of signing the Hserow dgreement and
of the aimiversary daie therenfier, ifapplicdble

The Adminisixagion Fee includes pmvidmg routine and, sﬁmzdmd services-of an Escrow Agent The fee
includes administering tha eycrow account, performiny jnvestment Transastiony, processing cash
transactions ﬁncludmg wires and check. processing), disbmsmg funds i apcordanee With the Agreentent
(note any pricing congiderations below), and providing trust acoming staterents to the Parties Kora twelve
(12) mosith period. IF He dccouit romaiis open beyond the twolve (12) month térm, the Pariles will he
inveiced cavh year on the: anntversary date of the execulion of the Bicrow Agreement. Emtranrdmary
expenses, inchiding fegal dounsel fees, will bo billed as out-ofyponket. The Administrition Pee i du
upon execution of the Bsurow Agrsement. The feos shall be deertied eamexd in full upon teceipt: hy the
Esefow Ageat, atid vio goition shall be réfundable Tor iy reason, inchading Wwithout linittation, teismination
of the agreement,

Out-of-Pocket I 083 At Cost

Tegal {out-af-pocket to counsel) or accovnting, will-be billed at cost.

Dutzofipocket-expenses-snchy as,but not-limited: oy postapes courfer; overnightmtlywive transter, travel, —



ADVANTAGE PROGRAM AGREEMENT
ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC.,

This ADVANTAGE PROGRAM AGREEMENT (referred to as the “Agreement”) is
made this day of , 20 between ARBOR ACRES UNITED
METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC. (referred to as “Arbor Acres” or “We”,
“Our” or “Us”), a North Carolina non-profit corporation, and
(referred to as “Resident”, “You” or “Your”). You agree to take financial responsibility for this
Agreement on the above date (the “Date of Acceptance™).

WHEREAS, Arbor Acres owns and operates a retirement community located at 1240
Arbor Road, Winston-Salem, North Carolina 27104; and

WHEREAS, the retirement community (referred to as the “Community”) consists of
independent living homes and apartments, common areas and amenities, and on-campus
facilities for certain outpatient services, assisted living care and skilled nursing care; and

WHEREAS, You desire to enter into this Agreement as an off-campus resident of the
Community in connection with Arbor Acres’ offering continuing care without lodging through
its “Advantage Program” in order for You to access some of the services provided by Arbor
Acres while remaining in Your home and not residing at the Community.

NOW THEREFORE, subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement,
and for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby
acknowledged, You and Arbor Acres agree as follows:

L. ACCEPTANCE AS ARBOR ACRES RESIDENT WITHOUT L.ODGING

A. General. You have gone through the admission process, and Arbor Acres has
accepted You as an off-campus Resident of the Community without lodging
through its “Advantage Program” in order for You to access some of the services
provided by Arbor Acres while remaining in Your home and not residing at the
Community. As a Resident without lodging of Arbor Acres, You will continue to
reside in Your own home and not at the Community, and You are hereby entitled
to the services specifically set forth in this Agreement. If there is a fee related to
particular services provided to You as a Resident, You will be charged the then
prevailing fee that corresponds to being a resident of Arbor Acres rather than a
guest.

As a Resident of Arbor Acres under this Agreement, if You are already on our
wait list for residency on our campus (“Wait List”), You will remain on our Wait
List unless You request that We remove You from the Wait List. Your status on
our Wait List and Your rights as a member of the Wait List will not change as a
result of entering into this Agreement. Your Wait List date for purposes of
priority will remain , which is the date on which You joined
Our Wait List originally. If You are not already on our Wait List, You may join




our Wait List, and Your Wait List date for purposes of priority will be the date
You are added to the Wait List, As a member of Our Wait List, You will have the
same rights as other members of Our Wait List and will be offered on-campus
accommodations in accordance with the then current Arbor Acres” Wait List
Policy.

At the time You choose to accept an accommodation on Arbor Acres’ campus,
You will be required to go through our admissions process for residing at the
Community, including, but not limited to, providing Us updated medical and
financial information in order to determine Your ability to live independently and
to afford the additional entry fee and higher monthly service fees required for
residency in the particular reserved unit. Arbor Acres reserves the right to decline
Your admission to the Community for residency if Your medical and financial
circumstances have changed so that You are not able to live independently or are
not able to afford the additional entry fee and higher monthly service fees
required for residency in the particular reserved unit.

Execution of the Residence Agreement Following Acceptance. Prior to taking
occupancy and financial responsibility for a particular residential unit on Arbor
Acres’ campus, You agree to execute Arbor Acres” Residence Agreement (the
“Residence Agreement”) then in effect. Your occupancy of a residence shall be
expressly conditioned upon Your execution of such agreement. The executed
Residence Agreement shall supersede and replace this Agreement in its entirety.

If the Residence Agreement is subsequently terminated, as outlined in that
Residence Agreement, this Agreement may be re-executed upon mutual
agreement of the parties, allowing You to remain a Resident of Arbor Acres who
does not reside on campus, as long as the reason for termination of the Residence
Agreement does not preclude continuation of a contractual relationship with
Arbor Acres.

II. GENERAL SERVICES PROVIDED ON CAMPUS

A.

Community Common _Areas and Amenities. We will provide common areas
and amenities for the use and benefit of all residents. These facilities currently
include the main dining room, private dining rooms, lobbies, assembly hall,
library, social, and recreational facilities (indoor and outdoor), and craft facilities.
Some common areas may require advance reservation. All common areas are
smoke-free environments.

Health Center. Arbor Acres will provide or arrange admission to the facilities
necessary for the medical care and services specified in this Agreement at the then
prevailing fees charged by Arbor Acres or other facilities, as applicable, and such
fees shall be the sole responsibility of Resident. In this Agreement, the term
“Health Center” includes the facilities for certain outpatient services, assisted
living care (“Assisted Living”) and skilled nursing care. A restraint-free policy is
upheld in Arbor Acres’ facilities.




1.

Parking. Arbor Acres will provide and maintain unassigned parking areas for
residents and guests.

Activities. Social, recreational, educational, and cultural activities are available
to residents and are provided through an active staff-directed program. Residents
may be required to pay additional fees for certain activities.

Meals. You may eat in the Arbor Acres dining rooms, and You will be charged
the prevailing resident meal charge and will be billed monthly.

Security. We will use reasonable care in providing security on the premises of
Arbor Acres. Arbor Acres will provide twenty-four (24) hour security staffing on
gite in the Community. You are responsible for taking appropriate security
measures to protect yourself and Your personal property at the Community, We
are not responsible to provide security to You in Your off-campus residence or for
loss, theft or damage to Your personal property at the Community or otherwise.

Other Services. Arbor Acres may also make available to Resident additional
services, at Resident’s request, at the then prevailing rates charged by Arbor
Acres, which may be changed from time to time at the discretion of Arbor Acres.

Changes in Services and Fees. Arbor Acres residents pay Monthly Fees and
other charges to cover services provided by Arbor Acres. At least annually, during
budget preparation, Arbor Acres reviews services and costs of operation, and the
need for any changes in services or in Arbor Acres’ schedule of fees and charges.
Arbor Acres reserves the right to change, when deemed necessary, the services
provided to residents and the associated fees and charges. Arbor Acres will strive
to deliver services efficiently and economically,

MEDICAL AND OTHER HEALTH CARE SERVICES PROVIDED OR

COORDINATED BY ARBOR ACRES

A.

General. You hereby acknowledge and agree that Arbor Acres is not responsible
for furnishing You or causing to be furnished to You medical services in Your
home. In consideration for the Entry Fee and Monthly Fee, Arbor Acres will
provide You (i) “Care Management” services, as more specifically described in
Section IILE. of this Agreement, and (ii) nursing care services (but not medical
services by a physician or physician assistant) provided in Arbor Acres’ on-site
clinic.

In addition, Arbor Acres will make available to You or cause to be made available
to You the following medical and health care services at the Community that You
may choose to receive, and, subject to Sections VI E. and F. of this Agreement,
You will be responsible for all costs and expenses of such services at the then
prevailing rates of Arbor Acres or such other provider You choose:



1) Medical services provided by primary care physicians or physician
assistants who are part of Arbor Acres’ group practice, and who see You
at the Arbor Acres’ on-site clinic;

2) General nursing and personal care provided in Arbor Acres’ Health
Center, subject to availability of a bed or accommodation and subject to
Arbor Acres’ then-prevailing admissions policies and procedures;

3) General nursing and personal care provided in a similarly licensed nﬁrsing
facility when space is not available at Arbor Acres, and when coordinated
by Arbor Acres’ medical and other care management staff} and

4) Physical, occupational, and speech therapy when ordered by Arbor Acres’
physicians and provided at Arbor Acres outpatient rehabilitation facilities
or in an inpatient setting in the Health Center.

Community’s Physicians and Physician _Assistants/Nurse Practitioners.
Arbor Acres will appoint a Medical Director and physicians and physician
assistants/nurse practitioners, as needed. They will be responsible for Your
medical care, including office visits, medical review, Health Center visits,
hospital attendance, and referral to specialists, if You choose to usc them.

Hospitalization, When one of Arbor Acres’ physicians determines that it has
become necessary to hospitalize You, the physician will have the authority to
arrange such hospitalization. Such determination will be made by Us in
consultation with Your attending physician if not an Arbor Acres physician, and
You, to the extent possible, and Your personal representative, if appropriate.
When the conditions necessitating such hospitalization no longer exist, the
physician will have the authority, in consultation with Your attending physician if
not an Arbor Acres physician, and You, to the extent possible, and Your personal
representative, if appropriate, to arrange for Your discharge and transfer or return
to Your home, or to the Health Center at Arbor Acres if that is needed.

Medical Referrals. Arbor Acres will be responsible for coordinating and
following Your medical, surgical and other health care services when such
services either (i) are provided by Arbor Acres, or (ii) are provided by licensed
outside providers to whom You have been referred in writing by one of Arbor
Acres physicians or physician assistants/nurse practitioners for treatment or
consultation. Such responsibility will be limited to the specific condition for
which referral was made. Arbor Acres will not be responsible for secondary
referrals or for follow-up visits unless approved in advance by one of Arbor
Acres’ physicians or physician assistants/nurse practitioners,

Arbor Acres cannot be responsible for filing for insurance reimbursement for
services provided by other providers of Your choice. However, Arbor Acres will
supply the referral provider with Your policy information upon request, and, upon
request, will assist You in coordinating with other providers to ensure they are
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filing with Your insurance diligently, in order to help maximize Your Medicare
and supplemental insurance benefits.

Care Management and Transfer to Assisted Living, the Health Center, a
Special Service Facility, or a Hospital.

Arbor Acres shall furnish the following care management services (*Care
Management™”) to You on site at the Community, unless Your health condition
prevents You from being able to leave Your home, in which case such Care
Management will be provided to You in Your home, by qualified staff who will
(i) assess Your needs; (ii) develop a plan of care with You to address needs that
are identified; (iit) help identify reputable providers in the area to whom You can
be referred for services to meet those needs; and (iv) follow up to ensure that
those services are meeting Your needs and the goals of Your care plan. The
assessments shall be conducted annually.

If more frequent assessments are needed, or if any needs are identified that may
require subsequent services, Arbor Acres staff will assist You either by providing
such services to You in the event Arbor Acres is licensed to provide such services
and You choose Arbor Acres to provide such services or by referring You to
services that may be available to You in the community outside of the
Community. If more frequent assessments are needed beyond the annual
assessment, or if any needs are identified that may require subsequent services of
Arbor Acres’ staff or other providers, those assessments and services will be
provided to You on a fee-for-service basis at Arbor Acres’ or the other providers’
then prevailing rates.

You hereby acknowledge and agree that Arbor Acres is not responsible for
furnishing You or causing to be furnished to You medical or other personal care
services in Your home, unless recommended and approved by Arbor Acres as part
of Your Care Management program and requested by You All decisions
regarding Your Care Management plan, including the prospect of Your need for
support services in Your home, temporary or permanent transfer to Assisted
Living or Health Center, a special service facility, or to a hospital will be made
after consultation with You, to the extent possible, Your attending physician if not
an Arbor Acres physician, and with Your personal representative, if appropriate.

If it is determined by Arbor Acres’ Care Management staff that Your needs
requite temporary or permanent transfer to Arbor Acres’ Assisted Living or
Health Center facilities, and if You choose not to make the move to those
facilities, then You must agree to sufficient services to provide for appropriate
care and safety in Your home. If, in Our sole judgment, the services You elect to
receive are insufficient for appropriate care and safety in Your home, You must
move to an appropriate care level at Arbor Acres, or We will have the right to
terminate this Agreement. Arbor Acres’ decision will be binding.



No Entry Fee adjustment is made with temporary or permanent transfer from
Your home to Arbor Acres’ Assisted Living or Health Center facilities or to
another special service facility. In the event You make a temporary or permanent
transfer from Your home to Arbor Acres’ Assisted Living or Health Center
facilities or to another special service facility, You will be charged Arbor Acres’
or other facility’s then prevailing Monthly Fee and/or per diem rates for such
services, The new Monthly Fee and/or per diem rates take effect on the date that
You make such a temporary or permanent transfer.

EDICAL, HEAT THCARE, AND OTHER SERVICES EXCLUDED IN THIS

Iv. M . .
AGREEMENT

A,

Use of Medical Practitioners and Facilities Not Referred by Arbor Acres.
You may engage the services of primary care physicians other than those who are
part of the Arbor Acres practice, and seek care at other hospital, specialty
medical, surgical or allied health services with whom Arbor Acres’ does not have
referral relationships. Arbor Acres will not be liable for any expenses relating to
such care, including, but not limited to, the cost of medical, surgical, hospital or
nursing care provided, ordered, prescribed or occasioned by any such practitioner
or such facilities. If a healthcare provider should seek payment for such services
from Arbor Acres, You will indemnify, defend and hold Arbor Acres harmless
from all loss or liability arising from such claims for payment.

In situations when Arbor Acres’ medical staff is not involved in the referral to a
physician or other health care provider from whom You seek services, it is Your
responsibility to require those providers to furnish Arbor Acres, promptly in
writing and in confidence, with medical information regarding Your condition,
diagnosis, medications, and treatment,

You may not engage third parties for medical or other health-related services to
be rendered at Arbor Acres without prior notification to and written authorization
by Arbor Acres’ management.

Psychiatric Illness, Dangercus Communicable Disease, Drug or_ Alcohol
Abuse. The Community’s facilities and services are not designed to care for
persons who have an active psychiatric illness, who have a dangerous
communicable disease or who are involved with drug or alcohol abuse. Should
Arbor Acres determine that Your physical or psychiatric illness, or that Your
condition as a result of drug or alcohol abuse, is such that Your continued stay in
Your home or use of the Community facilities is either dangerous or detrimental
to Your life, health, safety or peace, or the life, health, safety, or peace of others in
Your home or in the Community, then Arbor Acres may transfer You to another
facility of Your choosing. You will continue to be responsible for payment of the
Monthly Fee as if You were at home. You will also be responsible for payment
of any additional amount needed for Your care at any other such facility. Arbor
Acres may terminate this Agreement if You refuse to make the recommended
transfer.




Transportation. Arbor Acres will not be responsible for providing any type of
transportation to You during this Agreement, including but not limited to any
transportation to or from the Arbor Acres campus or to any medical appointments
or other locations and emergency transportation to any hospital or other health
care facility.

Security. Arbor Acres will not be responsible for providing any type of sccurity,
staff emergency response, emergency call devices, smoke detectors or the like to
Your home or personal residence during this Agreement.

Housekeeping, Maintenance and Grounds Keeping. Arbor Acres will not be
responsible for providing any type of laundry or housekeeping services to Your
home or personal residence during this Agreement. Arbor Acres will not be
responsible for providing any type of home maintenance or grounds keeping care
to Your home or personal residence during this Agreement.

Utilities. Arbor Acres will not be responsible for furnishing any type of utilities,
including, but not limited to, heating, air conditioning, water, electricity and/or
gas, sewage disposal, trash removal, television service, internet service and
telephone service, to You during this Agreement.

Taxes. Arbor Acres will not be responsible for paying any taxes owed by You,
including, without limitation, any income taxes or personal or real property taxes
assessed on Your personal or real property during this Agreement. You are solely
responsible for all taxes, owed by You, including, without limitation, all personal
income taxes and all taxes assessed on Your personal and real property.

Other Excluded Services. Other excluded services include, but are not limited
to, prescription and non-prescription medications, refractions, eye-glasses, contact
lenses, audiological tests, hearing aids, dentistry, dentures, dental inlays,
incontinent and other personal hygiene supplies, orthopedic appliances, podiatry,
chiropractic services, organ transplants, renal dialysis, treatment for alcohol and
drug abuse, and diagnosis and therapy for psychiatric disorders.

Illness or Accident. If You have an accident or if You are ill, We will have no
responsibility to pay for costs resulting from or in connection with such accident
or illness. -

TERMS OF BEING AN ARBOR ACRES RESIDENT

A.

Rights of Resident. As a Resident, You have the right to use and enjoy the
common areas, amenities, programs, and services of Arbor Acres, as provided in
this Agreement, during Your lifetime unless this Agreement is terminated as
provided herein. It is understood that this Agreement does not transfer or grant
any interest in the real or personal property owned by Arbor Acres other than the
rights and privileges as described in this Agreement.




Policies and Procedures. In order to operate Arbor Acres in the best interest
of the Community, Arbor Acres has established policies, rules and regulations
relating to residency, which are subject to modification from time to time as
deemed appropriate by Arbor Acres. Resident has received information as to the
current policies, rules and regulations in the Disclosure Statement and in other
written information provided by Arbor Acres. Arbor Acres reserves the right to
make or change policies, rules and regulations, and will use its reasonable efforts
to communicate through appropriate means to all residents the substance and
content of such additions or changes; also, copies of particular policies, rules and
regulations relating to residency will be furnished to Resident on request,
Resident agrees to comply with Arbor Acres’ policies, rules and regulations,
Resident understands and agrees that, in order for Arbor Acres to operate in the
best interest of both Resident and the Community, Arbor Acres must have the
cooperation of Resident’s family, friends, responsible parties and other associates
to comply with Arbor Acres’ applicable policies, rules and regulations. Any
continuing or repeated failure or refusal by any such persons to so cooperate and
comply may result in a determination by Arbor Acres that it is no longer feasible
for Arbor Acres to provide services to Resident. Upon such determination, Arbor
Acres will have a right to terminate this Agreement.

Relationships Between Residents and Staff. Arbor Acres is built on mutual
respect and instructs its staff to be cordial and helpful to You. The relationship is
to remain professional. Employees must not be delayed or deterred by residents
in the performance of their duties. Management is solely responsible for the
supervision of staff. Complaints or requests for special assistance must be made
to the appropriate supervisor. Giving gratuities or bequests to employees or
cmployees’ families is not permitted. You will not employ Arbor Acres’
employees nor hire former Arbor Acres’ employees without the prior written
consent of the management of Arbor Acres.

Loss of Property. Arbor Acres will not be responsible for the loss of or damage
to any property belonging to You due to theft, mysterious disappearance, fire,
employee accident, or any other cause. It is understood that You have the
responsibility of providing any desired insurance protection covering any such
loss.

Representations. You affirm that the representations made in the Application for
Admission, Personal Health History, and Confidential Financial Statement are
true and correct and may be relied upon by Arbor Acres as the basis for entering
into this Agreement. You agree to provide updates of this information in a timely
way to Us. As one of those representations, You affirm that You are at least 62
years old.

Behavior Deemed Harmful to Arbor Aeres. [f Resident is deemed competent
and capable of controlling his or her behaviors and engages in behaviors deemed
by the President/CEO to be disruptive, hostile, illegal, or otherwise harmful to
others or to Arbor Acres, Arbor Acres reserves the right to ferminate this

8



Agreement. If such a circumstance arises, Arbor Acres will discuss the matter
thoroughly with Resident to provide Resident with knowledge of the behaviors
deemed intolerable by Arbor Acres. Arbor Acres will provide Resident a written
warning to desist from the behavior or any similarly disruptive, hostile, iltegal or
harmful behavior. Upon determination that Resident is continuing to engage in the
behaviors against which Resident has been warned, Arbor Acres will have the
right to terminate this Agreement,

Sex Offender Registry. Resident hereby acknowledges that it is the policy of
Arbor Acres to conduct sex offender screening for every prospective resident,
regardless of independent status or level of care, at the time of application for
admission to Arbor Acres and again prior to entering into a Residence Agreement.
If the screening shows that the prospective resident is identified as a sex offender,
Arbor Acres will deny admission of Resident on that basis and not execute a
Residence Agreement. In addition, Resident hereby acknowledges and agrees
that if, after Arbor Acres and Resident have entered into a Residence Agreement,
Arbor Acres becomes aware that Resident is listed on any sex offender registry,
Arbor Acres may terminate this Agreement with Resident and remove Resident
from Arbor Acres,

VI. FINANCIAL ARRANGEMENTS

A,

Entry Fee. You agree to pay Arbor Acres an entry fee in the amount of
$12,500.00 per resident as a condition to this Agreement (the “Entry Fee). The
Entry Fee is a lump sum payment due as of the Date of Acceptance and will not
be increased or changed during the term of this Agreement, except for changes
required by state or federal programs or execution of a subsequent Residence
Agreement should You move to Arbor Acres some time in the future. In the
event You decide to move to Arbor Acres and enter into a Residence Agreement,
notwithstanding the amortization of the Entry Fee for refund purposes as set forth
in Section VIILD. of this Agreement, the full amount of the Entry Fee will be
applied towards the then prevailing entry fee for the apartment or home at the
Community You select. The ability to apply the full amount of the Entry Fee
towards an entry fee for an on-campus living accommodation at Arbor Acres shall
survive the termination of this Agreement, subject to the execution of a Residence
Agreement between You and Arbor Acres,

Monthly Fee and Other Charges. You agree to pay a monthly fee (the
“Monthty Fee”) during the term of this Agreement. The current Monthly Fee
associated with this Agreement is $400.00 per resident per month, The Monthly
Fee will commence at the Date of Acceptance and will be subject to adjustment in
accordance with Section VLD. below. The Monthly Fee will be paid on a
prorated basis for any partial month.

Arbor Acres will furnish Resident a monthly statement with the total amount of
the Monthly Fee and other charges, if any, owed by Resident. Resident shall pay



such fees and charges by the [15%]' day of the month. If Resident’s payment is
late, Arbor Acres may charge Resident a one and one-half percent (1.5%) interest
fee per month, from the first of the month in which the payment is late. Upon
thirty (30) days’ advance written notice, Arbor Acres may change the billing date
and payment due date. Arbor Acres shall have the right to offset against any
Entry Fee repayment any unpaid Monthly Fees or other charges owed by Resident
to Arbor Acres. If You fail to comply with the terms of this provision, We may
terminate this Agreement.

C. Assisted Living or Health Center Charges. If You need care in Arbor Acres’
Assisted Living or Health Center facilities, You will be charged an additional
daily fee based on the particular level of care and type of accommodation at Arbor
Acres’ then prevailing rates. This fee is in addition to the Monthly Fee, which
You will continue to be charged.

D. Adjustments in the Monthly Fee and Other Charges. Arbor Acres may adjust
the Monthly Fee, the Assisted Living and Health Center fees, and any and all
other charges from time to time on the basis of experience or to reflect changes in
the cost of achieving the mission or purposes of Arbor Acres. Arbor Acres agrees
that, in the exercise of its discretion, which will be binding on You, Arbor Acres
will endeavor to maintain all fees and charges at the lowest feasible amounts
which, in the judgment of the Board of Directors of Arbor Acres, is consistent
with sound financial operation and maintenance of the quality of facility, program
and service provided.

E. Health Care Insurance Requirements. You shall be responsible for carrying
both Medicare Part A and Medicare Part B insurance coverage, or a substitute
policy acceptable to Arbor Acres. You shall also carry a supplemental insurance
policy acceptable to Arbor Acres, which adequately covers the hospital, medical,
and skilled nursing deductibles and co-payments required of Your primary
insurance plan. Both Your primary and supplemental health insurance policies
must recognize Arbor Acres as a health care provider. You assume the financial
responsibility for services provided that otherwise could be covered by Medicare
Or Insurance.

You shall be responsible for ensuring that the health insurance coverage that was
approved does not lapse, and You shall provide Arbor Acres with evidence of
such coverage upon request. If Your health insurance coverage should lapse,
Arbor Acres may require that You reapply for suitable coverage. If You are
unable to obtain adequate new coverage, Arbor Acres shall charge You for any
costs of medical and other health care services provided to You that otherwise
would have been covered by an approved policy.

F. Arbor Acres’ Filing for and Rights to Insurance Benefits. Arbor Acres shall
be responsible for filing for reimbursement from Your Medicare and

! INTD: Please note the Residence Agreements contemplate payment by the 10" day of the month.]
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supplemental health insurance plans for covered medical, nursing, and outpatient
therapy services when provided by Arbor Acres. Arbor Acres has a right to the
benefits payable under the insurance You carry for services provided by Arbor
Acres as, required in this Agreement, except where costs of care were borne
solely by You and not Arbor Acres. You hereby authorize Arbor Acres to file
claims for benefits to which You are entitled under this Agreement and to execute
all documents necessary to enable Arbor Acres to collect or enforce such claims.
If, for any reason, Arbor Acres cannot apply directly for benefits payable under
insurance required by this Agreement, You agree to make such application and to
pay Arbor Acres the proceeds received that are due for services provided by
Arbor Acres.

For those services provided by Arbor Acres that are covered by Medicare, We
will accept Medicare Assignment, billing Medicare first and accepting Medicare’s
allowable reimbursement rates as payment in full. You shall be responsible for
amounts allowed by Medicare or Your supplemental insurance that are treated as
deductibles, co-payments or other cost-sharing amounts imposed by Medicare or
Your supplemental insurance. For those services provided by Arbor Acres that
are not covered by Medicare or Your supplemental insurance, You shall be
responsible for all costs and expenses related to such services at the then
prevailing rates. For all services not provided by Arbor Acres but are provided by
another provider, You shall be responsible for all costs and expenses related to
such services.

Automobile Accident Insurance. If You are a licensed driver, You are
responsible for maintaining automobile accident insurance to cover medical costs
from automobile accidents causing injury.

Arbor Acres’ Rights in Case of Injury Caused by a Third Party. In the event
Arbor Acres has incurred costs, expenses and damages on Your behalf relating to
injuries or illnesses caused to You by a third party (including, but not limited to,
reasonable costs of care Arbor Acres may furnish You because of such accident
or injury), You hereby agree that any amount recovered by You or on Your behalf
from any and all sources relating to Your injuries or illnesses shall first be paid to
Arbor Acres in an amount to reimburse Arbor Acres for its costs, expenses and
damages incurred, with the balance of any amount recovered then paid to You or
credited to Your account, or, in the event of Your death, paid to Your estate.

Application for Benefits; Assignment of Benefits. Resident shall apply for any
federal, state or local benefits for which Resident may be eligible or entitled upon
request by Arbor Acres. If requested by Arbor Acres, any or all such benefits will
be applied to the Monthly Fee or other charges incurred by Resident at Arbor
Acres.
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VII. FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE

In order to operate Arbor Acres on a fiscally sound, nonprofit basis, Arbor Acres has
established fees and charges, which are subject to modification from time to time as
deemed necessary and appropriate by Arbor Acres. Resident agrees to pay when due all
required fees and charges. Resident has received from Arbor Acres a schedule of current
fees and charges.

Resident agrees to provide, if requested, periodic financial statements and current
financial information for the purpose of demonstrating capacity to meet financial
obligations to Arbor Acres. Should Resident experience financial difficulty that might
result in Resident’s immediate or eventual inability to meet the financial obligations
under this Agreement, including any spend down of assets that might result from
payment of expected fees and charges to Arbor Acres, Resident will inform Arbor Acres
immediately, and submit a current financial statement. Resident and, if appropriate,
Restdent’s responsible party, and Arbor Acres shall discuss and, if possible, agree on a
plan by which Resident’s financial obligation to Arbor Acres can be met. Residents
whose funds are depleted primarily through payment of fees associated with this
Agreement, to include costs associated with their medical care, may be e¢ligible for
consideration for financial assistance through Arbor Acres. Such assistance, however, is
conditional upon demonstration that other options for fulfilling this financial obligation to
Arbor Acres have been explored and deemed impracticable by either party. When
Resident is deemed eligible for financial assistance through Arbor Acres, Arbor Acres, to
the extent of its available resources dedicated for financial assistance, will attempt to
furnish financial assistance when it is needed. Termination of residency for Resident’s
inability to fulfill the financial obligations incurred under this Agreement shall be an
option exercised as necessary to assure the financial viability of Arbor Acres and of its
financial assistance program.

VIII. TERMINATION AND REFUNDS

A, Voluntary Termination After Date of Acceptance. This Agreement may be
terminated by You at any time by providing Arbor Acres sixty (60) days
advanced written notice of such termination. You may be entitled to a prorated
refund of the Entry Fee pursuant to Section VIILD.

B. Termination Upon Death. In the event of Your death at any time after the Date
of Acceptance, this Agreement will terminate upon the date of death. Your estate
may be entitled to a pro-rated refund of the Entry Fee pursuant to Section VIII.D.

C. Termination by Arbor Acres.? Arbor Acres may terminate this Agreement at
any time (1) pursuant to Section 1ILE., Section IV.B., Section V.B., Section V F.
or Section V.G, of this Agreement, (ii)if there has been any material
misrepresentation or omission made by You in the application forms, (iii) if You
fail to make payment to Arbor Acres and Arbor Acres gives notice provided for in

2 [NTD: Please advise whether an appeal process is contemplated, similar to the other Residence Agreements.]
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IX.

Section VL.B,, (iv) if You fail to abide by Arbor Acres’ policies and procedures,
or (v) if You breach the terms of this Agreement. In such events, You may be
entitled to a pro-rated refund of the Entry Fee pursuant to Section VIIL.D, subject
to the terms of this Agreement. Arbor Acres will provide timely advance written
notice of termination that is in compliance with prevailing laws, regulations and
Arbor Acres’ policies. Arbor Acres shall exercise such right of termination only
after first attempting to work out satisfactory solutions with Resident and/or
Resident’s responsible party. If agreement cannot be reached between the
President/CEO and Resident and/or Resident’s responsible party, the
President/CEO will refer the matter to the Executive Committee of the Board of
Directors of Arbor Acres (the “Executive Committee™) for hearing and decision.
The Executive Committee shall afford Resident an opportunity to be heard, and
shall render a decision with respect to the matter referred to it. The decision of the
Executive Committee shall be put in writing and shall be signed by the Chair of
the Board of Directors of Arbor Acres (the “Chair”) or, in the absence of the
Chair, the Chair Elect of the Board of Directors of Arbor Acres. It is understood
and agreed that the written, signed decision of the Executive Committee shall be
final and binding.

D. Calculation for Pro-Rated Refunds. If termination of this Agreement occurs
during the first fifty (50) months of this Agreement, You or Your estate will be
entitled to a partial refund of the Entry Fee, subject to the terms and conditions of
this Agreement. You will receive a refund in the amount equal to: (i) the Entry
Fec less a non-refundable fee in the amount of $1,000 (the “Net Entry Fee™); less
(i1} two percent (2%) of the Net Entry Fee for each month that this Agreement has
been in effect for up to fifty (50) months; less (iii) any amounts due to Arbor
Acres. After fifty (50) months, there is no refund of the Entry Fee. The fifty (50)
month period begins with the Date of Acceptance. Payment, if any, shall be made
within sixty (60) days of written notice of termination.

RIGHT OF RESCISSION

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, this Agreement may be rescinded by
You giving written notice of such rescission to Arbor Acres within thirty (30) days
following the later of the execution of this Agreement or the receipt of a disclosure
statement that meets the requirements of Section 58-64-1 ef. seq. of the North Carolina
General Statutes. In the event of such rescission, if it is conditioned by a change in Your
health status, You will receive a full refund of the Entry Fee, less a non-refundable
application fee of $100.00. If the rescission is for a reason other than change in Your
health status, You will receive a refund of the Entry Fee less a non-refundable fee in the
amount of $1,000. Any such refund will be paid by Arbor Acres within sixty (60) days
following receipt of written notice of rescission pursuant to this Section [X.

GENERAL

A. Assignment. This Agreement and the rights and privileges for You under this
Agreement to the common areas, amenities, and services and programs of Arbor
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Acres are personal to You and may not be transferred or otherwise assigned by
You.

Management of the Community. The absolute rights of management are
reserved by Arbor Acres and its Board of Directors. Arbor Acres reserves the
right to accept or reject any person as a resident. Residents do not have the right
to determine admission or terms of acceptance of any other resident.

Entire Agreement. This Agreement, together with any Arbitration Agreement
between Arbor Acres and You, constitutes the entire Agreement between Arbor
Acres and You. Arbor Acres will not be liable or bound in any manner by any
statements, representations, or promises made by any person representing or
claiming to represent Arbor Acres, unless such statements, representations, or
promises are set forth in this Agreement.

Capacity. This Agreement has been executed on behalf of Arbor Acres by
Arbor Acres’ duly authorized agent, and no officer, trustee, agent or employee of
Arbor Acres shall have any personal liability to Resident under this Agreement.

Amendments and Modifications.  This Agreement shall not be modified,
amended or changed in any respect except in writing signed by Arbor Acres and
Resident. Each waives any right to amend this Agreement in any other way.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Arbor Acres may amend this Agreement to ensure
compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

Waiver.  Neither the failure nor any delay on the part of any party to exercise
any right, remedy, power or privilege (“Right”} under this Agreement shall
operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial waiver of any Right
preclude any exercise of the same or of any other Right. No waiver shall be in
effect unless in writing and signed by the party asserted to have granted such
waiver.

Severability.  The invalidity of any restriction, condition or other provision of
this Agreement, or any part of the same, shall not impair or affect in any way the
validity or enforceability of the rest of this Agreement.

Interpretation.  The headings in this Agreement are for convenience and
reference only, and shall not affect the interpretation of any provision of this
Agreement,

Successors and Assigns. Except as sct forth herein, this Agreement will bind and
inure to the benefit of the successors and assigns of Arbor Acres and Your heirs,
executors, administrators, responsible parties, attorneys-in-fact and permitted
assigns.

Rights Subordinate to Mortgage. Pursuant to the requirements of any lender,
You agree that Your rights under this Agreement are subordinate to the right of
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the lender under any mortgage, deed of trust or security interest executed now or
in the future by Arbor Acres.

Durable Power of Attorney, Will, Living Will, and Health Care Power of
Attorney. You agree to keep in effect an appropriate Durable Power of Attorney
designating some competent person as attorney-in-fact. You agree to execute a
Will, Living Will, and designate a Durable Health Care Power of Attorney.
Within ninety (90) days of the Date of Acceptance, You will deliver to Arbor
Acres copies of the following documents, and will promptly deliver any changes
to such documents to Arbor Acres during this Agreement: (a) health insurance
coverage information; (b} copy of current Durable Power of Attorney; (¢) copy of
current Durable Health Care Power of Attorney and Living Will; and (d) evidence
of the executor or other legally responsible person of Resident’s estate, such as a
copy of Resident’s will documenting the name of the executor of his or her estate.

Uncontrollable Interruption of Services. No breach of Arbor Acres’
obligations under this Agreement and no liability for injury to Resident or
Resident’s property shall result from an interruption of, or failure to provide,
contracted services due to an act of God or other cause beyond the reasonable
control of Arbor Acres, specifically including (without limitation) strikes or other
forms of labor disturbances, government regulations and/or embargoes, shortages
of labor or materials, fire, flood, earthquakes, inclement weather or acts of the

Resident. Arbor Acres shall make reasonable efforts to continue to provide the

usual services in such event.

Confidentiality. Arbor Acres has the responsibility to keep all of the personal,
medical, and financial information You have supplied to Arbor Acres
confidential. You agree that Arbor Acres can disclose such information to those
who have a need, in Our judgment, or right to know.

Indemnity. You agree to indemnify, defend and hold Arbor Acres harmless from
claims, damages or expenses, including attorneys’ fees and court costs, resulting
from any injury or death to persons and/or any damages to property caused by,
resulting from, attributable to or in any way connected with, directly or indirectly,
Your act or omission or those of Your guests, including private duty nurses or any
other third party service contracted by You. This Section X.N. shall survive
termination of this Agreement.

Affiliations. Arbor Acres is affiliated with the Western North Carolina Annual
Conference of The United Methodist Church, which s not responsible for the
financtal and contractual obligations of Arbor Acres.

Notice Provisions. Notices required by this Agreement will be in writing and
delivered either by personal delivery or mail. If delivered by mail, notices will be
sent by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, with all postage and
charges prepaid. Notices and other communications will be deemed to have been
given when delivered by personal delivery or if mailed, such notice shall be
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deemed to have been given on the third business day after being deposited in the
. United States mail, postage prepaid. All notices and other written
communications required under this Agreement will be addressed to You or to
Your personal representative at the address provided to Us. Notices shall be sent
to us at the following address;

Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc,
1240 Arbor Road

Winston-Salem, NC 27104

Attention: President and CEO

Your address for the purpose of giving notice is the address appearing after Your
signature below or such other address You provide to Us in writing,.

No_Guarantee of Residence. Arbor Acres’ execution of this Agreement does not
guarantee that any apartment or home will be available for Your occupancy
during Your lifetime or prior to the termination of this Agreement for any reason.

Governing Law; Venue. This Agreement shall be governed by, interpreted,
construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of North
Carolina, without giving eftect to any choice of law or conflict of law rules or
provisions that would cause the application of laws or any jurisdiction other than
North Carolina. Except to the extent that the parties have agreed to an alternative
mechanism for the resolution of a dispute, to the full extent permitted by law, any
action, suit or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement shall be
brought and enforced in the courts of the State of North Carolina located in
Forsyth County or of the United States District Court for the Middle District of
North Carolina, and the parties hereby irrevocably submit to the exclusive
jurisdiction of such courts and irrevocably waive any objection that they may now
or hereafter have to the laying of venue of any such action or proceeding in such
courts. In the event of any such dispute, the non-prevailing party shall pay all
reasonable costs, expenses and attorneys’ fees incurred by the prevailing party.

Survival. Those rights and obligations that have accrued under this Agreement
shall survive its termination, as shall those rights and obligations that by their
terms survive termination and any provisions that must survive to give effect to
their terms, as shall any obligation of Resident to pay costs or expenses under this
Agreement that remain unpaid as of such termination.

[Signature page follows.]
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Resident hereby acknowledges the receipt of the Arbor Acres’ Disclosure Statement
dated . Resident acknowledges that the Disclosure Statement was
received prior to the execution of this Agreement and the payment of the Entry Fee to Arbor
Acres. Resident understands this matter involves a financial commitment and associated risk, as
well as a legally binding contract. Resident has had the opportunity to consult with an attorney
and/or financial advisor who could advise Resident concerning this Agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Arbor Acres has executed this Agreement and You have read
and understand this Agreement and have executed this Agreement,

Resident Signature:

Resident Address:

Street Address

City, State & Zip Code

Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc.

By:

PRESIDENT/CEO
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IL Contract

NORTH CAROLINA )
) AGREEMENT

FORSYTH COUNTY )

THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into this day of

, 2024, by and between (“Resident”) and

ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC,, a

North Carolina nonprofit corporation (“Arbor Acres”). Where there are two people

signing this Agreement as a resident of Arbor Acres, “Resident” shall apply to both
people, unless the context otherwise requires.

Resident has applied and been approved for residency at Arbor Acres
in (the “Accommodation™), and has received a copy of
Arbor Acres’ Disclosure Statement, dated May 30, 2023 (the “Disclosure
Statement”).

Resident and Arbor Acres agree to the following:

1. Entrance Fee and Monthly Service Fee.

Resident agrees to pay Arbor Acres an entrance fee of
($ .00) of which

8 .00) is nonrefundable (the “Nonrefundable Fee”).
Resident has the following payment options: (a) pay the Entrance Fee in full upon
exccution of this Agreement, or (b) pay 25% of the total Entrance Fee
$ upon execution of this Agreement, with the balance to be paid no
later than five (5) days prior to the Residency Date (as defined in Section 3 below).
Resident does not acquire any ownership interest in the Accommodation as a result
of payment of the Entrance Fee.

Resident agrees to pay the initial monthly service fee (the “Monthly Service
Fee”), which is the established monthly fee as of the date on this Agreement, and
which is subject to change from time to time. Rates are typically adjusted January
1% of each year. For a partial first month, Resident shall pay a pro-rated amount of
the Monthly Service Fee, on a per diem basis. Gratuities or bequests in addition to
the established Monthly Service Fee shall not be accepted. As of the date of this
Agreement, the Monthly Service Fee associated with the Accommodation will be:
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Monthly Service Fee
Monthly Service Fee for Resident (includes dining allowance $

plan)
(current value of dining allowance is $394.00/month/person)

Total Monthly Service Fee for Accommodation $

2. Monthly Statements.

Arbor Acres will furnish Resident a monthly statement with the total
amount of the Monthly Service Fee and other charges, if any, owed by Resident.
Resident shall pay such fees and charges by the 10® day of the month. If Resident’s
payment is late, Arbor Acres may charge Resident a one and one-half percent (1.5%)
interest fee per month, from the first of the month in which the payment is late. Upon
thirty (30) days’ advance written notice, Arbor Acres may change the billing date
and payment due date. Arbor Acres shall have the right to offset against any Entrance
Fee repayment any unpaid Monthly Service Fees or other charges owed by Resident
to Arbor Acres.

3. Initial Occupancy.

Arbor Acres anticipates having the Accommodation ready for
occupancy by . Resident is not required to move into the
Accommodation before it is ready for occupancy, or before the expiration of thirty
(30) days from the date of this Agreement, whichever is later. Resident plans to move
into the Accommodation on or before (the “Occupancy Date™). If
Resident should wish to change the Occupancy Date, Resident will advise Arbor
Acres immediately (on or before the Occupancy Date). Upon receipt of Resident’s
request, and if Arbor Acres determines that another date is feasible, Arbor Acres will
undertake to work out with Resident another mutually agreeable Occupancy Date.
Resident agrees to pay Arbor Acres” Monthly Service Fees and other charges for use
of the Accommodation from the earlier of (a) the date of actual occupancy (the first
night of residency or when personal property is moved into the Accommodation) or
(b) (the “Residency Date™). Resident has selected all interior
finishes (paint colors, carpeting and floor covering as may be necessary to prepare
the Accommodation for Resident) and has advised Arbor Acres of those selections.
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4. Resident’s Right to Rescind or Cancel Within the First Thirty
(30) Days or Resident’s Failure to Move to Arbor Acres.

(a) Within thirty (30} days following the later of the execution of this
Agreement or delivery of the Disclosure Statement (the “Rescission Period”),
Resident may rescind this Agreement by delivering to Arbor Acres a signed, written
notice of rescission. Resident is not required to move into the Accommodation
during the Rescission Period. If Resident dies before occupying the
Accommodation, or if, on account of illness, injury or incapacity Resident should be
precluded from occupying the Accommodation, this Agreement shall be
automatically cancelled. If this Agreement is neither rescinded nor cancelled and
Resident fails to move to Arbor Acres by the Residency Date, this Agreement may
be terminated by Arbor Acres or Resident upon written notice to the other.

(b) If Resident rescinds this Agreement, this Agreement is
automatically cancelled as described in Section 4(a) above or Resident fails to move
to Arbor Acres by the Residency Date and this Agreement is terminated by either
Arbor Acres or Resident, Resident or Resident’s legal representative will receive a
refund of the Entrance Fee, less the following: (i) the Nonrefundable Fee; (ii) any
Monthly Service Fees or other costs charged for the time Resident shall have resided
at Arbor Acres; and (ii1) those nonstandard costs specifically incurred by Arbor
Acres at the request of Resident and described in a signed addendum to this
Agreement. Payment of the refund is to be made from the Entrance Fee received by
Arbor Acres from the next occupant of the Accommodation.

5. Refund Upon Termination of Residency After the First 30 Davs
and Within 50 Months.

If Resident, for any reason, vacates and permanently terminates
residency at Arbor Acres after the Rescission Period and within fifty (50) months
following the Residency Date, Resident shall be entitled to a refund of the Entrance
Fee. This refund shall be determined as follows: upon receiving payment of an
Entrance Fee from an acceptable substitute resident for Resident’s Accommodation,
Arbor Acres will refund to Resident (or to Resident’s estate) the amount of
Resident’s Entrance Fee less the following: (a) the Nonrefundable Fee; (b) two
percent (2%) of the remainder (the Entrance Fee less the Nonrefundable Fee) for
each month, from the month of the Residency Date to the Date of Termination of
Occupancy (as defined in Section 6 below), up to the full refundable amount of
Resident’s Entrance Fee (for this purpose, one-half month or more shall be
considered as a full month; less than one-half month shall be disregarded); (c) any
unpaid Monthly Service Fees, costs or other obligations of Resident to Arbor Acres;
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and (d) those nonstandard costs specifically incurred by Arbor Acres at the request
of Resident and described in a signed addendum to this Agreement. Payment of the
refund is to be made from the Entrance Fee reccived by Arbor Acres from the next
occupant of the Accommodation. Resident shall receive no refund if Resident’s final
termination of all rights of residency at Arbor Acres occurs after the fifty (50) month
period following the Residency Date.

6. Notice of Termination of Occupancy.

If after moving to Arbor Acres and the expiration of the Rescission
Period, Resident should decide to terminate this Agreement and residency at Arbor
Acres, Resident will give Arbor Acres a minimum of thirty (30) days advance
written notice stating the date on which Resident plans to terminate residency. This
Agreement, and Resident’s obligation to pay the Monthly Service Fee and other
charges, shall continue in effect until Resident vacates the Accommodation and
removes all personal property from the premises or until the end of the thirty (30)
day notice period, whichever is later (the “Date of Termination of Occupancy”). If
Resident permanently vacates the Accommodation, Arbor Acres reserves the right
to remove Resident’s personal property from the Accommodation and store such
personal property, and Resident shall be responsible for the reasonable costs of such
removal and storage. Unclaimed personal property will become the property of
Arbor Acres after thirty (30) days, and Arbor Acres may dispose of such personal
property in its sole discretion,

7. Transfer to a Higher Level of Care Within 90 Days.

If within ninety (90) days after the Residency Date, Resident transfers
to Arbor Acres’ assisted living facility (the “Assisted Living Facility”) or Arbor
Acres’ skilled nursing facility (the “Skilled Nursing Facility”), Resident will be
entitled to a refund, which will be calculated as set out in Section 5 above. Resident
shall not be required to pay an additional Entrance Fee on transferring to the Assisted
Living Facility or the Skilled Nursing Facility.

8. Terms and Conditions of Initial Residency and Continued
Residency.

Resident shall have the right to occupy the Accommodation and to
reside at Arbor Acres subject to the provisions of this Agreement and subject to the
following understandings, terms and conditions:
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(a)  Health and Financial Qualification for Residency

At the time of the execution of this Agreement, Arbor Acres has
determined that Resident qualifies for residency both with respect to mental and
physical condition and ability to take care of the anticipated Monthly Service Fees
and other charges. Resident must continue to meet these qualifications at the time
Resident enters Arbor Acres. If Resident is not qualified to occupy the
Accommodation, but is qualified (financially and otherwise) to reside in other
accommodations at Arbor Acres, Resident shall be entitled to such accommodation
when space permits.

(b) Financial Obligation Including Obligation to Pay Fees and
Charges

In order to operate Arbor Acres on a fiscally sound, nonprofit
basis, Arbor Acres has established fees and charges, which are subject to
modification from time to time as deemed necessary and appropriate by Arbor
Acres. Resident agrees to pay when due all required fees and charges. Resident has
received from Arbor Acres a schedule of current fees and charges.

Resident agrees to provide, if requested, periodic financial
statements and current financial information for the purpose of demonstrating
capacity to meet financial obligations to Arbor Acres. Should Resident experience
financial difficulty that might result in Resident’s immediate or eventual inability to
meet the financial obligations under this Agreement, including any spend down of
assets that might result from payment of expected fees and charges to Arbor Acres,
Resident will inform Arbor Acres immediately, and submit a current financial
statement. Resident and, if appropriate, Resident’s responsible party, and Arbor
Acres shall discuss and, if possible, agree on a plan by which Resident’s financial
obligation to Arbor Acres can be met. Residents whose funds are depleted primarily
through payment of fees associated with residency, to include costs associated with
their medical care, may be eligible for consideration for financial assistance through
Arbor Acres. Such assistance, however, is conditional upon demonstration that other
options for fulfilling this financial obligation to Arbor Acres have been explored and
deemed impracticable by either party. When Resident is deemed eligible for
financial assistance through Arbor Acres, Arbor Acres, to the extent of its available
resources dedicated for financial assistance, will attempt to furnish financial
assistance when it is needed. Termination of residency for Resident’s inability to
fulfill the financial obligations incurred under this Agreement shall be an option
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exercised as necessary to assure the financial viability of Arbor Acres and of its
financial assistance program.

(c)  Rights and Obligations During Temporary Absence

Temporary absence because of illness, trips or otherwise shall
not affect Resident’s right to retain the Accommodation as Resident’s place of
residency. However, Resident shall not be entitled to an adjustment of Arbor Acres’
Monthly Service Fee and other charges during such absence, and Resident shall
continue to be charged and to pay such Monthly Service Fee and charges during such
absence.

(d) Requirement of Compliance with Recommendations for
Additional Services or Care

If Resident shall incur a physical or mental itlness or impairment
so that Resident requires additional services or a higher level of care than is available
at the Accommodation, Arbor Acres, through its nursing and continuing care staffs
(“Nursing and Continuing Care Staffs”), will make recommendations regarding
appropriate additional service options and/or options for transfer to a higher level of
care. Resident agrees (1) that Arbor Acres is obligated to assure the care and safety
of residents and, (ii) that Resident will comply with Nursing and Continuing Care
Staffs’ recommendations regarding additional services or transfer to a higher level
of care. If such additional services or higher level of care can be provided in a
different accommodation at Arbor Acres, Resident has a right, and may be required
by Arbor Acres, to move to such accommodation. Arbor Acres will recommend and
require such a move or additional services when, in the judgment of Arbor Acres, it
is necessary and in the best interest of Resident, Arbor Acres and/or the other
residents of Arbor Acres. Before any such move or additional services are required,
Arbor Acres will discuss the matter with Resident and/or Resident’s responsible
party in an effort to secure Resident’s understanding and cooperation with the
required additional services or change of accommodation or Ievel of care. Resident
and/or Resident’s responsible party shall have the right to appcal a decision to
change Resident’s accommodation and/or level of care in accordance with the
provisions of (i) below.

(e) Requirement of Compliance With Policies, Rules and Regulations

In order to operate Arbor Acres in the best interest of the entire
Arbor Acres community, Arbor Actres has established policies, rules and regulations
relating to residency, which are subject to modification from time to time as deemed
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appropriate by Arbor Acres. Resident has reccived information as to the current
policies, rules and regulations in the Disclosure Statement and in other written
information provided by Arbor Acres. Arbor Acres reserves the right to make or
change policies, rules and regulations, and will use its reasonable efforts to
communicate through appropriate means to all residents the substance and content
of such additions or changes; also, copies of particular policies, rules and regulations
relating to residency will be furnished to Resident on request. Resident agrees to
comply with Arbor Acres’ policies, rules and regulations applicable to Resident’s
residency in Arbor Acres.

(f)  Cooperation of Responsible Parties and Other Associates

Restdent understands and agrees that, in order for Arbor Acres to
operate in the best interest of both Resident and the entire Arbor Acres community,
Arbor Acres must have the cooperation of Resident’s family, friends, responsible
parties and other associates to comply with Arbor Acres’ applicable policies, rules
and regulations. Any continuing or repeated failure or refusal by any such persons
to so cooperate and comply may result in a determination by Arbor Acres that it is
no longer feasible for Arbor Acres to accommodate Resident as a resident. Upon
such determination, Arbor Acres will have a right to terminate Resident’s residency
at Arbor Acres.

(g) Termination of Residency for Health Conditions Beyond Arbor
Acres’ Capacity to Serve

If Resident’s physical and/or mental condition or needs cannot
be legally or adequately served by the facilities or programs available at Arbor
Acres, or Resident requires or insists upon receiving care that in the judgment of
Arbor Acres exceeds the capacity of Arbor Acres to provide within the limits of its
staffing pattern or other available resources, Arbor Acres reserves the right to
terminate Resident’s residency. If such a circumstance arises, Arbor Acres will
discuss the matter thoroughly with Resident and/or Resident’s responsible party in
an cffort to determine a course of action in Resident’s best interest. Arbor Acres will
provide guidance and transitional support to Resident and/or Resident’s responsible
party to facilitate an orderly transfer of Resident to another, more appropriate facility
or setting.
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(h)  Termination of Residency for Behavior Deemed Harmful to
Arbor Acres

If Resident is deemed competent and capable of controlling his
or her behaviors and engages in behaviors deemed by the President/CEO to be
disruptive, hostile, illegal, or otherwise harmful to others or to Arbor Acres, Arbor
Acres reserves the right to terminate Resident’s residency. If such a circumstance
arises, Arbor Acres will discuss the matter thoroughly with Resident to provide
Resident with knowledge of the behaviors deemed intolerable by Arbor Acres. Arbor
Acres will provide Resident a written warning to desist from the behavior or any
similarly disruptive, hostile, illegal or harmful behavior. Upon determination that
Resident is continuing to engage in the behaviors against which Resident has been
warned, Arbor Acres will have the right to terminate Resident’s residency at Arbor
Acres.

(1)  Right of Appeal of Transfer or Termination Decisions

While Arbor Acres reserves the right to terminate Resident’s
residency at Arbor Acres for failure to comply with (b), {d)}, (e}, (f), (g) or (h) above,
or for failure to comply with any other provision of this Agreement, Arbor Acres
shall exercise such right only after first attempting to work out satisfactory solutions
with Resident and/or Resident’s responsible party. If agreement cannot be reached
between the President/CEQO and Resident and/or Resident’s responsible party, the
President/CEO will refer the matter to the Executive Committee of the Board of
Directors of Arbor Acres (the “Executive Committee”) for hearing and decision. The
Executive Committee shall afford Resident an opportunity to be heard, and shall
render a decision with respect to the matter referred to it. The decision of the
Executive Committee shall be put in writing and shall be signed by the Chair of the
Board of Directors of Arbor Acres (the “Chair”) or, in the absence of the Chair, the
Chair Elect of the Board of Directors of Arbor Acres. It is understood and agreed
that the written, signed decision of the Executive Committee shall be final and
binding.

(G) Terms and Conditions of Initial Residency and Continued
Residency

Arbor Acres reserves the right to relocate Resident to another
accommodation when deemed necessary in order for Arbor Acres to fulfill its
strategic financial and other obligations to the Arbor Acres community. Arbor Acres
will exercise this right only when all other reasonable options to avoid relocating
Resident have been considered. Arbor Acres will use reasonable efforts to relocate
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Resident to an accommodation of the same or similar type as Resident’s
Accommodation. Any such decision to relocate Resident will be discussed
thoroughly with Resident in order to enlist Resident’s understanding of the need for
and cooperation with the relocation. Arbor Acres will pay all required packing and
moving costs, and all reasonable refurbishing costs necessary to achieve substantial
comparability between the Accommodation and any new accommodation to which
Resident may be relocated. Any decision to relocate Resident for the sake of
enabling Arbor Acres to fulfill its strategic financial and other obligations to the
Arbor Acres community may be appealed to the Executive Committee as outlined
in (1) above.

(k)  Termination of Residency If Listed on a Sex Offender Registry

Resident hereby acknowledges that it is the policy of Arbor
Acres to conduct sex offender screening for every prospective resident, regardless
of independent status or level of care, at the time of application for admission to
Arbor Acres and again prior to entering into a Residency Agreement. If the
screening shows that the prospective resident is identified as a sex offender, Arbor
Acres will deny admission of Resident on that basis and not execute a Residency
Agreement. In addition, Resident hereby acknowledges and agrees that if, after
Arbor Acres and Resident have entered into a Residency Agreement, Arbor Acres
becomes aware that Resident is listed on any sex offender registry, Arbor Acres may
terminate this Agreement with Resident and remove Resident from Arbor Acres. If
there is more than one resident who is a party to this Agreement, the termination of
this Agreement in such instance shall only apply to the resident listed on the sex
offender registry.

(1)  Healthcare Outside of Arbor Acres

Arbor Acres assumes no obligation or responsibility for the
provision of residential or nursing or health care facilities or services to Resident
beyond those facilities and services from time to time established and provided by
Arbor Acres.

(m) Personal Belongings
Arbor Acres will not be responsible for the loss of or damage to
any property belonging to Resident due to theft, mysterious disappearance, fire,

employee accident, or any other cause. It is understood that Resident has the
responsibility of providing any desired insurance protection covering any such loss.

WBD (US) 464518496



9.

Standard Services to be Provided.

Arbor Acres agrees to provide standard services to Resident at no
additional cost beyond the Monthly Service Fee, and has informed Resident of these
services and other services through written information available to all residents. At
the time of execution of this Agreement, the standard services include:

ey
(2)
(3)
(4)
(3)
(6)
(7)

(8)

)
(10)

(11)
(12)

(13)

Maintenance of buildings and grounds, including maintenance of
all standard equipment in the Accommodation;

Utilities, as described below;

Basic cable streaming television and internet service;

Telephone jacks, if requested;

Emergency call system, nursing assessments and assistance in
emergencies;

Routine consultation regarding health concerns with nursing
personnel in the health clinic of Arbor Acres;

Recreational, educational, cultural, wellness and spiritual life
programs, to the extent provided by Arbor Acres;
Transportation to routine, non-emergency medical appointments
within Forsyth County (transportation by ambulance not
included);

In-patient care in the Arbor Acres Health Center for a limited
number of days;

Weekly housekeeping and annual deep cleaning of the
Accommodation;

Laundering of bed and bath linens furnished by Arbor Acres;
Security personnel on duty in the Arbor Acres Welcome Center;
and

Dining services with meals or a meal allowance, as included in
the Monthly Service Fee.

Water and sewer services are included in the Monthly Service Fee.
Electricity and gas is also included, except for residents in accommodations that are
individually metered who are billed directly by the gas and electricity service
providers. Resident has been informed that the Accommodation (is/is not)
individually metered. Resident has been informed in writing of the terms applicable
to Resident’s meal plan.

Other services that are available and included in the Monthly Service
Fee are a daily, automatic check-in system, check-cashing services, package
shipping, access to washers/dryers and complete kitchens and sitting areas.
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Arbor Acres may also make available to Resident additional services,
at Resident’s request, at the then prevailing rates charged by Arbor Acres, which
may be changed from time to time at the discretion of Arbor Acres.

Arbor Acres residents pay Monthly Service Fees and other charges to
cover services provided by Arbor Acres. At least annually, during budget
preparation, Arbor Acres reviews services and costs of operation, and the need for
any changes in services or in Arbor Acres’ schedule of fees and charges. Arbor Acres
reserves the right to change, when deemed necessary, the services provided to
residents and the associated fees and charges. Arbor Acres will strive to deliver
services efficiently and economically.

10.  Alterations and Refurbishment.

Resident must obtain the prior written approval of Arbor Acres before
making any alterations to the Accommodation. Customary refurbishment costs of
the Accommodation that are provided by Arbor Acres in accordance with its policies
and procedures are included in the Monthly Service Fee. Any refurbishment costs
beyond Arbor Acres’ customary refurbishment costs shall be the responsibility of
Resident.

11. Transfer to Higher Level of Care.

Resident shall have priority over non-residents for entry into the
Assisted Living Facility or the Skilled Nursing Facility. Although Arbor Acres
cannot guarantee Resident entry into the Assisted Living Facility or the Skilled
Nursing Facility, Arbor Acres will use its reasonable efforts to accommodate
Resident’s entry. If Resident requires a higher level of care, and the Assisted Living
Facility and the Skilled Nursing Facility are fully occupied, Resident shall relocate
to an alternate healthcare facility. In the event of such relocation, Arbor Acres will
use reasonable efforts to transfer Resident to the Assisted Living Facility or the
Skilled Nursing Facility when accommodations become available. Resident shall be
responsible for all fees, costs and expenses. If Resident’s transfer to the Assisted
Living Facility, the Skilled Nursing Facility or an alternate healthcare facility is
temporary, Resident shall remain responsible for the Monthly Service Fee; however,
Resident shall not be responsible for the Monthly Service Fee if such relocation is
permanent. In the event that there are two Residents in the Accommodation, and
only one Resident permanently transfers to a higher level of care, the remaining
Resident will pay the Monthly Service Fee for single occupancy in addition to all
other costs and charges.
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12,  Application for Benefits; Assignment of Benefits.

Resident shall apply for any federal, state or local benefits for which
Resident may be eligible or entitled upon request by Arbor Acres. If requested by
Arbor Acres, any or all such benefits will be applied to the Monthly Service Fee or
other charges incurred by Resident at Arbor Acres.

13. Health Insurance.

Resident shall maintain eligible Medicare coverage (and supplemental
health insurance coverage}) or other health insurance coverage that adequately covers
hospital, medical, prescriptions and skilled nursing deductibles and co-payments
required under Resident’s primary insurance policy. Resident’s primary and
secondary insurance coverage must recognize Arbor Acres as a healthcare provider,
or Resident shall be responsible for services rendered that otherwise could be
covered by insurance.,

If Resident’s health insurance coverage lapses, Arbor Acres may
require Resident to reapply for suitable insurance coverage, If Resident is unable to
obtaln suitable insurance coverage, Resident shall be responsible for any healthcare
services rendered that otherwise could be covered by insurance. Upon request by
Arbor Acres, Resident shall provide evidence of health insurance coverage.

14. Medicare-Certified Skilled Nursing Facility Beds.

Arbor Acres maintains a limited number of Medicare-certified beds in
the Skilled Nursing Facility, which are available for use by residents whose skilled
nursing care would qualify for Medicare payment on an “if and as available” basis.
In the event that Resident needs admission and the admission would qualify for
Medicare payment, then Resident’s financial responsibility to Arbor Acres will
depend upon the type of Medicare coverage that Resident has and whether Arbor
Acres is a contractual provider for Resident’s coverage.

(a) Medicare-certified bed is not available.

In the event that there is not a Medicare-certified bed at Arbor Acres at
the time that Resident requires admission, then Resident may either choose to obtain
skilled nursing care services at another healthcare facility at Resident’s cost until
such time as a Medicare-certified bed becomes available at Arbor Acres (presuming
that Resident would use a facility that could provide a Medicare-certified bed) or be
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admitted to a bed in the Skilled Nursing Facility at Resident’s cost which is not
certified to accept Medicare payment until such time as a Medicare-certified bed
becomes available at Arbor Acres.

(b)  Medicare-certified bed is available and Resident has traditional
Medicare.

If Resident is admitted to a Medicare-certified bed in the Skilled
Nursing Facility and Resident has traditional Medicare coverage, Arbor Acres will
accept the Medicare reimbursement amount for such care while Resident shall be
responsible for any applicable deductible, co-payment and/or co-insurance amounts
that are not paid by Medicare and any supplemental Medicare insurance that
Resident maintains.

(¢) Medicare-certified bed is available and Resident has Medicare
Advantage coverage for which Arbor Acres is an in-network
provider.

In the event that Arbor Acres is an in-network provider for Resident’s
Medicare Advantage coverage, then Arbor Acres will accept the reimbursement
amount from Resident’s Medicare Advantage insurance carrier while Resident shall
be responsible for any deductible, co-payment and/or co-insurance amounts that are
not paid by the Medicare Advantage insurance that Resident maintains.

(d) Medicare-certified bed is available and Resident has Medicare
Advantage coverage for which Arbor Acres is not an in-network
provider.

Arbor Acres will charge Resident the full private-payment amount for
Resident’s admission into a Medicare-certified bed and credit against Resident’s
financial obligation to Arbor Acres the amount that is paid by Resident’s Medicare
Advantage insurance if the insurance provides an out-of-network benefit. In the
event that Resident’s Medicare Advantage insurance will not pay any amount to an
out-of-network provider, then Resident will not be admitted to a Medicare-certified
bed at Arbor Acres. A full private-pay Resident in a Medicare-certified bed may be
required by Arbor Acres to relocate to a bed that is not Medicare certified when such
a bed becomes available.
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15. United Methodist Affiliation.

Arbor Acres is affiliated with the Western North Carolina Annual
Conference of The United Methodist Church, which is not responsible for the
financial and contractual obligations of Arbor Acres.

16. Required Documents.

Resident agrees to keep in effect an appropriate Durable Power of
Attorney or other designation of responsible party, and agrees to provide copies of
the following documents to Arbor Acres by the first day of residency, and deliver
any changes to such documents to Arbor Acres during Resident’s residency at Arbor
Acres: (a) health insurance coverage information; (b) copy of current Durable Power
of Attorney for business management; (c) copy of current Health Care Power of
Attorney and Living Will; and (d) evidence of the executor or other legally
responsible person of Resident’s estate, such as a copy of Resident’s will
documenting the name of the executor of his or her estate.

17. Multiple Residents.

(a)  Joint and Several Liability

When Resident includes more than one individual, the rights and
obligations under this Agreement are joint and several.

(b)  Transfer, Death or Termination by One Resident

If two Residents occupy a single Accommodation under the terms of
this Agreement and one Resident permanently transfers to the Assisted Living
Facility or the Skilled Nursing Facility, dies or terminates this Agreement, this
Agreement shall continue with respect to the remaining Resident, and such Resident
shall have the option to remain in the same Accommodatton or relocate to a smaller
accommodation, and in such event the remaining Resident shall not be entitled to
any refund. The remaining Resident shall be responsible for the Monthly Service
Fee for one resident associated with the Accommodation occupied by such Resident.

(¢c)  Sharing Occupancy After Entry

If Resident, while occupying the Accommodation, desires to share an
accommodation with another resident of Arbor Acres, the two residents may occupy
the accommodation of either resident, with the prior written consent of Arbor Acres.
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In such event, the residents shall surrender the other accommodation and no refund
shall be paid for such surrender. Thereafter, Resident and the other resident shall pay
the Monthly Service Fee associated with the occupied accommodation for double
occupancy.

If Resident, while occupying the Accommodation, desires to share an
accommodation with a person who is not a resident of Arbor Acres (the “Non-
Resident”), the Non-Resident must meet the then current requirements for admission
to Arbor Acres, enter into the then current version of the Residency Agreement, and
pay the then current second person entrance fee. Thereafter, Resident and the new
resident shall pay the Monthly Service Fee associated with the occupied
accommodation for double occupancy. If the Non-Resident does not meet the
requirements contained in this paragraph, Resident may voluntarily terminate this
Agreement as provided in this Agreement. If Resident subsequently transfers to the
Assisted Living Facility or the Skilled Nursing Facility, dies or terminates this
Agreement, the new resident shall be responsible to pay the full, then-current
Entrance Fee for the Accommodation occupied by such new resident, less the second
person entrance fee previously paid by the new resident.

(dy  Combination of Accommodation

If Arbor Acres determines that it is desirable to combine the
Accommodation with an adjoining accommodation, Resident agrees to surrender
occupancy of the Accommodation within a reasonable time after receiving notice
from Arbor Acres. In such event, Resident shall have the option to transfer into the
combined accommodation when ready for occupancy or transfer to another
accommodation, when available, of the same or similar type previously occupied by
Resident. If Resident elects to occupy the combined accommodation, Resident shall
be responsible for the Monthly Service Fee associated with occupancy of such
accommodation.

18. Moving Costs.

Resident is responsible for any and all packing and moving costs
incurred by Resident for moves into, within and out of Arbor Acres, except as
provided in Section 8(j) above. Arbor Acres may provide assistance at an additional
cost. Arbor Acres reserves the right to charge an administrative fee for Resident’s
move within Arbor Acres.
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19. Entire Agreement.

This Agreement, together with any Arbitration Agreement between
Resident and Arbor Acres, contain the entire agrecment of Arbor Acres and
Resident. Arbor Acres will not be liable or bound in any manner by any statements,
representations, or promises made by any person representing or claiming to
represent Arbor Acres, unless such statements, representations, or promises are set
forth in this Agreement.

20. Capacity.
This Agreement has been executed on behalf of Arbor Acres by Arbor

Acres’ duly authorized agent, and no officer, trustee, agent or employee of Arbor
Acres shall have any personal liability to Resident under this Agreement.

21.  Amendments and Modifications.

This Agreement shall not be modified, amended or changed in any
respect except in writing signed by Arbor Acres and Resident. Each waives any right
to amend this Agreement in any other way. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Arbor
Acres may amend this Agreement to ensure compliance with applicable laws and
regulations.

22.  Waiver.

Neither the failure nor any delay on the part of any party to exercise any
right, remedy, power or privilege (“Right”) under this Agreement shall operate as a
waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial waiver of any Right preclude any
exercise of the same or of any other Right. No waiver shall be in effect unless in
writing and signed by the party asserted to have granted such waiver.

23.  Severability.

The invalidity of any restriction, condition or other provision of this
Agreement, or any part of the same, shall not impair or affect in any way the validity
or enforceability of the rest of this Agreement.
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24. Interpretation.

The headings in this Agreement are for convenience and reference only,
and shall not affect the interpretation of any provision of this Agreement.

25.  Successors and Assigns.

Except as set forth herein, this Agreement shall bind and inure to the
benefit of the successors and assigns of Arbor Acres and the heirs, executors,
responsible parties, attorneys-in-fact and administrators of Resident.

26. Assignment.

This Agreement may not be assigned by Resident,

27. Indemnity.

Resident agrees to indemnify, defend and hold Arbor Acres harmless
from any and all claims, damages or expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees
and court costs) resulting or arising from any injury or death to persons and/or
damages caused by, resulting from or attributable to or in any way connected with,
directly or indirectly, the act or omission of Resident or Resident’s guests, including
private duty nurses, companions or others. This Section 27 shall survive termination
of this Agreement.

28. Governing Law: Venue; Disputes.

This Agreement shall be governed by, interpreted, construed and
enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of North Carolina, without giving
effect to any choice of law or conflict of law rules or provisions that would cause the
application of laws or any jurisdiction other than North Carolina. Except to the extent
that the parties have agreed to an alternative mechanism for the resolution of a
dispute, to the full extent permitted by law, any action, suit or proceeding arising out
of or relating to this Agreement shall be brought and enforced in the courts of the
State of North Carolina located in Forsyth County or of the United States District
Court for the Middle District of North Carolina, and the parties hereby irrevocably
submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of such courts and irrevocably waive any
objection that they may now or hereafter have to the laying of venue of any such
action or proceeding in such courts. In the event of any such dispute, the non-
prevailing party shall pay all reasonable costs, expenses and attorneys’ fees incurred
by the prevailing party.

17

WBD (US) 46451849v6



29.  Survival,

Those rights and obligations that have accrued under this Agreement
shall survive its termination, as shall those rights and obligations that by their terms
survive termination and any provisions that must survive to give effect to their terms,
as shall any obligation of Resident to pay costs or expenses of his or her residency
at Arbor Acres that remain unpaid as of such termination.

30. Management of Arbor Acres.

The absolute rights of management are reserved by Arbor Acres and its
Board of Directors. Arbor Acres reserves the right to accept or reject any person as
a resident. Residents do not have the right to determine admission or terms of
acceptance of any other resident.

31. Uncontrollable Interruption of Services.

No breach of Arbor Acres’ obligations under this Agreement and no
liability for injury to Resident or Resident’s property shall result from an interruption
of, or failure to provide, contracted services due to an act of God or other cause
beyond the reasonable control of Arbor Acres, specifically including (without
limitation) strikes or other forms of labor disturbances, government regulations
and/or embargoes, shortages of labor or materials, fire, flood, earthquakes, inclement
weather or acts of the Resident. Arbor Acres shall make reasonable efforts to
continue to provide the usual services in such event.

32. Confidentiality.

Arbor Acres has the responsibility to keep all of the personal, medical,
and financial information Resident has supplied to Arbor Acres confidential.
Resident agrees that Arbor Acres can disclose such information to those who have a
need, in Arbor Acres’ judgment, or right to know.

33. Rights Subordinate to Morteage.

Pursuant to the requirements of any lender, Resident agrees that
Resident’s rights under this Agreement are subordinate to the right of the lender
under any mortgage, deed of trust or security interest executed now or in the future
by Arbor Acres.
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34.  Notice Provisions.

Notices required by this Agreement will be in writing and delivered
either by personal delivery or mail. If delivered by mail, notices will be sent by
certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, with all postage and charges
prepaid. Notices and other communications will be deemed to have been given when
delivered by personal delivery or if mailed, such notice shall be deemed to have been
given on the third business day after being deposited in the United States mail,
postage prepaid. All notices and other written communications requited under this
Agreement will be addressed to Resident or to Resident’s personal representative at
the address provided to Arbor Acres. Notices shall be sent to us at the following
address:

Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc.
1240 Arbor Road

Winston-Salem, NC 27104

Attention: President and CEO

Resident’s address for the purpose of giving notice is the address

appearing after Resident’s signature below or such other address Resident provides
to Arbor Acres in writing.

[Signature Page Follows]
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1L Contract
Resident has executed this Agreement and Arbor Acres has caused this Agreement

to be executed in its name by a duly authorized person as of the day and year written
above.

Resident Signature:

Resident Signature:

Resident Address:

Street Address

City, State & Zip Code

ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC.

By:
PRESIDENT/CEO

Signature Page to Arbor Acres Independent Living Residency Agreement

Revised May 31, 2019



AL Contract

NORTH CAROLINA)
: ) AGREEMENT
FORSYTH COUNTY)
THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into this______ day of , 20 , by and
between (“Resident”) and ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT

COMMUNITY, INC., a North Carolina nonprofit corporation (“Arbor Acres”).

Resident has applied and been approved for residency at Arbor Acres in
room number (the “Accommodation™), and has received a copy of Arbor Acres’ Dlsclosure
Statement, dated (the “Disclosure Statement”),

Resident and Arbor Acres agree to the following;

1. Entrance Fee and Daily Fee.

The Entrance Fee established by Arbor Acres for residency in Arbor Acres’ assisted living
facility (the “Assisted Living Facility™), where it is anticipated Resident will reside, is TWO THOUSAND
EIGHT HUNDRED DOLLARS AND NO/100 Dollars ($2,800.00) (the “Entrance Fee™), the amount being paid
by Resident herewith in full. (The Entrance Fee is separate and distinct from Arbor Acres’ fees and charges to
residents for food, maintenance, medical, nursing and other services.) The Entrance Fee for residency in the
Assisted Living Facility is a non-refundable fee except as provided in Section 5. If Resident moves to an
independent living unit, the Entrance Fee will be applied toward the Entrance Fee for that unit as provided in
Section 7(1).

Resident agrees to pay the initial daily fee (the “Daily Fee”), which is the established daily fee as of the
date on this Agreement, and which is subject to change from time to time. Rates are typically adjusted January
1% of each year. Gratuities or bequests in addition to the established Daily Fee shall not be accepted. As of the
date of this Agreement, the Daily Fee associated with the Accommodation will be:

Daily Fec

Daily Fee for Resident (includes meals, laundry and utilities) $

2. Monthly Statements.

Arbor Acres will furnish Resident a monthly statement with the total amount of the Daily Fee
and other charges, if any, owed by Resident. Resident shall pay such fees and charges by the 10™ day of the
month. If Resident’s payment is late, Arbor Acres may charge Resident a one and one-half percent (1.5%)
interest fee per month, from the first of the month in which the payment is late. Upon thirty (30) days’ advance
written notice, Arbor Acres may change the billing date and payment due date. Arbor Acres shall have the right
to offset against any Entrance Fee repayment any unpaid Daily Fees or other charges owed by Resident to
Arbor Acres.

3, Room Assignment,
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Resident understands that Resident acquires no ownership interest in any property at Arbor
Acres under this Agreement; also, that no particular room or unit in the Assisted Living Facility is subject to
reservation or permanent assignment, and that Arbor Acres may change Resident’s room assignment in the
Assisted Living Facility. Though Arbor Acres retains the right to change Resident’s room assignment, Arbor
Acres agrees that it will make changes only as Arbor Acres finds such changes to be necessary or advisable.

4, Initial Occupancy.

Arbor Acres anticipates having the Accommodation ready for occupancy by
Resident is not required to move into the Accommodation before it is ready for occupancy, or before the
expiration of thirty (30) days from the date of this Agreement, whichever is later, Resident plans to move into
the Accommodation on or before (the “Occupancy Date™). If Resident should wish to change the
Occupancy Date, Resident will advise Arbor Acres immediately (on or before the Occupancy Date). Upon
receipt of Resident’s request, and if Arbor Acres determines that another date is feasible, Arbor Acres will
undertake to work out with Resident another mutually agreeable Occupancy Date. Resident agrees to pay
Arbor Acres’ Daily Fees and other charges for use of the Accommodation from the earlier of (a) the date of
actual occupancy (the first night of residency or when personal property is moved into the Accommodation) or
(b) (the “Residency Date™).

5. Resident’s Right to Rescind or Cancel Within the First Thirty (30) Davs or Resident’s
Failure to Move to Arbor Acres.

(a) Within thirty (30) days following the later of the execution of this Agreement or delivery of
the Disclosure Statement (the “Rescission Period”), Resident may rescind this Agreement by delivering to
Arbor Acres a signed, written notice of rescission. Resident is not required to move into the Accommodation
during the Rescission Period. If Resident dies before occupying the Accommodation, or if, on account of
illness, injury or incapacity Resident should be precluded from occupying the Accommodation, this Agreement
shall be automatically cancelied. If this Agreement is neither rescinded nor cancelled and Resident fails to
move to Arbor Acres by the Residency Date, this Agreement may be terminated by Arbor Acres or Resident
upon written notice to the other,

(b) If Resident rescinds this Agreement, this Agreement is automatically cancelled as described
in Section 5(a) above or Resident fails to move to Arbor Acres by the Residency Date and this Agreement is
terminated by either Arbor Acres or Resident, Resident or Resident’s legal representative will receive a refund
of the Entrance Fee, less the following: (i) any Daily Fees or other costs charged for the time Resident shall
have resided at Arbor Acres; and (ii) those nonstandard costs specifically incurred by Arbor Acres at the request
of Resident and described in a signed addendum to this Agreement. Payment of the refund is to be made from
the Entrance Fee received by Arbor Acres from the next occupant of the Accommodation.

6. Notice of Termination of Occupancy.

If after moving to Arbor Acres and the expiration of the Rescission Period, Resident should
decide to terminate this Agreement and residency at Arbor Acres, Resident will give Arbor Acres a minimum of
fourteen (14) days advance written notice stating the date on which Resident plans to terminate residency. This
Agreement, and Resident’s obligation to pay the Daily Fee and other charges, shall continue in effect until
Resident vacates the Accommodation or until the end of the fourteen (14) day notice period, whichever is later
(the “Date of Termination of Occupancy”). If Resident permanently vacates the Accommodation, Arbor Acres
reserves the right to remove Resident’s personal property from the Accommodation and store such personal
property, and Resident shall be responsible for the reasonable costs of such removal and storage. Unclaimed
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personal property will become the property of Arbor Acres after thirty (30) days, and Arbor Acres may dispose
of such personal property in its sole discretion.

7. Terms and Conditions of Initial Residency and Continued Residency.

Resident shall have the right to occupy the Accommodation and to reside at Arbor Acres subject
to the provisions of this Agreement and subject to the following understandings, tetms and conditions:

(a) Health and Financial Qualification for Residency

At the time of the execution of this Agreement, Arbor Acres has determined that Resident
qualifies for residency both with respect to mental and physical condition and ability to take care of the
anticipated Daily Fees and other charges. Resident must continue to meet these qualifications at the time
Resident enters Arbor Acres. If Resident is not qualified to occupy the Accommodation, but is qualified
(financially and otherwise) to reside in other accommodations at Arbor Acres, Resident shall be entitled to such
accommodation when space permits.

(b}  Financial Obligation Including Obligaiion to Pay Fees and Charges

In order to operate Arbor Acres on a fiscally sound, nonprofit basis, Arbor Acres has
established fees and charges, which are subject to modification from time to time as deemed necessary and
appropriate by Arbor Acres. Resident agrees to pay when due all required fees and charges. Resident has
received from Arbor Acres a schedule of current fees and charges.

Resident agrees to provide, if requested, periodic financial statements and current
financial information for the purpose of demonstrating capacity to meet financial obligations to Arbor Acres.
Should Resident experience financial difficulty that might result in Resident’s immediate or eventual inability to
meet the financial obligations under this Agreement, including any spend down of assets that might result from
payment of expected fees and charges to Arbor Acres, Resident will inform Arbor Acres immediately, and
submit a current financial statement. Resident and, if appropriate, Resident’s responsible party, and Arbor Acres
shall discuss and, if possible, agree on a plan by which Resident’s financial obligation to Arbor Acres can be
met. Residents whose funds are depleted primarily through payment of fees associated with residency, to
include costs associated with their medical care, may be eligible for consideration for financial assistance
through Arbor Acres. Such assistance, however, is conditional upon demonstration that other options for
fulfilling this financial obligation to Arbor Acres have been explored and deemed impracticable by either party.
When Resident is deemed eligible for financial assistance through Arbor Acres, Arbor Acres, to the extent of its
available resources dedicated for financial assistance, will attempt to furnish financial assistance when it is
needed. Termination of residency for Resident’s inability to fulfill the financial obligations incurred under this
Agreement shall be an option exercised as necessary to assure the financial viability of Arbor Acres and of its
financial assistance program,

(c)  Rights and Obligations During Temporary Absence

Temporary absence because of illness, trips or otherwise shall not affect Resident’s right
to retain the Accommodation as Resident’s place of residency. However, Resident shall not be entitled to an
adjustment of Arbor Acres’ Daily Fee and other charges during such absence, and Resident shall continue to be
charged and to pay such Daily Fee and charges during such absence.

(&)  Requirement of Compliance with Recommendations for Additional Services or Care
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If Resident shall incur a physical or mental illness or impairment so that Resident
requires additional services or a higher level of care than is available at the Accommodation, Arbor Acres,
through its nursing and continuing care staffs (“Nursing and Continning Care Staffs”), will make
recommendations regarding appropriate additional service options and/or options for transfer to a higher level
of care. Resident agrees (i) that Arbor Acres is obligated to assure the care and safety of residents and, (ii) that
Resident will comply with Nursing and Continuing Care Staffs’ recommendations regarding additional services
or transfer to a higher level of care. If such additional services or higher level of care can be provided in a
different accommodation at Arbor Acres, Resident has a right, and may be required by Arbor Acres, to move to
such accommodation. Arbor Acres will recommend and require such a move or additional services when, in the
judgment of Arbor Acres, it is necessary and in the best interest of Resident, Arbor Acres and/or the other
residents of Artbor Acres. Before any such move or additional services are required, Arbor Acres will discuss
the matter with Resident and/or Resident’s responsible party in an effort to secure Resident’s understanding and
cooperation with the required additional services or change of accommodation or level of care. Resident and/or
Resident’s responsible party shall have the right to appeal a decision to change Resident’s accommodation
and/or level of care in accordance with the provisions of (i) below.

(e) Requirement of Compliance With Policies, Rules and Regulations

In order to operate Arbor Acres in the best interest of the entire Arbor Acres community,
Arbor Acres has established policies, rules and regulations relating to residency, which are subject to
modification from time to time as deemed appropriate by Arbor Acres. Resident has received information as to
the current policies, rules and regulations in the Disclosure Statement and in other written information provided
by Arbor Acres. Arbor Acres reserves the right to make or change policies, rules and regulations, and will use
its reasonable efforts to communicate through appropriate means to all residents the substance and content of
such additions or changes; also, copies of particular policies, rules and regulations relating to residency will be
furnished to Resident on request. Resident agrees to comply with Arbor Acres’ policies, rules and regulations
applicable to Resident’s residency in Arbor Acres.

{f) Cooperation of Responsible Parties and Other Associates

Resident understands and agrees that, in order for Arbor Acres to operate in the best
interest of both Resident and the entire Arbor Acres community, Arbor Acres must have the cooperation of
Resident’s family, friends, responsible parties and other associates to comply with Arbor Acres’ applicable
policies, rules and regulations. Any continuing or repeated failure or refusal by any such persons to so cooperate
and comply may result in a determination by Arbor Acres that it is no longer feasible for Arbor Acres to
accommodate Resident as a resident. Upon such determination, Arbor Acres will have a right to terminate
Resident’s residency at Arbor Acres.

() Termination of Residency for Health Conditions Beyond Arbor Acres’ Capacity to Serve

If Resident’s physical and/or mental condition or needs cannot be legally or adequately
served by the facilities or programs available at Arbor Acres, or Resident requires or insists upon receiving care
that in the judgment of Arbor Acres exceeds the capacity of Arbor Acres to provide within the limits of its
staffing pattern or other available resources, Arbor Acres reserves the right to terminate Resident’s residency. If
such a circumstance arises, Arbor Acres will discuss the matter thoroughly with Resident and/or Resident’s
responsible party in an effort to determine a course of action in Resident’s best interest. Atbor Acres will
provide guidance and transitional support to Resident and/or Resident’s responsible party to facilitate an orderly
transfer of Resident to another, more appropriate facility or setting.
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(h) Termination of Residency for Behavior Deemed Harmful io Arbor Acres

If Resident is deemed competent and capable of controlling his or her behaviors and
engages in behaviors deemed by the President/CEO to be disruptive, hostile, illegal, or otherwise harmful to
others or to Arbor Acres, Arbor Acres reserves the right to terminate Resident’s residency. If such a
circumstance arises, Arbor Acres will discuss the matter thoroughly with Resident to provide Resident with
knowledge of the behaviors deemed intolerable by Arbor Acres. Arbor Acres will provide Resident a written
warning to desist from the behavior or any similarly disruptive, hostile, illegal or harmful behavior. Upon
determination that Resident is continuing to engage in the behaviors against which Resident has been warned,
Arbor Acres will have the right to terminate Resident’s residency at Arbor Acres.

() Right of Appeal of Transfer or Termination Decisions

While Arbor Acres reserves the right to terminate Resident’s residency at Arbor Acres
for failure to comply with (b), (d), (e), (f), (g) or (h) above, or for failure to comply with any other provision of
this Agreement, Arbor Acres shall exercise such right only after first attempting to work out satisfactory
solutions with Resident and/or Resident’s responsible party. If agreement cannot be reached between the
President/CEO and Resident and/or Resident’s responsible party, the President/CEO will refer the matter to the
Executive Committee of the Board of Directors of Arbor Acres (the “Executive Committee”) for hearing and
decision. The Executive Committee shall afford Resident an opportunity to be heard, and shall render a decision
with respect to the matter referred to it. The decision of the Executive Committee shall be put in writing and
shall be signed by the Chair of the Board of Directors of Arbor Acres (the “Chair”) or, in the absence of the
Chair, the Chair Elect of the Board of Directors of Arbor Acres. It is understood and agreed that the written,
signed decision of the Executive Committee shall be final and binding,

() Terms and Conditions of Initial Residency and Continued Residency

Arbor Acres reserves the right to relocate Resident to another accommodation when
deemed necessary in order for Arbor Acres to fulfill its strategic financial and other obligations to the Arbor
Acres community. Arbor Acres will exercise this right only when all other reasonable options to avoid
relocating Resident have been considered. Arbor Acres will use reasonable efforts to relocate Resident to an
accommodation of the same or similar type as Resident’s Accommodation. Any such decision to relocate
Resident will be discussed thoroughly with Resident in order to enlist Resident’s understanding of the need for
and cooperation with the relocation. Arbor Acres will pay all required packing and moving costs, and all
reasonable refurbishing costs necessary to achieve substantial comparability between the Accommodation and
any new accommodation to which Resident may be relocated. Any decision to relocate Resident for the sake of
enabling Arbor Acres to fulfill its strategic financial and other obligations to the Arbor Acres community may
be appealed to the Executive Committee as outlined in (i) above.

(k) Termination of Residency If Listed on a Sex Offender Registry

Resident hereby acknowledges that it is the policy of Arbor Acres to conduct sex
offender screening for every prospective resident, regardless of independent status or level of care, at the time
of application for admission to Arbor Acres and again prior to entering into a Residency Agreement. If the
screening shows that the prospective resident is identified as a sex offender, Arbor Acres will deny admission of
Resident on that basis and not execute a Residency Agreement. In addition, Resident hereby acknowledges and
agrees that if, after Arbor Acres and Resident have entered into a Residency Agreement, Arbor Acres becomes
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aware that Resident is listed on any sex offender registry, Arbor Acres may terminate this Agreement with
Resident and remove Resident from Arbor Acres.

(Y] Relocation to Independent Living

If Resident’s health should improve sufficiently to permit Resident to live in a residential
unit at Arbor Acres other than in Arbor Acres’ skilled nursing facility (the “Skilled Nursing Facility”) or the
Assisted Living Facility, such a move may be made subject to availability of a unit, payment of the entrance fee
established for the unit, less the Entrance Fee, and execution of an appropriate Independent Living Residency
Agreement.

(m)  Healthcare Outside of Arbor Acres
Arbor Acres assumes no obligation or responsibility for the provision of residential or
nursing or health care facilities or services to Resident beyond those facilities and services from time to time
established and provided by Arbor Acres.
(n)  Personal Belongings
Arbor Acres will not be responsible for the loss of or damage to any property belonging
to Resident due to theft, mysterious disappearance, fire, employee accident, or any other cause. It is understood

that Resident has the responsibility of providing any desired insurance protection covering any such loss.

8. Standard Services to be Provided.

Arbor Acres agrees to provide standard services to Resident at no additional cost beyond the
Daily Fee, and has informed Resident of these services and other services through written information available
to all residents. At the time of execution of this Agreement, the standard services include:

(1)  Nursing supervision (in accordance with regulatory standards; does not include private
duty or individual nurse for each resident), prescribed medication administration and
assistance with activities of daily living;

(2)  Maintenance of buildings and grounds, including maintenance of all standard equipment
in the Accommodation;

(3)  Utilities, as described below;

(4)  Basic cable television and internet service;

(5)  Telephone jacks; emergency call system, and assistance in emergencies;

(6} Recreational, educational, cultural, wellness and spiritual life programs, to the extent
provided by Arbor Acres;

(7)  Transportation to routine, non-emergency medical appointments within Forsyth County
(transportation by ambulance not included);

(8)  In-patient care in the Arbor Acres Health Center for a limited number of days;

(9)  Daily housekeeping and annual deep cleaning of the Accommodation;

(10) Laundering of bed and bath linens furnished by Arbor Acres;

(11) Laundering of personal clothing (washing, drying and folding, not ironing or dry
cleaning);

(12)  Security personnel on duty in the Arbor Acres Welcome Center; and

(13) Food service (3 meals daily).
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Water and sewer services are included in the Daily Fee. Electricity and gas is also included.

Arbor Acres may also make available to Resident additional services, at Resident’s request, at
the then prevailing rates charged by Arbor Acres, which may be changed from time to time at the discretion of
Arbor Acres,

Arbor Acres residents pay Daily Fees and other charges to cover services provided by Arbor
Acres. At least annually, during budget preparation, Arbor Acres reviews services and costs of operation, and
the need for any changes in services or in Arbor Acres’ schedule of fees and charges. Arbor Acres reserves the
right to change, when deemed necessary, the services provided to residents and the associated fees and charges.
Arbor Acres will strive to deliver services efficiently and economically.

9. Transfer to Higher Level of Care.

Resident shall have priority over non-residents for entry into the Skilled Nursing Facility.
Although Arbor Acres cannot guarantee Resident entry into the Skilled Nursing Facility, Arbor Acres will use
its reasonable efforts to accommodate Resident’s entry. If Resident requires a higher level of care, and the
Skilled Nursing Facility is fully occupied or unable to provide such higher level of care, Resident shall relocate
to an alternate healthcare facility. In the event of such relocation, Arbor Acres will use reasonable efforts to
transfer Resident to the Skilled Nursing Facility when accommodations become available. Resident shall be
responsible for all fees, costs and expenses. If Resident’s transfer to the Skilled Nursing Facility or an alternate
healthcare facility is temporary, Resident shalf remain responsible for the Daily Fee; however, Resident shall
not be responsible for the Daily Fee if such relocation is permanent. If Resident transfers to the Skilled Nursing
Facility, Resident shall not be required to pay an additional Entrance Fee on transferring to the Skilled Nursing
Facility.

10. Application for Benefits; Assignment of Benefits.

Resident shall apply for any federal, state or local benefits for which Resident may be eligible or
entitled upon request by Arbor Acres. If requested by Arbor Acres, any or all such benefits will be applied to
the Daily Fee or other charges incurred by Resident at Arbor Acres.

11, Health Insurance.

Resident shall maintain cligible Medicare coverage (and supplemental health insurance
coverage) or other health insurance coverage that adequately covers hospital, medical, prescriptions and skilled
nursing deductibles and co-payments required under Resident’s primary insurance policy. Resident’s primary
and secondary insurance coverage must recognize Arbor Acres as a healthcare provider, or Resident shall be
responsible for services rendered that otherwise could be covered by insurance.

If Resident’s health insurance coverage lapses, Arbor Acres may require Resident to reapply for
suitable insurance coverage. If Resident is unable to obtain suitable insurance coverage, Resident shall be
responsible for any healthcare services rendered that otherwise could be covered by insurance. Upon request by
Arbor Acres, Resident shall provide evidence of health insurance coverage,

12. Medicare-Certified Skilled Nursing Facility Beds.

Arbor Acres maintains a limited number of Medicare-certified beds in the Skilled Nursing
Facility, which are available for use by residents whose skilled nursing care would qualify for Medicare
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payment on an “if and as available” basis. In the event that Resident needs admission and the admission would
qualify for Medicare payment, then Resident’s financial responsibility to Arbor Acres will depend upon the type
of Medicare coverage that Resident has and whether Arbor Acres is a contractual provider for Resident’s
coverage.

(a) Medicare-certified bed is not available.

In the event that there is not a Medicare-certified bed at Arbor Acres at the time that Resident
requires admission, then Resident may either choose to obtain skilled nursing care services at another healthcare
facility at Resident’s cost until such time as a Medicare-certified bed becomes available at Arbor Acres
(presuming that Resident would use a facility that could provide a Medicare-certified bed) or be admitted to a
bed in the Skilled Nursing Facility at Resident’s cost which is not certified to accept Medicare payment until
such time as a Medicare-certified bed becomes available at Arbor Acres.

(b)y  Medicare-certified bed is available and Resident has traditional Medicare.

If Resident is admitted to a Medicare-certified bed in the Skilled Nursing Facility and Resident
has traditional Medicare coverage, Arbor Acres will accept the Medicare reimbursement amount for such care
while Resident shall be responsible for any applicable deductible, co-payment and/or co-insurance amounts that
are not paid by Medicare and any supplemental Medicare insurance that Resident maintains,

(¢}  Medicare-certified bed is available and Resident has Medicare
Advantage coverage for which Arbor Acres is an in-network provider.

In the event that Arbor Acres is an in-network provider for Resident’s Medicare Advantage
coverage, then Arbor Acres will accept the reimbursement amount from Resident’s Medicare Advantage
insurance carrier while Resident shall be responsible for any deductible, co-payment and/or co-insurance
amounts that are not paid by the Medicarc Advantage insurance that Resident maintains.

(d)  Medicare-certified bed is available and Resident has Medicare
Advantage coverage for which Arbor Acres is not an in-network provider.

Arbor Acres will charge Resident the full private-payment amount for Resident’s admission into
a Medicare-certified bed and credit against Resident’s financial obligation to Arbor Acres the amount that is
paid by Resident’s Medicare Advantage insurance if the insurance provides an out-of-network benefit. In the
event that Resident’s Medicare Advantage insurance will not pay any amount to an out-of-network provider,
then Resident will not be admitted to a Medicare-certified bed at Arbor Acres. A full private-pay Resident in a
Medicare-certified bed may be required by Arbor Acres to relocate to a bed that is not Medicare certified when
such a bed becomes available.

13. United Methodist Affiliation.

Arbor Acres is affiliated with the Western North Carolina Annual Conference of The United
Methodist Church, which is not responsible for the financial and contractual obligations of Arbor Acres.

14. Required Documents.

Resident agrees to keep in effect an appropriate Durable Power of Attorney or other designation
of responsible party, and agrees to provide copies of the following documents to Arbor Acres by the first day of
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residency, and deliver any changes to such documents to Arbor Acres during Resident’s residency at Arbor
Acres: (a) health insurance coverage information; (b) copy of current Durable Power of Attorney for business
management, (¢) copy of current Health Care Power of Attorney and Living Will; and (d) evidence of the
executor or other legally responsible person of Resident’s estate, such as a copy of Resident’s will documenting
the name of the executor of his or her estate.

15. Moving Costs.

Resident is responsible for any and all packing and moving costs incurred by Resident for moves
into, within and out of Arbor Acres, except as provided in Section 7(j} above. Arbor Acres may provide
assistance at an additional cost. Arbor Acres reserves the right to charge an administrative fee for Resident’s
move within Arbor Acres.

16. Entire Apreement,

This Agreement, together with any Arbitration Agreement between Resident and Arbor Acres,
contain the entire agreement of Arbor Acres and Resident. Arbor Acres will not be liable or bound in any
manner by any statements, representations, or promises made by any person representing or claiming to
represent Arbor Acres, unless such statements, representations, or promises are set forth in this Agreement.

17. Capacity.

This Agreement has been executed on behalf of Arbor Acres by Arbor Acres’ duly authorized
agent, and no officer, trustee, agent or employee of Arbor Acres shall have any personal liability to Resident
under this Agrecment.

18. Amendments and Modifications.

This Agreement shall not be modified, amended or changed in any respect except in writing
signed by Arbor Acres and Resident. Each waives any right to amend this Agreement in any other way.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Arbor Acres may amend this Agreement to ensure compliance with applicable
laws and regulations.

19.  Waiver.
Neither the failure nor ahy delay on the part of any party to exercise any right, remedy, power or
privilege (“Right™) under this Agreement shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial waiver

of any Right preclude any exercise of the same or of any other Right. No waiver shall be in effect unless in
writing and signed by the party asserted to have granted such waiver.

20. Severability.

The invalidity of any restriction, condition or other provision of this Agreement, or any part of
the same, shall not impair or affect in any way the validity or enforceability of the rest of this Agreement.

21. Interpretation,

The headings in this Agreement are for convenience and reference only, and shall not affect the
interpretation of any provision of this Agreement.
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22, Successors and Assigns.

Except as set forth herein, this Agreement shall bind and inure to the benefit of the successors
and assigns of Arbor Acres and the heirs, executors, responsible parties, attorneys-in-fact and administrators of
Resident.

23. Assignment,

This Agreement may not be assigned by Resident.

24. Indemnity.

Resident agrees to indemnify, defend and hold Arbor Acres harmless from any and all claims,
damages or expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees and court costs) resulting or arising from any injury
or death to persons and/or damages caused by, resulting from or atfributable to or in any way connected with,
directly or indirectly, the act or omission of Resident or Resident’s guests, including private duty nurses,
companions or others. This Section 24 shall survive termination of this Agreement.

25, Governing Law: Venue: Disputes.

This Agreement shall be governed by, interpreted, construed and enforced in accordance with the
laws of the State of North Carolina, without giving effect to any choice of law or conflict of law rules or
provisions that would cause the application of laws or any jurisdiction other than North Carolina. Except to the
extent that the parties have agreed to an alternative mechanism for the resolution of a dispute, to the full extent
permitted by law, any action, suit or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement shall be brought and
enforced in the courts of the State of North Carolina located in Forsyth County or of the United States District
Court for the Middle District of North Carolina, and the parties hereby irrevocably submit to the exclusive
jurisdiction of such courts and irrevocably waive any objection that they may now or hereafter have to the
laying of venue of any such action or proceeding in such courts. In the event of any such dispute, the non-
prevailing party shall pay all reasonable costs, expenses and attorneys’ fees incurred by the prevailing party.

26.  Survival.

Those rights and obligations that have accrued under this Agreement shall survive its
termination, as shall those rights and obligations that by their terms survive termination and any provisions that
must survive to give effect to their terms, as shall any obligation of Resident to pay costs or expenses of his or

her residency at Arbor Acres that remain unpaid as of such termination.

27. Management of Arbor Acres.

The absolute rights of management are reserved by Arbor Acres and its Board of Directors.
Arbor Acres reserves the right to accept or reject any person as a resident. Residents do not have the right to
determine admission or terms of acceptance of any other resident.

28. Uncontrollable Interruption of Services.

No breach of Arbor Acres’ obligations under this Agreement and no liability for injury to
Resident or Resident’s property shall result from an interruption of, or failureto provide, contracted services
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due to an act of God or other cause beyond the reasonable control of Arbor Acres, specifically including
(without limitation) strikes or other forms of labor disturbances, government regulations and/or embargoes,
shortages of labor or materials, fire, flood, earthquakes, inclement weather or acts of the Resident. Arbor Acres
shall make reasonable efforts to continue to provide the usual services in such event,

29, Confidentiality.

Arbor Acres has the responsibility to keep all of the personal, medical, and financial information
Resident has supplied to Arbor Acres confidential. Resident agrees that Arbor Acres can disclose such
information to those who have a need, in Arbor Acres’ judgment, or right to know.

30. Rights Subordinate to Mortpage.

Pursuant to the requirements of any lender, Resident agrees that Resident’s rights under this
Agreement are subordinate to the right of the lender under any mortgage, deed of trust or security interest
executed now or in the future by Arbor Acres.

31. Notice Provisions.

Notices required by this Agreement will be in writing and delivered either by petsonal delivery
or mail. If delivered by mail, notices will be sent by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, with
all postage and charges prepaid. Notices and other communications will be deemed to have been given when
delivered by personal delivery or if mailed, such notice shall be deemed to have been given on the third
business day after being deposited in the United States mail, postage prepaid. All notices and other written
communications required under this Agreement will be addressed to Resident or to Resident’s personal
representative at the address provided to Arbor Acres. Notices shall be sent to us at the following address:

Arbor Acres United Methodist Retitement Community, Ine.
1240 Arbor Road

Winston-Salem, NC 27104

Attention: President and CEO

Resident’s address for the purpose of giving notice is the address appearing after Resident’s
signature below or such other address Resident provides to Arbor Acres in writing.

[Signature Page Follows]
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AL Contract

Resident has executed this Agreement and Arbor Acres has caused this Agreement to be
executed in its name by a duly authorized person as of the day and year written above.

Resident Name:

Resident Address:

Street Address

City, State & Zip Code

ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC.

By:

Title;

Signature Page to Arbor Acres Assisted Living Facility Residency Agreement

Revised May 31, 2019



SNF Contract

NORTH CAROLINA)
) AGREEMENT
FORSYTH COUNTY)
THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into this day of , 20 , by and
between (“Resident”) and ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT

COMMUNITY, INC., a North Carolina nonprofit corporation (““Arbor Acres”).

Resident has applied and been approved for residency at Arbor Acres in ,
room number (the “Accommodation”), and has received a copy of Arbor Acres’ Disclosure
Statement, dated (the “Disclosure Statement™).

Resident and Arbor Acres agree to the following:

1. Entrance Fee and Daily Fee.

The Entrance Fee established by Arbor Acres for residency in Arbor Acres’ skilled nursing
facility (the “Skilled Nursing Facility™), where it is anticipated Resident will reside, is TWO THOUSAND
EIGHT HUNDRED DOLLARS AND NO/100 Dollars ($2,800.00) (the “Entrance Fee”), the amount being paid
by Resident herewith in full. (The Entrance Fee is separate and distinct from Arbor Acres’ fees and charges to
residents for food, maintenance, medical, nursing and other services.) The Entrance Fee for residency in the
Skilled Nursing Facility is a non-refundable fee except as provided in Section 5. If Resident moves to an
independent living unit, the Entrance Fee will be applied toward the Entrance Fee for that unit as provided in
Section 7(1).

Resident agrees to pay the initial daily fee (the “Daily Fee”), which is the established daily fee as of the
date on this Agreement, and which is subject to change from time to time. Rates are typically adjusted January
1™ of each year, Gratuities or bequests in addition to the established Daily Fee shall not be accepted. As of the
date of this Agreement, the Daily Fee associated with the Accommodation will be;

Daily Fee

Daily Fee for Resident (includes meals, laundry and utilities) $

2. Monthly Statements.

Arbor Acres will furnish Resident a monthly statement with the total amount of the Daily Fee
and other charges, if any, owed by Resident. Resident shall pay such fees and charges by the 10" day of the
month, If Resident’s payment is late, Arbor Acres may charge Resident a one and one-half percent (1.5%)
interest fee per month, from the first of the month in which the payment is late. Upon thirty (30) days’ advance
written notice, Arbor Acres may change the billing date and payment due date. Arbor Acres shall have the right
to offset against any Entrance Fee repayment any unpaid Daily Fees or other charges owed by Resident to
Arbor Acres.

3. Room Assignment.

Resident understands that Resident acquires no ownership interest in any property at Arbor
Acres under this Agreement; also, that no particular room or unit in the Skilled Nursing Facility is subject to

1
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reservation or permanent assignment, and that Arbor Acres may change Resident’s room assignment in the
Skilled Nursing Facility. Though Arbor Acres retains the right to change Resident’s room assignment, Arbor
Acres agrees that it will make changes only as Arbor Acres finds such changes to be necessary or advisable.

4. Initial Occupancy.

Arbor Acres anticipates having the Accommodation ready for occupancy by
Resident is not required to move into the Accommodation before it is ready for occupancy, or before the
expiration of thirty (30) days from the date of this Agreement, whichever is later. Resident plans to move into
the Accommodation on or before (the “Occupancy Date”). If Resident should wish to change the
Occupancy Date, Resident will advise Arbor Acres immediately (on or before the Occupancy Date). Upon
receipt of Resident’s request, and if Arbor Acres determines that another date is feasible, Arbor Acres will
undertake to work out with Resident another mutually agreeable Occupancy Date. Resident agrees to pay
Arbor Acres’ Daily Fees and other charges for use of the Accommodation from the earlier of (a) the date of
actual occupancy (the first night of residency or when personal property is moved into the Accommodation) or
(b) (the “Residency Date”).

5. Resident’s Right to Rescind or Cancel Within the First Thirty (30) Davs or Resident’s
Failure to Move to Arbor Acres.

(a) Within thirty (30) days following the later of the execution of this Agreement or delivery of
the Disclosure Statement (the “Rescission Period”), Resident may rescind this Agreement by delivering to
Arbor Acres a signed, written notice of rescission. Resident is not required to move into the Accommodation
during the Rescission Period. If Resident dies before occupying the Accommodation, or if, on account of
illness, injury or incapacity Resident should be precluded from occupying the Accommodation, this Agreement
shall be automatically cancelled. If this Agreement is neither rescinded nor cancelled and Resident fails o
move to Arbor Acres by the Residency Date, this Agreement may be terminated by Arbor Acres or Resident
upon written notice to the other.

(b) If Resident rescinds this Agreement, this Agreement is automatically cancelled as described
in Section 5(a) above or Resident fails to move to Arbor Acres by the Residency Date and this Agreement is
terminated by cither Arbor Acres or Resident, Resident or Resident’s legal representative will receive a refund
of the Entrance Fee, less the following: (i) any Daily Fees or other costs charged for the time Resident shall
have resided at Arbor Acres; and (i1} those nonstandard costs specifically incurred by Arbor Acres at the request
of Resident and described in a signed addendum to this Agreement. Payment of the refund is to be made from
the Entrance Fee received by Arbor Acres from the next occupant of the Accommodation.

6. Notice of Termination of Occupancy,

If after moving to Arbor Acres and the expiration of the Rescission Period, Resident should
decide to terminate this Agreement and residency at Arbor Acres, Resident will give Arbor Acres a minimum of
fourteen (14) days advance written notice stating the date on which Resident plans to terminate residency. This
Agreement, and Resident’s obligation to pay the Daily Fee and other charges, shall continue in effect until
Resident vacates the Accommodation or until the end of the fourteen (14) day notice period, whichever is later
(the “Date of Termination of Occupancy”). If Resident permanently vacates the Accommodation, Arbor Acres
reserves the right to remove Resident’s personal property from the Accommodation and store such personal
property, and Resident shall be responsible for the reasonable costs of such removal and storage. Unclaimed
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personal property will become the property of Arbor Acres after thirty (30) days, and Arbor Acres may dispose
of such personal property in its sole discretion.

7. Terms and Conditions of Initial Residency and Continued Residency.

Resident shall have the right to occupy the Accommodation and to reside at Arbor Acres subject
to the provisions of this Agreement and subject to the following understandings, terms and conditions:

(a)  Heaith and Financial Qualification for Residency

At the time of the execution of this Agreement, Arbor Acres has determined that Resident
qualifies for residency both with respect to mental and physical condition and ability to take care of the
anticipated Daily Fees and other charges. Resident must continue to meet these qualifications at the time
Resident enters Arbor Acres. If Resident is not qualified to occopy the Accommodation, but is qualified
(financially and otherwise) to reside in other accommodations at Arbor Acres, Resident shall be entitled to such
accommodation when space permits.

(b)  Financial Obligation Including Obligation to Pay Fees and Charges

In order to operate Arbor Acres on a fiscally sound, nonprofit basis, Arbor Acres has
established fees and charges, which are subject to modification from time to time as deemed necessary and
appropriate by Arbor Acres. Resident agrees to pay when due all required fees and charges. Resident has
received from Arbor Acres a schedule of current fees and charges.

Resident agrees to provide, if requested, periodic financial statements and current
financial information for the purpose of demonstrating capacity to meet financial obligations to Arbor Acres.
Should Resident experience financial difficulty that might result in Resident’s immediate or eventual inability to
meet the financial obligations under this Agreement, including any spend down of assets that might result from
payment of expected fees and charges to Arbor Acres, Resident will inform Arbor Acres immediately, and
submit a current financial statement. Resident and, if appropriate, Resident’s responsible party, and Arbor Acres
shall discuss and, if possible, agree on a plan by which Resident’s financial obligation to Arbor Acres can be
met. Residents whose funds are depleted primarily through payment of fees associated with residency, to
include costs associated with their medical care, may be eligible for consideration for financial assistance
through Arbor Acres. Such assistance, however, is conditional upon demonstration that other options for
fulfilling this financial obligation to Arbor Acres have been explored and deemed impracticable by either party.
When Resident is deemed eligible for financial assistance through Arbor Acres, Arbor Acres, to the extent of its
available resources dedicated for financial assistance, will attempt to furnish financial assistance when it is
needed. Termination of residency for Resident’s inability to fulfill the financial obligations incurred under this
Agreement shall be an option exercised as necessary to assure the financial viability of Arbor Acres and of its
financial assistance program.

(c) Rights and Obligations During Temporary Absence
Temporary absence because of illness, trips or otherwise shall not affect Resident’s right
to retain the Accommodation as Resident’s place of residency. However, Resident shall not be entitled to an

adjustment of Arbor Acres’ Daily Fee and other charges during such absence, and Resident shall continue to be
charged and to pay such Daily Fee and charges during such absence.
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(d)  Requirement of Compliance with Recommendations for Additional Services or Care

If Resident shall incur a physical or mental illness or impairment so that Resident
requires additional services or a higher level of care than is available at the Accommodation, Arbor Acres,
through its nursing and continuing care staffs (“Nursing and Continuing Care Staffs”), will make
recommendations regarding appropriate additional service options and/or options for transfer to a higher level
of care. Resident agrees (i) that Arbor Acres is obligated to assure the care and safety of residents and, (ii) that
Resident will comply with Nursing and Continuing Care Staffs’ recommendations regarding additional services
or transfer to a higher level of care. If such additional services or higher level of care can be provided in a
different accommodation at Arbor Acres, Resident has a right, and may be required by Arbor Acres, to move to
such accommodation. Arbor Acres will recommend and require such a move or additional services when, in the
judgment of Arbor Acres, it is necessary and in the best interest of Resident, Arbor Acres and/or the other
residents of Arbor Acres, Before any such move or additional services are required, Arbor Acres will discuss
the matter with Resident and/or Resident’s responsible party in an effort to secure Resident’s understanding and
cooperation with the required additional services or change of accommodation or level of care. Resident and/or
Resident’s responsible party shall have the right to appeal a decision to change Resident’s accommodation
and/or level of care in accordance with the provisions of (i) below.

(¢) Requirement of Compliance With Policies, Rules and Regulations

In order to operate Arbor Acres in the best interest of the entire Arbor Acres community,
Arbor Acres has established policies, rules and regulations relating to residency, which are subject to
modification from time to time as deemed appropriate by Arbor Acres. Resident has received information as to
the current policies, rules and regulations in the Disclosure Statement and in other written information provided
by Arbor Acres. Arbor Acres reserves the right to make or change policies, rules and regulations, and will use
its reasonable efforts to communicate through appropriate means to all residents the substance and content of
such additions or changes; also, copies of particular policies, rules and regulations relating to residency will be
furnished to Resident on request. Resident agrees to comply with Arbor Acres’ policies, rules and regulations
applicable to Resident’s residency in Arbor Acres.

(f) Cooperation of Responsible Parties and Other Associates

Resident understands and agrees that, in order for Arbor Acres to operate in the best
interest of both Resident and the entire Arbor Acres community, Arbor Acres must have the cooperation of
Resident’s family, friends, responsible parties and other associates to comply with Arbor Actres’ applicable
policies, rules and regulations. Any continuing or repeated failure or refusal by any such persons to so cooperate
and comply may result in a determination by Arbor Acres that it is no longer feasible for Arbor Acres to
accommodate Resident as a resident. Upon such determination, Arbor Acres will have a right to terminate
Resident’s residency at Arbor Acres.

(g Termination of Residency for Health Conditions Beyond Arbor Acres’ Capacity to Serve

If Resident’s physical and/or mental condition or needs cannot be legally or adequately
served by the facilitics or programs available at Arbor Acres, or Resident requires or insists upon receiving care
that in the judgment of Arbor Acres exceeds the capacity of Arbor Acres to provide within the limits of its
staffing pattern or other available resources, Arbor Acres reserves the right to terminate Resident’s residency. If
such a circumstance arises, Arbor Acres will discuss the matter thoroughly with Resident and/or Resident’s
responsible party in an effort to determine a course of action in Resident’s best interest. Arbor Acres will

4
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provide guidance and transitional support to Resident and/or Resident’s responsible party to facilitate an orderly
transfer of Resident to another, more appropriate facility or seiting.

(h) Termination of Residency for Behavior Deemed Harmful to Arbor Acres

If Resident is deemed competent and capable of controlling his or her behaviors and
engages in behaviors deemed by the President/CEO to be disruptive, hostile, illegal, or otherwise harmful to
others or to Arbor Acres, Arbor Acres reserves the right to terminate Resident’s residency. If such a
circumstance arises, Arbor Acres will discuss the matter thoroughty with Resident to provide Resident with
knowledge of the behaviors deemed intolerable by Arbor Acres. Arbor Acres will provide Resident a written
warning to desist from the behavior or any similarly disruptive, hostile, illegal or harmful behavior. Upon
determination that Resident is continuing to engage in the behaviors against which Resident has been warned,
Arbor Acres will have the right to terminate Resident’s residency at Arbor Acres.

(1) Right of Appeal of Transfer or Termination Decisions

While Arbor Acres reserves the right to terminate Resident’s residency at Arbor Acres
for failure to comply with (b), (d), (), (), (g) or (h) above, or for failure to comply with any other provision of
this Agreement, Arbor Acres shall exercise such right only after first attempting to work out satisfactory
solutions with Resident and/or Resident’s responsible party. If agreement cannot be reached between the
President/CEQ and Resident and/or Resident’s responsible party, the President/CEO will refer the matter to the
Executive Committee of the Board of Directors of Arbor Acres (the “Executive Committee™) for hearing and
decision, The Executive Committee shall afford Resident an opportunity to be heard, and shall render a decision
with respect to the matter referred to it. The decision of the Executive Committee shall be put in writing and
shall be signed by the Chair of the Board of Directors of Arbor Acres (the “Chair”) or, in the absence of the
Chair, the Chair Elect of the Board of Directors of Arbor Acres, Tt is understood and agreed that the written,
signed decision of the Executive Commitiee shall be final and binding.

() Terms and Conditions of Initial Residency and Continued Residency

Arbor Acres reserves the right to relocate Resident to another accommodation when
deemed necessary in order for Arbor Acres to fulfill its strategic financial and other obligations to the Arbor
Acres community. Arbor Acres will exercise this right only when all other reasonable options to avoid
relocating Resident have been considered. Arbor Acres will use reasonable efforts to relocate Resident to an
accommodation of the same or similar type as Resident’s Accommodation. Any such decision to relocate
Resident will be discussed thoroughly with Resident in order to enlist Resident’s understanding of the need for
and cooperation with the relocation. Arbor Acres will pay all required packing and moving costs, and all
reasonable refurbishing costs necessary to achieve substantial comparability between the Accommodation and
any hew accommodation to which Resident may be relocated. Any decision to relocate Resident for the sake of
enabling Arbor Acres to fulfill its strategic financial and other obligations to the Arbor Acres community may
be appealed to the Executive Committee as outlined in (i) above.

(k)  Termination of Residency If Listed on a Sex Offender Registry

Resident hereby acknowledges that it is the policy of Arbor Acres to conduct sex
offender screening for every prospective resident, regardless of independent status or level of care, at the time
of application for admission to Arbor Acres and again prior to entering into a Residency Agreement. If the
screening shows that the prospective resident is identified as a sex offender, Arbor Acres will deny admission of
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Resident on that basis and not execute a Residency Agreement. In addition, Resident hereby acknowledges and
agrees that if, after Arbor Acres and Resident have entered into a Residency Agreement, Arbor Acres becomes
aware that Resident is listed on any sex offender registry, Arbor Acres may terminate this Agreement with
Resident and remove Resident from Arbor Acres.

() Relocation to Independent Living or Assisted Living

If Resident’s health should improve sufficiently to permit Resident to live in other
accommodations at Arbor Acres other than the Skilled Nursing Facility, such a move may be made subject to
availability of an appropriate accommodation, payment of the entrance fee established for the accommodation,
less the Entrance Fee, and execution of an appropriate Independent Living Residency Agreement or Assisted
Living Residency Agreement (as applicable).

(m}  Healthcare Outside of Arbor Acres
Arbor Acres assumes no obligation or responsibility for the provision of residential or
nursing or health care facilities or services to Resident beyond those facilities and services from time to time
established and provided by Arbor Acres.
(n}  Personal Belongings
Arbor Acres will not be responsible for the loss of or damage to any property belonging
to Resident due to theft, mysterious disappearance, fire, employee accident, or any other cause. It is understood

that Resident has the responsibility of providing any desired insurance protection covering any such loss.

8. Standard Services to be Provided.

Arbor Acres agrees to provide standard services to Resident at no additional cost beyond the
Daily Fee, and has informed Resident of these services and other services through written information available
to all residents, At the time of execution of this Agreement, the standard services include:

(1)  Nursing supervision (in accordance with regulatory standards; does not include private
duty or individual nurse for each resident), prescribed medication administration and
assistance with activities of daily living;

2) Maintenance of buildings and grounds, including maintenance of all standard equipment
in the Accommodation;

(3) Utilities, as described below;

(4)  Basic cable television and internet service;

(5) Telephone jacks; emergency call system, and assistance in emergencies;

(6)  Recreational, educational, cultural, wellness and spiritual life programs, to the extent
provided by Arbor Acres;

(7 ‘Transportation to routine, non-emergency medical appointments within Forsyth County
(transportation by ambulance not included);

(8)  In-patient care in the Arbor Acres Health Center for a limited number of days;

(9) Daily housekeeping and annual deep cleaning of the Accommodation;

(10)  Laundering of bed and bath linens furnished by Arbor Acres;

(11) Laundering of personal clothing (washing, drying and folding, not ironing or dry
cleaning);
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(12)  Security personnel on duty in the Arbor Acres Welcome Center; and
(13)  Food service (3 meals daily).

Water and sewer services are included in the Daily Fee. Electricity and gas is also included.

Arbor Acres may also make available to Resident additional services, at Resident’s request, at
the then prevailing rates charged by Arbor Acres, which may be changed from time to time at the discretion of
Arbor Acres.

Arbor Acres residents pay Daily Fees and other charges to cover services provided by Arbor
Acres. At least annually, during budget preparation, Arbor Acres reviews services and costs of operation, and
the need for any changes in services or in Arbor Acres’ schedule of fees and charges. Arbor Acres reserves the
right to change, when deemed necessary, the services provided to residents and the associated fees and charges.
Arbor Acres will strive to deliver services efficiently and economically.

9. Transfer to Another Level of Care.

Resident shall have priority over non-residents for entry into the Arbor Acres’ assisted living
facility (the “Assisted Living Facility”). Although Arbor Acres cannot gunarantee Resident entry into the
Assisted Living Facility, Arbor Acres will use its reasonable efforts to accommodate Resident’s entry. If
Resident requires a lower level of care, and the Assisted Living Facility is fully occupied or unable to provide
such lower level of care, Resident shall relocate to an alternate healthcare facility. In the event of such
relocation, Arbor Acres will use reasonable efforts to transfer Resident to the Assisted Living Facility when
accommodations become available. Resident shall be responsible for all fees, costs and expenses. If Resident’s
transfer to the Assisted Living Facility or an alternate healthcare facility is temporary, Resident shall remain
responsible for the Daily Fee; however, Resident shall not be responsible for the Daily Fee if such relocation is
permanent. If Resident transfers to the Assisted Living Facility, Resident shall not be required to pay an
additional Entrance Fee on transferring to the Assisted Living Facility.

10. Application for Benefits; Assignment of Benefits,

Resident shall apply for any federal, state or local benefits for which Resident may be eligible or
entitled upon request by Arbor Acres. If requested by Arbor Acres, any or all such benefits will be applied to
the Daily Fee or other charges incurred by Resident at Arbor Acres.,

11. Health Insurance.

Resident shall maintain eligible Medicare coverage (and supplemental health insurance
coverage) or other health insurance coverage that adequately covers hospital, medical, prescriptions and skilled
nursing deductibles and co-payments required under Resident’s primary insurance policy. Resident’s primary
and secondary insurance coverage must recognize Arbor Acres as a healthcare provider, or Resident shall be
responsible for services rendered that otherwise could be covered by insurance.

If Resident’s health insurance coverage lapses, Arbor Acres may require Resident to reapply for
suitable insurance coverage., If Resident is unable to obtain suitable insurance coverage, Resident shall be
responsible for any healthcare services rendered that otherwise could be covered by insurance. Upon request by
Arbor Acres, Resident shall provide evidence of health insurance coverage.
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12.  Medicare-Certified Skilled Nursing Facility Beds.

Arbor Acres maintains a limited number of Medicare-certified beds in the Skilled Nursing
Facility, which are available for use by residents whose skilled nursing care would qualify for Medicare
payment on an “if and as available” basis. In the event that Resident’s admission would qualify for Medicare
payment, then Resident’s financial responsibility to Arbor Acres will depend upon the type of Medicare
coverage that Resident has and whether Arbor Acres is a contractual provider for Resident’s coverage.

(a)  Medicare-certified bed is not available.

In the event that there is not a Medicare-certified bed at Arbor Acres at the time that Resident
requires admission, then Resident may either choose to obtain skilled nursing care services at another healthcare
facility at Resident’s cost until such time as a Medicare-certified bed becomes available at Arbor Acres
(presuming that Resident would use a facility that could provide a Medicare-certified bed) or be admitted to a
bed in the Skilled Nursing Facility at Resident’s cost which is not certified to accept Medicare payment until
such time as a Medicare-certified bed becomes available at Arbor Acres.

(by  Medicare-certified bed is available and Resident has traditional Medicare,

If Resident is admitted to a Medicare-certified bed in the Skilled Nursing Facility and Resident
has traditional Medicare coverage, Arbor Acres will accept the Medicare reimbursement amount for such care
while Resident shall be responsible for any applicable deductible, co-payment and/or co-insurance amounts that
are not paid by Medicare and any supplemental Medicare insurance that Resident maintains,

(c) Medicare-certified bed is available and Resident has Medicare
Advantage coverage for which Arbor Acres is an in-network provider.

In the event that Arbor Acres is an in-network provider for Resident’s Medicare Advantage
coverage, then Arbor Acres will accept the reimbursement amount from Resident’s Medicare Advantage
insurance carrier while Resident shall be responsible for any deductible, co-payment and/or co-insurance
amounts that are not patd by the Medicare Advantage insurance that Resident maintains.

(d)  Medicare-certified bed is available and Resident has Medicare
Advantage coverage for which Arbor Acres is not an in-network provider.

Arbor Acres will charge Resident the full private-payment amount for Resident’s admission into
a Medicare-certified bed and credit against Resident’s financial obligation to Arbor Acres the amount that is
paid by Resident’s Medicare Advantage insurance if the insurance provides an out-of-network benefit. In the
event that Resident’s Medicare Advantage insurance will not pay any amount to an out-of-network provider,
then Resident will not be admitted to a Medicare-certified bed at Arbor Acres. A full private-pay Resident in a
Medicare-certified bed may be required by Arbor Acres to relocate to a bed that is not Medicare certified when
such a bed becomes available.

13. United Methodist Affiliation.

Arbor Acres is affiliated with the Western North Carolina Annual Conference of The United
Methodist Church, which is not responsible for the financial and contractual obligations of Arbor Acres.
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14, Required Documents.

Resident agrees to keep in effect an appropriate Durable Power of Attorney or other designation
of responsible party, and agrees to provide copies of the following documents to Arbor Acres by the first day of
residency, and deliver any changes to such documents to Arbor Acres during Resident’s residency at Arbor
Acres: (a) health insurance coverage information; (b) copy of current Durable Power of Attorney for business
management; (c) copy of current Health Care Power of Attorney and Living Will; and (d) evidence of the
executor or other legally responsible person of Resident’s estate, such as a copy of Resident’s will documenting
the name of the executor of his or her estate.

15. Moving Costs.

Resident is responsible for any and all packing and moving costs incurred by Resident for moves
into, within and out of Arbor Acres, except as provided in Section 7(j) above. Arbor Acres may provide
assistance at an additional cost. Arbor Acres reserves the right to charge an administrative fee for Resident’s
move within Arbor Acres.

16. Entire Asreement,

This Agreement, together with any Arbitration Agreement between Resident and Arbor Acres,
contain the entire agreement of Arbor Acres and Resident. Arbor Acres will not be liable or bound in any
manner by any statements, representations, or promises made by any person representing or claiming to
represent Arbor Acres, unless such statements, representations, or promises are set forth in this Agreement.

17. Capacity.

This Agreement has been executed on behalf of Arbor Acres by Arbor Acres’ duly authorized
agent, and no officer, trustee, agent or employee of Arbor Acres shall have any personal liability to Resident
under this Agreement,

18, Amendments and Modifications.

This Agreement shall not be modified, amended or changed in any respect except in writing
signed by Arbor Acres and Resident. Each waives any right to amend this Agreement in any other way.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Arbor Acres may amend this Agreement to ensure compliance with applicable
laws and regulations.

19, Waiver.

Neither the failure nor any delay on the part of any party to exercise any right, remedy, power or
privilege (“Right”) under this Agreement shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial waiver
of any Right preclude any exercise of the same or of any other Right, No waiver shall be in effect unless in
writing and signed by the party asserted to have granted such waiver.

20. Severability.

The invalidity of any restriction, condition or other provision of this Agreement, or any part of
the same, shall not impair or affect in any way the validity or enforceability of the rest of this Agreement.

9
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21. Interpretation.

The headings in this Agreement are for convenience and reference only, and shall not affect the
interpretation of any provision of this Agreement.

22. Successors and Assigns.

Except as set forth herein, this Agreement shall bind and inure to the benefit of the successors
and assigns of Arbor Acres and the heirs, executors, responsible parties, attorneys-in-fact and administrators of
Resident.

23. Assignment.

This Agreement may not be assigned by Resident.

24, Indemnity.

Resident agrees to indemnify, defend and hold Arbor Acres harmless from any and all claims,
damages or expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees and court costs) resulting or arising from any injury
or death to persons and/or damages caused by, resulting from or atiributable to or in any way connected with,
directly or indirectly, the act or omission of Resident or Resident’s guests, including private duty nurses,
companions or others. This Section 24 shall survive termination of this Agreement.

25, Governing Law; Venue; Disputes.

This Agreement shall be governed by, interpreted, construed and enforced in accordance with the
laws of the State of North Carolina, without giving effect to any choice of law or conflict of law rules or
provisions that would cause the application of laws or any jurisdiction other than North Carolina. Except to the
extent that the parties have agreed to an alternative mechanism for the resolution of a dispute, to the full extent
permitted by law, any action, suit or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement shall be brought and
enforced in the courts of the State of North Carolina located in Forsyth County or of the United States District
Court for the Middle District of North Carolina, and the parties hereby irrevocably submit to the exclusive
jurisdiction of such courts and irrevocably waive any objection that they may now or hereafter have to the
laying of venue of any such action or proceeding in such courts. In the event of any such dispute, the non-
prevailing party shall pay all reasonable costs, expenses and attorneys’ fees incurred by the prevailing party.

26. Survival.

Those rights and obligations that have accrued under this Agreement shall survive its
termination, as shall those rights and obligations that by their terms survive termination and any provisions that
must survive to give effect to their terms, as shall any obligation of Resident to pay costs or expenses of his or

her residency at Arbor Acres that remain unpaid as of such termination.

27. Management of Arbor Acres.
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The absolute rights of management are reserved by Arbor Acres and its Board of Directors.
Arbor Acres reserves the right to accept or reject any person as a resident. Residents do not have the right to
determine admission or terms of acceptance of any other resident.

28.  Uncontrollable Interruption of Services.

No breach of Arbor Acres’ obligations under this Agreement and no liability for injury to
Resident or Resident’s property shall result from an interruption of, or failure to provide, contracted services
due to an act of God or other cause beyond the reasonable control of Arbor Acres, specifically including
(without limitation) strikes or other forms of labor disturbances, government regulations and/or embargoes,
shortages of labor or materials, fire, flood, earthquakes, inclement weather or acts of the Resident. Arbor Acres
shall make reasonable efforts to continue to provide the usual services in such event.

29. Confidentiality.

Arbor Acres has the responsibility to keep all of the personal, medical, and financial information
Resident has supplied to Arbor Acres confidential. Resident agrees that Arbor Acres can disclose such
information to those who have a need, in Arbor Acres’ judgment, or right to know,

30.  Rights Subordinate to Mortgage.

Pursuant to the requirements of any lender, Resident agrees that Resident’s rights under this
Agreement are subordinate to the right of the lender under any mortgage, deed of trust or security interest
executed now or in the future by Arbor Acres.

31. Notice Provisions.

Notices required by this Agreement will be in writing and delivered either by personal delivery
or mail. If delivered by mail, notices will be sent by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, with
all postage and charges prepaid. Notices and other communications will be deemed to have been given when
delivered by personal delivery or if mailed, such notice shall be deemed to have been given on the third
business day after being deposited in the United States mail, postage prepaid. All notices and other written
communications required under this Agreement will be addressed to Resident or to Resident’s personal
representative at the address provided to Arbor Acres. Notices shall be sent to us at the following address:

Arbor Acres United Methodist Retirement Community, Inc.
1240 Arbor Road

Winston-Salem, NC 27104

Attention; President and CEO

Resident’s address for the purpose of giving notice is the address appearing after Resident’s
signature below or such other address Resident provides to Arbor Acres in writing.

[Signature Page Follows]
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SNF Contract

Resident has executed this Agreement and Arbor Acres has caused this Agreement to be
executed in its name by a duly authorized person as of the day and year written above.

Resident Name:

Resident Address:

Street Address

City, State & Zip Code

ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC.

By:

Title:

Signature Page to Arbor Acres Skilled Nursing Facility Residency Agreement

Revised May 31, 2019



VOLUNTARY ARBITRATION AGREEMENT

This is a voluniary agreement, and it is not a condition for admission to this facility. You may

receive care and treatment even if you do not sign this agreement.

This Voluntary Arbitration Agreement (this “Agreement”) is entered into by and between
ARBOR ACRES UNITED METHODIST RETIREMENT COMMUNITY, INC., a North
Carolina nonprofit corporation (“Arbor Acres™), and (“Resident™),
collectively referred to as the “Parties” and individually as a “Party.” This Agreement is an
addendum to the residence and admission agreement between the Parties (the “Residency
Agreement”), for which consideration has been given and received by the Parties. In further
consideration for this Agreement, the Parties acknowledge they will receive mutual benefits from
resolution of any dispute or controversy through efficient arbitration and other good and valuable
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is acknowledged by the Parties.

I

Parties Defined. Arbor Acres includes, but is not limited to, the operator, governing
body, officers, directors, members, administrator, employees, managers, agents, and any
parent company, subsidiary, or affiliates, and any person or entity alleged to be
responsible for the acts or omissions of Arbor Acres. Resident includes, but is not limited
to, Resident, Resident’s Representative, guardian, conservator, attorney-in-fact, agent,
sponsor, or any other person whose claim is derived through or on behalf of Resident,
including, without limitation, his or her spouse, child, parent, executor, administrator,
personal representative, heir, survivor, and anyone entitled to bring a wrongful death
claim relating to Resident.

Agreement to Arbitrate All Disputes. This is a voluntary agreement by the Parties to
have all disputes resolved through binding arbitration. Arbitration is an out-of-court
alternate form of dispute resolution, decided by an impartial third party. Arbitration is
different than traditional litigation in the court system, which has a judge, sometimes a
jury, and trial. In the event of any dispute or controversy between the Parties, including
those arising out of the diagnosis, treatment, or carc of Resident by Arbor Acres, the
dispute or controversy shall be submitted to binding arbitration.

Application of Federal Arbitration Act. The Parties agree that the Residency
Agreement involves interstate commerce, through Arbor Acres’ Medicare participation
and with any purchase of items from outside the state of North Carolina. Accordingly, the
Federal Arbitration Act applies to this Agreement,

Duty to Demand Arbitration. It is the claimant’s responsibility to demand arbitration
by giving notice to the other Party describing the nature of the controversy and the
remedy sought. If a Party overlooks its obligation to arbitrate all disputes and participates
in litigating a matter in the court system, such Party will not be deemed to have waived
the right to compel arbitration, as long as the motion to compel arbitration is served
before the first day of trial.

Waiver of Judge, Jury, and Trial. No Appeal. By signing this Agreement, you are
waiving the right to have any and all disputes decided by a judge or by a jury trial. The
arbitrator’s decision is final and binding. There is no right to an appeal unless permitted
by state statute.

Arbitrator. Within fifteen (15) days after a Party has given written notice to the other
Party of demand for arbitration of a dispute or controversy, the Parties to the dispute or
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10.
11

12.

13.

14.

confroversy agree that American Healthy Lawyers Association (“AHLA”) will
administer the arbitration. In the event AHLA is unavailable, unwilling, or unable to
administer the arbitration or appoint an arbitration panel, the Parties will agree on an
arbitrator, If the Parties are unable to agree on the arbitrator, a sole arbitrator shall be
appointed, upon request of a Party, by the court. The arbitrator shall hold a hearing within
a reasonable time from the date of notice of selection of the neutral arbitrator.

Expenses. The arbitration expenses will be apportioned equally among the Parties, or
will be paid as provided in the award.

Representation by Lawvyer(s). The Parties may be represented by a lawyer prior to,
during, and after arbitration.

Grievances and Discharge/Transfers. Despite this Agreement, Resident may file its
grievances directly with Arbor Acres, with the long term care ombudsman, or with any
applicable regulatory agency. Appeals of involuntary discharges or transfers will be heard
by an administrative law judge as required by state/federal laws and regulations.
Confidentiality. The discovery, arbitration, and arbitration award are confidential.
Severability. If any term, phrase, or provision in this Agreement is held to be invalid or
unenforceable by law, this Agreement will be deemed amended to conform with such law
and will otherwise remain in full force and effect, as it is the Parties’ intent to ensure that
any dispute is resolved solely by arbitration.

Survival, This Agreement applies to Resident’s readmissions to Arbor Acres and
survives any termination of the Residency Agreement.

Care Will Be Provided Regardless. Care, diagnosis, or treatment will be provided
whether or not Resident signs this Agreement,

Right to Revoke. Resident may revoke this Agreement by providing written notice to
Arbor Acres within ten (10) days of signature. Any disputes arising prior to revocation
will remain subject to this Agreement.

You are strongly encouraged to consult with an attorney or a trusted advisor before signing
this Agreement. You have the opportunity te ask questions before signing this document.
Please do not hesitate to ask any questions that yon may have,

Signature of Resident Date
Signature of Resident’s Representative (if applicable) Date
Signature of Arbor Acres Representative® Date

*Provision of  services by  Arbor  Acres  will  constitute  acceptance
in absence of Arbor Acves’ signature.
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